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Company at a Glance

QA FN

AAG Energy, the Leading
Independent CBM Producer in China
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Our Vision FE =

To be the leading independent E&P
platform in Asia.
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We are committed to providing a superior
rate of return on our shareholders’

investments in a socially responsible and
environmentally sustainable way.
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About AAG Energy Holdings Limited

AAG Energy Holdings Limited is an international energy company and a
leader in China’s coalbed methane (“CBM”) exploration and development
sector. It focuses on developing and optimizing the value of unconventional
gas resources to supply clean energy to the Chinese economy. AAG Energy’s
key operating assets, Panzhuang and Mabi concessions, are located in the
southwestern part of Shanxi province in the Qinshui Basin, which boasts the
largest proved CBM geological reserves of any basin in China. AAG Energy’s
Panzhuang concession in partnership with China United Coalbed Methane
Corporation Ltd., is the most commercially advanced Sino-foreign CBM asset
in China and the first Sino-foreign CBM cooperative project to have entered
full-scale commercial development and production. The Project has a
designed annual production capacity of 500 million m®. AAG Energy’s Mabi
CBM Project Phase 1 in partnership with PetroChina received the preliminary
Overall Development Plan (“ODP”) approval from NDRC in November 2013.
The designed commercial scale capacity of Mabi Phase | is 1 billion m® per
year. With proven ability to commercialize CBM and a highly-respected
management team, the Group has attracted support from leading
international and Chinese investors including Warburg Pincus, Baring Private
Equity Asia, Chinastone and Ping An.
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Company at a Glance
NG S

AAG 2017 Performance Highlights
NR2017TEXERH

Safety is always our top priority
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We always focus on increasing productivity an
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Chairman’s Statement
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We are committed to providing a
superior rate of return on our
shareholders’ investments in a
socially responsible and
environmentally sustainable way

TGRS @ MIRIB B 5T/
77 AR PIR R & 2R & K HY) B 57

Dr. Stephen Xiangdong ZOU
Chairman

BAREL
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “"Board”) of directors (the "Directors”) of
AAG Energy Holdings Limited (“AAG” or the "Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), | hereby present the
annual results of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017.

2017 was an extraordinary come-back year for AAG due to the
Company’s strong business fundamentals, including operation
excellence, technical competency, stringent costs control, and a
stronger, more effective management and workforce. With well-fulfilled
safety and environmental commitments, our Panzhuang and Mabi
assets outperformed with double digit growth in gas production and
sales, and significant cost savings. This strengthens our position as the
leading independent producer of coalbed methane (“CBM") in China.
On top of these achievements, we also benefited from the booming
gas market across China in 2017. This was a direct result of the Chinese
government's policy of “Coal to Gas”, which had driven up both the
demand and the price of natural gas in China, especially during the
winter season.
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Chairman’s Statement
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In summary, the Group reported a substantial increase in net income of
RMB183.2 million in 2017, a 71.9% increase from RMB106.6 million in
2016. The Group's 2017 total gross production increased year on year
("YoY") by almost 17% to 630 million cubic meters (“"MMCM") (22.3
billion cubic feet ("bef")), and the sales revenue (including subsidy and
VAT refund) increased YoY by 31.2% to RMB735.5 million. The average
sales price ("ASP") for Panzhuang increased from RMB1.20 per cubic
meter in 2016 to RMB1.31 per cubic meter in 2017. Panzhuang’s sales
revenue accounts for the majority of our revenues and earnings. Mabi,
with a sales contract signed with PetroChina effective from 1 July 2017,
began to record revenues and expenses in 2H2017. The Group's
EBITDA increased by 59.1% from RMB271.8 million in 2016 to
RMB432.5 million in 2017.

As an appreciation to our shareholders’ support, the Board would like
to share our extraordinary achievement with you, and recommended
the payment of a dividend as further detailed in Proposed Dividend
below.

Below are some highlights of the Group in 2017.

Outstanding HSE Record: AAG's overall HSE record continued to
outperform targets by maintaining a zero incident for total recordable
injury rate and lost time injury rate (“LTIR"). By 25 December 2017,
AAG had achieved 5 million man-hours (3 years and 111 days) without
a single LTIR, which showed our relentless efforts in pursuing HSE
excellence.

Panzhuang — A Steadily Growing Cashflow Stream: We are very
proud that Panzhuang continued to deliver robust production growth
in 2017 and remains as the best CBM asset in China. Total annual
production from Panzhuang reached 571.6 MMCM in 2017, beating the
target of 557.2 MMCM with a 13% YoY increase, with a stable utilization
rate of 98%.

With improvements in operational management and efficiency, the
originally planned 29 wells were completed by 3Q2017. This allowed us
to expand the drilling program in 4Q2017 using the cost savings we
made from drilling and other operations in the first three quarters of
2017. By end of 2017, we finished drilling 55 wells.

BEME  AEEFANBEERESARIER  #
2016F M ARMB1066ETLIER T71.9% 2
2017 FH) AR HE 1.83218TL - 2017 FHBES
[ L2016 FEE R T 4917% 56,3087 5K (B
2231BM FER) - SHEWA (B FEBURT # Bh A
M IBERRT) AL 20168 K T 31.2% & A
RU¥73B5F T EHRBHFHIHEESER
([ASP) #2016 F 9B L K AR 1.207T
BE017TFHNEBLARAREI3T - EH
FSHE R AR MWAMBFIOEZRE - K
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2017 FEOAREE 432518 7T »
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Chairman’s Statement
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Mabi — Readiness for Commercialization: In 2017, Mabi focused on
improving pilot production, controlling costs and preparing for
commercial development once Overall Development Plan 1 (“ODP ")
is filed. Total production from Mabi’s pilot program reached 58.3
MMCM in 2017, surpassing our target of 56.9 MMCM, and a YoY
increase of 67%. With the latest success in pilot production
improvements and development optimization, Mabi concession is now
ready for a scaled commercial development.

Mabi’s ODP | report was further revised based on the improved well
performance and market condition, and passed the final review by
China National Petroleum Corporation, our Chinese partner for Mabi
project. We are now waiting for the National People’s Congress’
endorsement of a regulatory change from the approval process to a
filing process by NDRC for all CBM ODP reports. We expect this filing
process to be in place in TH2018, which will allow us to start the scaled
commercial development of Mabi phase | in the middle of 2018.

Stringent Costs Control and Significant Cost Savings: We are very
proud of our stringent cost control measures which resulted in
significant cost savings in 2017 across every project and function in our
Group. The total annual incurred Capex was RMB487.3MM, compared
to the budgeted RMB602.0MM. Costs per well continued to fall for
both projects. In Panzhuang, the average drilling cost for one SLH well
was down from RMB3.8MM in 2016 to RMB3.3MM in 1Q2017 and
further down to RMB2.9MM in 4Q2017. In Mabi, the average drilling
cost for one PDW was down to RMB0.83MM in 4Q2017, 30% below the
similar type of wells historical average cost. We plan to continue to
drive costs down and improve the margin as we approach commercial
development for Mabi.

A Booming Gas Market with Higher Realized Gas Price: 2017
witnessed a rapidly booming natural gas market in China with total gas
demand up 16% YoY to 241 billion cubic meters (“bem”), based on a
SIA report, due to the government’s determination to clean up the air
by encouraging more gas consumptions for all sectors. As a direct
result, our realized ASP in Panzhuang increased by 9.6% YoY, from 1.20
RMB per cubic meter (“em”) (“"RMB/ecm”) in 2016 to 1.31 RMB/cm in
2017, and increased by 22% from 1.26 RMB/cm in the first half of the
year to 1.54 RMB/cm in the last quarter. Furthermore, the NDRC began
regulating pipeline transmission tariff from 4Q2017 and as a result, our
gas transmission tariff was reduced by 22%, which helped to increase
our margins.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Maturation of Group’s Reserve Base: Based on the report issued by
Netherland, Sewell & Associations, Inc., the Group's net Proved (“1P")
and net Proved + Probable (“2P") gas reserves at year-end 2017 were
approximately 153.0 bcf and 617.6 bcf respectively, which represented
a 43% increase over the net 1P of 107.2 bcf and a 12% decrease over
the net 2P of 697.8 bcf at year-end 2016. This represented a natural
migration of reserves up the value chain along with the scaled
development and production, as well as the maturation of assets.

Strong Balance Sheet: In 2017 our balance sheet continued to remain
strong. As of 31 December 2017, AAG had a cash balance equivalent
to RMB2,274.6 million (approximately 75% held in US and Hong Kong
dollars), borrowings of RMB513.6 million and an unutilized Reserve
Based Lending facility of US$118.0 million.

Proposed Dividend: The Board recommends a full year dividend of
HK$0.0248/share for the year ended 31 December 2017 in view of the
strong operational and financial performance combined with stringent
cost control. The Company'’s continuing strong cash position, increased
cash flow from operations and unused borrowing facilities enable the
payment of the Company’s first dividends.

The outlook for the Company’s business remains strong and supports
its ability to sustain this dividend in the future.

Fellow shareholders, the management has been encouraged by our
achievements in 2017, and looking forward, we are very excited for
2018 as both the global commodity markets and Chinese economy
continue to be on a healthy recovery track. In this Year of the Dog, we
will continue to stay focused on continuous improvements of our
fundamentals; Panzhuang gas production, Mabi commercialization,
and operation efficiencies for both projects, while at the same time
actively looking for new opportunities.

In closing, | thank you, our Board, staff, shareholders, and business
partners for your continued trust and support.

Sincerely,

Stephen Xiangdong Zou
Chairman
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BUSINESS REVIEW

We are pleased to announce the Group continues to deliver strong
production growth compared with 2016. The Group's 2017 gross gas
production increased by 16.4% to 629.9 million cubic meters
("MMCM") (22.3 billion cubic feet (“bef”)) (comprising Panzhuang's
gross production of 571.6 MMCM (20.2 bcf) and Mabi’s gross
production of 58.3 MMCM (2.1 bcf)) compared with 2016.

During 2017, AAG realized a higher average selling price ("ASP") of
RMB1.30/cubic meter (“em”) comprising an ASP of RMB1.31/cm and
RMB1.14/cm for Panzhuang and Mabi, respectively (compared to
RMB1.20/cm for Panzhuang for 2016). This increase in ASP for
Panzhuang was driven by government policy of “coal-to-gas
conversion” and increased demand for gas in the winter months.

In July 2017, we entered into the exploration phase sales contract with
PetroChina Company Limited (“PetroChina”) and Mabi began to
recognize revenues and expenses in the second half of 2017
("2H2017").

The combination of rapid drilling and completion with continuous
optimization of well design and implementation, and more new wells
ramped up production in Panzhuang and Mabi which led to increased
production output in 2017.

Revenue (including subsidy and VAT refund) in 2017 increased by
31.2% to RMB735.5 million compared with 2016. Profit from operations
in 2017 increased by 63.4% to RMB322.1 million. Profit for the year in
2017 increased by 71.9% to RMB183.2 million. EBITDA in 2017
increased by 59.1% to RMB432.5 million.

The total annual incurred Capex was RMB487.3 million, compared to
the budget of RMB602.0 million. The average drilling cost for 1 single
lateral horizontal (“SLH") well in Panzhuang was reduced by
approximately RMBO0.9 million per well from 2016. For Mabi, the
average drilling cost for 1 pad drill well (“PDW") was about RMB0.8
million by the end of 2017, representing only 75% of similar type well’s
historical average cost. Looking forward, AAG remains committed to
driving costs down and keeping a healthy margin.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW B %% B B8
Please refer to section headed Review of Financial Results below. F2ARANEBM 7 [HFEEEREE] —6520
oo

Current Assets MENEE 2699512 2820279 1,347,769 348,623
Non-current assets ETBEEE 3,238,962 2,667,486 2,147,103 1,846,924
Total assets BEE 5,938,474 5,487,765 3,494,872 2,195,547
Current liabilities mEAE 443,775 392,893 316,439 1,887,800
Non-current liabilities FREEE 657,765 503,426 375,432 363,505
Total liabilities HBEE 1,101,540 896,319 691,871 2,251,305
Revenue A 411,278 536,655 425,895 138,382
Other income E A 149,276 127,672 151,197 64,262
Profit before income tax BRETIS AT S 178,980 51,717 275,048 68,651
Profit/(loss) for the year FEFE/(E8) 106,635 (56,939) 194,988 39,568
Net cash generated from ETEHSR S FH

operating activities 257,418 317,382 297,587 611
Net cash used in investing REEHFER S FH

activities (337,742)  (743937)  (420,954)  (607,575)
Net cash generated from BMEFHMERSTFE

financing activities 12,874 1,517,712 1,014,039 787,666

OPERATIONS REVIEW K EEE

We continued focusing on the Health, Safety and Environment ("HSE”) BE &2/ TEEM - M FE S E T
performance with expanding operation activities. AAG has achieved 5 HSERJ&XIR - #{Z=20174F 12250 ' 5 X &
million man-hours (3 years and 111 days) without Lost Time Injuryon 25 3T HBEELE/NEQFT 1M R)BERET
December 2017. RSN -

We have achieved significant progress towards certain key operational ~ASEEMEMNB ARG EHNMEEKEE
objectives for its two key assets operated by the Group’s two  HEEJRER A F] [SAEI] L&) EH R B R D
subsidiaries: Panzhuang concession operated by Sino-American  EAREHEERERAF [AAGH K&/ B NE
Energy, Inc. ("SAEI") and Mabi concession operated by Asian )M ETEALE BENGEEER -
American Gas, Inc. ("AAGI").

10 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)

Panzhuang Concession

AAG's Panzhuang concession in partnership with China United
Coalbed Methane Corporation Ltd. (“CUCBM") continues to be
the highest producing coalbed methane (“CBM") natural gas
project in China, and was designated as the leading CBM
production sharing contract in China under the Thirteenth Five-
Year Development and Utilization Plan for Coalbed Methane
("Energy Plan”) released by the National Energy Administration
(EIRge)RE, "NEA") and the National Development and Reform
Commission (R #EEMNFEZEE, "NDRC").

Panzhuang production update

Total annual production from Panzhuang reached 571.6 MMCM
(20.2 bcf), surpassing our 2017 production target of 557.2 MMCM
(19.7 bcf) with an 13% increase year on year (“YoY"). Panzhuang's
average daily production in 2017 was 1.57 MMCM per day
("MMCMD"), an 13.4% increase YoY. The sales utilization rate in
Panzhuang has remained very high at 98% during 2017.
Panzhuang’s gross sales volume in 2017 increased by 13% to
559.7 MMCM (19.8 bcf), compared with the full year 2016 gross
sales volume of 495.5MMCM (17.5 bcf). Further details on
production and well count of Panzhuang are set out below in
Table 1.

Panzhuang drilling and surface facilities

In 2017, AAG drilled and completed 55 wells (comprising 45 SLHs
and 10 PDWs). For the full year 2017, the 45 SLH wells were
completed in just 16.9 days on average with an average drilling
cost of RMB2.9 million per SLH well compared with a 2016
average of RMB3.8 million per SLH well, with wells drilled in 22
days. Our original 2017 drilling plan of 29 wells for Panzhuang
was completed by the third quarter of 2017. Savings from drilling
operation and improved operation efficiency allowed us to
increase the number of wells drilled in 2017.

We added 2 additional surface compressors at the central station
which will allow us to expand gas sales market at a higher
pressure, thereby giving us a higher price for gas in the future.
The 2017 average daily production was 1.57 MMCMD. With such
a high daily production average, Panzhuang will remain the most
productive CBM concession in China for years to come. At the
end of 2017, there were a total of 147 wells contributing to
production. Of these 147 wells, there are 19 PDWs, 49 multi-
lateral wells (“"MLD"), and 79 SLH wells.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)

12

Panzhuang drilling and surface facilities (Continued)

The current processing capacity of our Panzhuang surface
facilities is about 2.45 MMCMD, with 5 gas gathering stations, 18
wellhead compressors, 55.4 km of trunk links and 90 km of single
well pipelines completed. We are in the process of upgrading
our central gathering station and adding a new 35KV transformer
station, which will further improve surface compression capacity
to increase gas production and sales.

Mabi Concession

AAG’s Mabi concession in partnership with PetroChina is the
leading development stage CBM gas project in China designated
under the Energy Plan. In 2017, Mabi focused on improving pilot
performance, initiating cost control and preparing for the
commercial development after Overall Development Plan
approval is received.

Mabi gas sales contract signed — revenue recognition
started

As stated in the 2017 Interim Report published on 24 August 2017
("2017 Interim Report”), on 1 July 2017, AAG entered into an
exploration phase gas sales agreement with PetroChina, which
sets out the terms of exploration phase gas sales of Mabi
concession during the exploration period. In summary, this pilot
sales agreement allows Mabi to sell up to 500 thousand cubic
meters per day (“MCMD") of gas to the PetroChina West East
pipeline 1. Similar to our Panzhuang concession, Mabi pilot sales
also qualifies for the RMB0.30/cm subsidy and the Value Added
Tax ("VAT") refund. We are very excited with this development
since we have commenced revenue recognition for Mabi with
effect from 2H2017, and we have commenced recovering our
cost and delivering value to our shareholders.

The sales utilization rate in Mabi increased to 92% after the
additional power grid project finished in the first half of 2017
("1H2017"). Mabi's gross pilot sales volume in 2017 increased by
151% to 53.6 MMCM (1.9 bcf). Further details on production and
well count of Mabi are set out below in Table 1.

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Ko EE ()

B R E R EER (F)
BREHEANEERERESEER
U 18ESFOERMER - 554 T KEWE
RMIOTAMEHER  REENNR
458 TTRER - HAEETRFRE
RIEMIE I —EF 35 TIREEY - 5
RE—THmRE BRI EEE DK
MiENEEMBEE -

BUER

H MBI A BXARBKRODAERAR (F
A AENBLER - ERER (RE
REERZEMBI+=0] REPHEINR
TEREREREERFERENA
B -2017F  HUBORREFEEEE
B osp AR RN SERFED
RAER AR B MR -

BYRARHEECRNELTT — BB
ON 1
BIE20177F8A24B &My B &
(20177 F R HAR S ) WM EFAABR
2017 F7 A1 AE:] T EFEEEEmE
55 AR SR B R PR BB R A RUEE B
HTHARNRE - SR EEA P ABE
REHIRELEEMRAR A & ESC
BEURKEBX EIEBEHELR  SHE
BESLEEHED BT RARKOS
TR RFHEEARIEERER - BE
2017 F R HEFHMFRERWA - FMA
F o6 UL BV R AR AN+ I A IR R A5 R [E
o ABHBEMBREFEEASR -

TE2017 FF L FHISEHTIZTMKE
B @ BEAIIEE A ARG INE] T 92% o
S SHE 2017 F3E I1 T 151% 25,360
BV TK(ENOEBILHER) - EZHK
ESEMUARHESETBFR TR -



Management Discussion and Analysis

MIEJE;THHB& *ﬁ'

OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)

Mabi pilot program update

AAG's Mabi concession showed promising success in 2017.
Mabi’s 2017 gross pilot production increased to 58.3 MMCM (2.1
bcf) compared with 35.0 MMCM (1.2 bcf) in 2016. The 2017
average daily production for Mabi was 160.0 MCMD, a 68%
increase compared to 95.5 MCMD in 2016.

We have drilled 67 wells and hydraulic fractured 56 wells in 2017.
The average cost of these 67 wells for drilling and completion are
approximately 30% and 25% lower respectively compared to
similar type well’s historical average cost. By the end of 2017,
there are 127 wells at various stages of pilot production in Mabi.
A combination of low cost PDW with well casing and hydraulic
fracture completion will allow for one well to access multiple coal
seams with the lowest investment. Based on the recent success
of Mabi pilot production improvement and development
optimization, the Mabi concession is ready for scaled commercial
development.

Mabi ODP progress

All Overall Development Plan Phase | (“ODP 1”) associated sub-
approvals have been secured. The ODP | report had been further
revised based on the improved well performance and market
condition, and passed final review by our project partner China
National Petroleum Corporation (“CNPC"). According to the
announcement published by the State Council in early 2017, to
simplify the regulatory approval procedures and facilitate the
CBM commercialization process, Sino-foreign CBM ODPs will no
longer require approval from NDRC, but instead will be replaced
by a project filing process. We expect this filing process to be in
place in TH2018 which will allow Mabi to start the scaled
development of ODP | in the middle of 2018.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued) K& EEE e

e Mabi ODP progress (Continued) o FELNODPHIER(E)
Table 1 — Operation matrix of Panzhuang ("PZ") and Mabi R —RHERR((BRDANFLER
("MB") concessions (B HBEER

Total gross production (MMCM) BES(BEMLAK) 541.08 16.40%
Total average daily production (MMCMD) BEHAEE(BELAK
HFX) 1.48 16.88%
Panzhuang (PZ) gross production (MMCM) BRAES (AEYHXK) 506.13 12.93%
PZ MLD EHEMLD 447.95 -23.91%
PZ SLH &I SLH 45.67 350.34%
PZ PDW EIEPDW 12.50 100.18%
Total PZ producing wells** B EHE 97 51.55%
PZ MLD EHEMLD 49 0.00%
PZ SLH BT SLH 34 132.35%
PZ PDW EIEPDW 14 35.71%
PZ wells drilled B AL T 30 83.33%
PZ wells fracked BRI ER 6 28.57%
Mabi (MB) gross production (MMCM) SUNEES(BEMLAK) 34.95 66.77%
MB MLD FHMLD 0.19 -40.78%
MB SLH B SLH 3.08 671.29%
MB PDW B PDW 31.69 8.61%
Total Mabi producing wells* BB EHFE 121 79.34%
MB MLD BWMLD 2 -50.00%
MB SLH B SLH 12 -16.67%
MB PDW H5 W PDW 107 8.41%
MB wells drilled FBUEHTH 8 737.50%
MB wells fracked B BRRIE E B HE 31 80.65%

* Operations update as of 31 December 2017, 08:00 CST

*x well count is calculated from pumping start date

*
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EXPLORATION AND RESERVE UPDATE

As stated in 2017 Interim Report, the exploration focus has been
gradually moving towards field development preparation. The Group
is pleased that both the Panzhuang and the Mabi concession have
both gone through major exploration and appraisal programs and
achieved reasonable resources assessment.

Based on reports issued by Netherland Sewell & Associates Inc.
(“NSAI"), an independent reserve certification company, the Group's
net 1P and 2P natural gas reserves as at 2017 year end (“2017YE") are
153.0 bef and 617.6 bcf respectively, which represents an 43% increase
over the net 1P of 107.2 bcf at 2016YE, and a 12% decrease from the
net 2P of 697.8 bcf at 2016 year end (“2016YE").

The Panzhuang concession contributed a net 1P of 111.4 bcf and a net
2P of 190.9 bcf. Both net 1P and 2P increased from 2016YE (when
taking into account gas production volume in 2017) due to good
performance of existing wells and the accelerated drilling program in
2017. This shows our commitment to developing Panzhuang above its
original designed capacity of 17.5 bcf per year. The increased 2P
reserves will further contribute to future production in Panzhuang.

The Mabi concession contributed a net 1P of 41.6 bcf, or an 329%
increase over the net 1P of 9.7 bcf at 2016YE which benefited from
existing wells’ performance, new wells coming online and
implementation of exploration phase gas sales contract in Mabi in
2017. An optimized Long Range Plan (“"LRP"”) with high-graded
development strategy was developed in 2017 for delivering stronger
economics based on an assessment of the Mabi gas field. This resulted
in a small reduction in Mabi's net 2P reserves (15%). The original plan
of developing possible reserve will not be developed based on the
revised LRP. This results in decreased possible reserves. The portion of
reduced net possible reserves are reclassified as contingent resources
pending on economics and technology viability.
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EXPLORATION AND RESERVE UPDATE (Continued)

The following table sets forth our reserve data as of 31 December 2017

compared with 2016:

Table 2

BHERREREHR @)
THIER25IH T 2016F M EZ= 2017 F12 A 31
BHHEEER -

*2

Total a5t
Proved (1P) BER=E(P)

Proved + probable (2P)
Proved + probable + possible (3P)

BE+MERE QP
BE+ME + = (3P)

Panzhuang BHER
Proved (1P) HEERFEOP)
Proved + probable (2P) BB+ BERE(2P)

Proved + probable + possible (3P)

BE+ME + = (3P)

Mabi BEXER
Proved (1P) HEFE(IP)
Proved + probable (2P) EE+BERE(2P)

Proved + probable + possible (3P)

BE+ME + = (3P)

190.6 153.0 107.2
858.8 617.6 697.8
1,159.9 822.2 1,525
142.5 1M1.4 97.5
245.6 190.9 197.3
305.5 236.5 264.8
48.1 41.6 9.7
613.2 426.8 500.5
854.4 585.6 1,260.2

Notes:

*k

Net gas reserves are our share of the gas reserves according to the terms of each
production sharing contract and after adjustment for fuel and shrinkage.

Our reserve estimates and the future net revenue have been prepared by NSAI in
accordance with generally accepted petroleum engineering and evaluation
principles set forth in the Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing of Oil
and Gas Reserves Information promulgated by the Society of Petroleum Engineers.
NSAIl used standard engineering and geosciences methods or a combination of
methods, including performance analysis, volumetric analysis, and analogy, that it
considered to be appropriate and necessary to classify, categorize, and estimate
volumes in accordance with the 2007 PRMS (the Petroleum Resources Management
System published by the Society of Petroleum Engineers, American Association of
Petroleum Geologists, World Petroleum Council, and Society of Petroleum
Evaluation Engineers in March 2007) definitions and guidelines. These reserve
amounts are estimates only and should not be construed as exact quantities.

The following table is the summary of the expenditures incurred in our

exploration, development and production activities for FY2017.

*k

FREERREERD KA RIERARRRFBERD
HPIMRAREE -

HAIE B AR RoRAOF U ER Th i NSAIR IR A Jh T
BiHegRhn AR RXAREEEEREN LR
A T2 R E R BIAR B o B9 2007 40k
ARERGE(CRmERE LS Eham T2
g XERMMERGE HRAMEFGRAM
AT fh TAZA0 175 & 70 2007 4F 3 A 340 ) 9 E & ) 353
NSAISRR T RAETRAMMB BREBEENT
B (EE)BRE  REENBLESEAMT
ERRANE BRERGEREEMARMLENT
E e BMMEHEEEBEE - TMERBEE -

TERBEEM - -t FHRFEELENE
B’ FAEREERDHL -

Panzhuang 3,712 255,887 157,804
Mabi 78,799 117,607 69,547
Total 82,511 373,493 227,351
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NEW OPPORTUNITIES

The Group has been actively pursuing new oil & gas opportunities for
future growth, mainly covering attractive oil & gas assets inside and
outside China. In 2017, AAG’s M&A team screened numerous deals
and progressed several deals to advanced stage of negotiations. We
believe AAG is well positioned for further expansion in the near term,
and are very excited about prospects in 2018.

OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2018

China’s total gas demand was up 16% YoY to 241 billion cubic meters
(“bem”) for the full year 2017, according to SIA Energy, an independent
China-focused oil and gas consulting firm, owing to the coal-to-gas
conversion program which substantially increased gas demand in 2017
as the PRC Government encourages coal users to switch to gas.
Domestic gas supply, on the other hand, only increased 10% to 150
bcem, which shows the strong supply and demand imbalance. It is the
Company'’s belief that gas use promotion policy and environmental
protection will become resilient growth drivers in the medium and long
term.

As published in the 13th Five Year Plan, the PRC government is
committed to establishing the right incentives and market drivers for
increasing gas demand by 2020, and CBM is an important part of this
plan. The NEA and the NDRC took great strides from 2015 — 2017 in
gas reform initiatives, including: pushing third party access to pipelines,
rolling out programmes incentivizing coal to gas switching, enhancing
infrastructure interconnectivity, and streamlining the hierarchy of gas
transmission and distribution businesses. The NEA will take further
steps in 2018 to incentivize gas production and market reform. These
measures will support AAG’s growth aspirations beyond the leading
independent producer of CBM in China.

For 2018, the Group will continue making investments in Panzhuang
and Mabi as follows:

e  Panzhuang:
The full year plan includes drilling 49 SLH and 12 PDW production
wells, work overs on existing wells, and minor hydraulic refracture
works. Surface facilities investments will include the continuation
of the central station upgrade, further power station construction,
and related trunk line construction for future development.

The Group's full year gross production expectation for Panzhuang
is 626.0 MMCM (22.1 bcf) subject to anticipated project execution
and related government approvals.
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OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2018 (Continued)
° Mabi:

In Mabi, the Group will focus on execution of the ODP |
implementation plan once ODP | plan receives approval. This will
include both drilling new wells in core areas, infill drilling in
existing development areas, and starting new gas gathering
station construction. The drilling and completion technology will

build off the success in recent years of low cost PDWs.

The full year plan includes drilling approximately 198 new PDWs
and hydraulic fracturing approximately 72 wells. Much work will
go into surface facilities such as trunk lines, gas gathering
stations, well pad preparation, and forestry and land approval.

The Group's full year gross production expectation for Mabi is
97.3 MMCM (3.4 bcf) subject to anticipated project execution and

related government approvals.

Based on the above development plan for Panzhuang and Mabi,
the total capital expenditure will be approximately RMB890
million (comprising RMB320 million for Panzhuang and RMB570
million for Mabi) which will be funded by internal cashflows, a
portion of proceeds from the IPO and/or the unutilized portion of
the reserve-based lending facility. Mabi's capital expenditure of
RMB570 million is based on the assumption that the Group will
be responsible to fund 100% of Mabi's capital expenditure for
2018. However, the Group expects that PetroChina will fund 30%
of Mabi's capital expenditure for 2018 and onwards once Mabi's
ODRP | filing is completed (which is expected to be completed in
2018), and the Group's share of Mabi's capital expenditure for
2018 will drop from RMB570 million to RMB410 million. The
Group will re-assess the capital expenditure plan for 2018 and
disclose any changes in the 2018 interim results if any

adjustments are necessary.

The Group is confident that we will continue to control costs and
maximize profits. As a high productivity and low-cost upstream
gas producer with a strong balance sheet, we are well positioned
to further expand our production in Panzhuang and commercial
development in Mabi to satisfy China’s growing energy demand.
At the same time, the Group will continue to pursue new oil &
gas business opportunities within China and in other regional
markets to expand our business, serve adjacent communities with

clean energy, and realize further return to our shareholders.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS gy F ]

Revenue WA 411,278

— Panzhuang — & 411,278
— Mabi — B -
Subsidy income AR A 119,820
— Panzhuang — & 119,820
— Mabi — B -
VAT refund BEBRB 29,456
— Panzhuang — &4t 29,456
— Mabi — B -
Other losses, net Hi g8 F 8 (913)
Operating expenses RER® (362,501)
Depreciation and amortization Hree R EH (74,613)
Employee benefit expenses BTEMAX (164,142
Materials, services and logistics MR RS R (100,203)
Others Hit (23,543)
Panzhuang B (184,449)
Depreciation and amortization Hree R EH (65,9006)
Employee benefit expenses BTEMAX (46,316)
Materials, services and logistics MR RIS (60,978)
Others Hit (11,249)
Mabi B (50,135)
Depreciation and amortization Hree R EH (5,589)
Employee benefit expenses BTEMAX (24,896)
Materials, services and logistics MR RIERYR (13,249)
Others Hit (6,407)
Headquarters s (127,917)
Depreciation and amortization Hree R EH (3,118)
Employee benefit expenses BTEMAX (92,930)
Materials, services and logistics MR RIS (25,976)
Others Hit (5,893)
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

S AEN-EIE))

EBITDA EBITDA 271,753
— Panzhuang — & 441,628
— Mabi — H/ (45,075)

Profit from operations FES— D 197,140

Interest income F B WA 10,699

Finance costs MEER (18,578)

Exchange losses RSP S (10,281)

Finance costs — net B8 REHE (18,160)

Profit before income tax R B 1884 50 R 8 178,980

Income tax expense FReBERA (72,345)

Profit for the year FERE 106,635

Revenue. Our revenue increased by RMB130.3 million, or 31.7%, from
RMB411.3 million in 2016 to RMB541.6 million in 2017. This increase
was mainly generated by Panzhuang due to an increase in net sales
volume as a result of increased production and an increase in the ASP
to RMB1.31/cm for 2017. Panzhuang's gross production increased by
13% from 506.1 cubic meters (17.9 bcf) in 2016 to 571.6 cubic meters
(20.2 bcf) in 2017, with a constant utilization rate of 98% for both 2016
and 2017. Panzhuang’s ASP for 2017 increased to RMB1.31/cm
compared to RMB1.20/cm for 2016 due to increased demand from the
government'’s policy to switch from coal to gas and market conditions
during the winter months. In addition, with the signing of the Mabi
exploration phase sales contract with effect from 1 July 2017, Mabi
began to recognize revenue and related operating expenses starting
from 1 July 2017.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued) M REDRE(®)
Set out below are the production, sales, ASP and revenue of the E=£ - HE « FHHEEER LI ABESIIOT :
Group.

Gross production volume (bcf)’ mEE (B FER) 191
Panzhuang JEHE 17.9
Mabi 544 1.2

Gross production volume (mmcm)' BES(BELHK) 541.1
Panzhuang JEHE 506.1
Mabi 544 35.0

Gross sales volume (bcf)? @iEeE (HEZ AER)? 18.3
Panzhuang JEAT 17.5
Mabi A 0.8

Gross sales volume (mmcm)? EIEE(ABN HXK)? 516.9
Panzhuang JEHE 495.5
Mabi 54k 21.4

Net sales volume (bcf)? FiHE (TR ARER)? 12.7
Panzhuang B 12.1
Mabi 544 0.6

Net sales volume (mmcm)? FEE (BB HK)S 359.8
Panzhuang JEAT 3432
Mabi oA 16.6

ASP FHHEER
RMB per cubic meter ANE¥TT /3K 1.20

Panzhuang B 1.20
Mabi oA 1.20
US$ per mcf ET,/ SRR 5.13
Panzhuang B 5.13
Mabi A 5.09

Revenue (in RMB in thousands)* WA(ANREFIT)4 411,278
Panzhuang JEAT 411,278
Mabi A N/A
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

Note:

1. Gross production volume is the total amount of CBM produced.

2. Gross sales volume is gross production volume less utilization loss.

3. Net sales volume is the portion of gross sales volume allocated to us under the

production sharing contract and after deduction of amount sold to pay applicable
VAT and local taxes.

4. After Mabi signed the exploration phase sales contract with effect from 1 July 2017,
Mabi commenced revenue recognition in the Profit and Loss Statement in 2H2017.
In 2016 and 1H2017, Mabi's sales was recognized by offsetting Capex/Property,
Plant and Equipment per IFRS requirements.

Subsidy income. Our subsidy income is RMB119.8 million and
RMB143.8 million in 2016 and 2017, respectively. Our subsidy income
increased by RMB24.0 million or 20.0%, mainly due to the increased
sales volume for Panzhuang. In addition, Mabi’s sales volume began
contributing to subsidy income.

VAT refund. Our VAT refund is RMB29.5 million and RMB50.1 million in
2016 and 2017, respectively. Our VAT refund increased by RMB20.6
million or 69.8% in 2017 mainly due to increase in ASP for Panzhuang in
2017 and an one-off adjustment in 2016 for local government's share of
VAT refund with effect from 2014. In addition, Mabi began to recognize
VAT refund after the signing of the exploration phase sales contract
with effect from 1 July 2017.

Other losses, net. Our other losses decreased by RMB829,960 from
RMB913,431 in 2016 to RMB83,471 in 2017 due to less disposition of
scrap materials at a loss.

Operating expenses. Our operating expenses increased by RMB50.8
million or 14.0%, from RMB362.5 million in 2016 to RMB413.3 million in
2017 primarily due to increases in depreciation and amortization as a
result of increased production wells and increases in materials, services
and logistics expenses mainly due to more wells put into production
and legal consulting service expenses, offset by less employee benefit
expenses due to decreased share-based compensation expenses in
2017. In addition, Mabi began recognizing operating expenses in the
2H2017 as a result of entering into the exploration phase sales
contract.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

Depreciation and amortization. Our depreciation and
amortization increased by RMB35.8 million or 48.0%, from
RMB74.6 million in 2016 to RMB110.4 million in 2017 due to more
wells and wellhead compressors put into production as
production increased in Panzhuang. In addition, Mabi began
recognizing more depreciation and amortization expenses with
effect from 1 July 2017 as a result of entering into the exploration
phase sales contract.

Employee benefit expenses. Our employee benefit expenses
decreased by RMB22.0 million or 13.4%, from RMB164.1 million
in 2016 to RMB142.1 million in 2017, largely due to decrease in
non-cash share-based compensation expenses by RMB27.8
million and a reduction of severance and consulting fees paid to
our ex-Co-CEO, but partially offset by increased employees’
benefit expenses for Mabi with effect from 1 July 2017 as a result
of entering into the exploration phase sales contract.

Materials, services and logistics. Our materials, services and
logistics expenses increased by RMB34.5 million or 34.4%, from
RMB100.2 million in 2016 to RMB134.7 million in 2017, primarily
due to increased electricity and other operating costs at
Panzhuang associated with more wells put into production, and
non-operation-related expenses for business development and
legal consulting service. In addition, Mabi began recognizing
more of these expenses with effect from 1 July 2017 as a result of
entering into the exploration phase sales contract.

Others. Our other expenses are RMB23.5 million and RMB26.1 million
in 2016 and 2017, respectively.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

EBITDA. Our EBITDA increased by RMB160.7 million or 59.1%, from
RMB271.8 million in 2016 to RMB432.5 million in 2017. This increase
was primarily due to Panzhuang’s increase in net sales volume as a
result of a 13% increase in gross production, increase in ASP from
RMB1.20/cm in 2016 to RMB1.31/cm in 2017, increase in subsidy
income and VAT refund, decrease in headquarter’'s employee benefit
expenses as a result of decreased non-cash share-based compensation
expenses and a reduction of severance and consulting fees paid to our
ex-Co-CEQ, offset by increase in Panzhuang's material, services and
logistic costs due to more wells put into production and non-
operation-related expenses related to business development and legal
consulting service in 2017. In addition, Mabi began recognizing
revenue and related expenses with effect from 1 July 2017 as a result of
entering into the exploration phase sales contract. In summary, higher
production volume and realized ASP, combined with stringent cost
controls resulted in an increase in EBITDA outperforming increase in
revenues. Included in EBITDA of RMB271.8 million in 2016 are non-
cash share-based compensation expenses of RMB48.3 million, non-
operation-related business development/feasibility studies expenses
of RMB8.3 million and severance payment of RMB4.6 million for
departure of one of our Co-CEOs. Included in the EBITDA of RMB432.5
million in 2017 are non-cash share-based compensation expenses of
RMB20.5 million, non-operations-related expenses for business
development and legal consulting service of RMB10.4 million and one-
off consulting fee of RMB1.7 million paid to our ex-Co-CEO.
Panzhuang’s EBITDA increased by RMB111.2 million or 25.2%, from
RMB441.6 million in 2016 to RMB552.8 million in 2017. Panzhuang’s
EBITDA in 2017 increased primarily due to increases in production
volume and ASP combined with an increase in subsidy income and
VAT refund, which was partially offset by higher materials and electricity
expenses as a result of additional wells. Mabi’s negative EBITDA
decreased by RMB18.2 million or 40.4%, from negative RMB45.1 million
in 2016 to negative RMB26.9 million in 2017 because Mabi began to
recognize revenue and related expenses with effect from 1 July 2017 as
a result of entering into the exploration phase sales contract.

Profit from operations. As a result of the foregoing, our profit from
operations increased by RMB125.0 million or 63.4%, from RMB197.1
million in 2016 to RMB322.1 million in 2017.

Interest income. Our interest income decreased by RMB4.4 million or

41.1%, from RMB10.7 million in 2016 to RMB6.3 million in 2017 primarily
due to decreased cash and fixed deposit balances.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

Finance costs. Our finance costs decreased by RMB5.6 million or
30.1%, from RMB18.6 million in 2016 to RMB13.0 million in 2017 largely
due to decreased commitment fees resulting from reduction in the
maximum loan amount of the new US$250 million reserve-based facility
(“New US$250 million RBL").

Exchange losses. Our foreign exchange translation losses decreased
by RMB5.8 million or 56.3%, from RMB10.3 million in 2016 to RMB4.5
million in 2017 primarily due to exchange gain resulting from the
impact of the appreciation of the Renminbi on the drawn portion of the
new US$250 million RBL, which reduced the foreign exchange
translation losses between HK$ and US$ for our cash balance in HK$.

Profit before income tax. Our profit before income tax increased by
RMB131.9 million or 73.7% from RMB179.0 million in 2016 to RMB310.9
million in 2017 mainly due to the factors affecting EBITDA and
decrease in foreign exchange translation losses and finance costs, but
partially offset by increase in depreciation and amortization expense
and reduction in interest income.

Income tax expense. Our income tax expense increased by RMB55.4
million, or 76.6%, from RMB72.3 million in 2016 to RMB127.7 million in
2017, mainly due to increase in taxable profit for Panzhuang in 2017.
Income tax expense arises from Panzhuang’s operations. Mabi had no
income tax expense given it had no taxable profit.

Profit for the year. Our profit for the year increased by RMB76.6 million,
or 71.9%, from RMB106.6 million in 2016 to RMB183.2 million in 2017,
primarily due to the factors affecting profit before income tax stated
above but partially offset by the increase in income tax expense.

EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA

We provide a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA to profit
for the year, our most directly comparable financial performance
calculated and presented in accordance with HKFRS. EBITDA refers to
earnings before interest income, finance costs, exchange gains/losses,
income tax and depreciation and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA refers
to EBITDA adjusted to exclude non-cash expenses, non-recurring
items or non-operations-related expenses to show EBITDA from the
Group's core operations.
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EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA (Continued)

We have included EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA as we believe they are
financial measures commonly used in the oil and gas industry. We
believe that EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are used as supplemental
financial measures by our management and by investors, research
analysts, bankers and others to assess our operating performance, cash
flow and return on capital as compared to those of other companies in
our industry, and our ability to take on financing. However, EBITDA and
adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or construed as
alternatives to profit from operations or any other measure of
performance or as an indicator of our operating performance or
profitability. EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA fail to account for income
tax, exchange gains/losses, interest income, finance costs and
depreciation and amortization.

The following table presents a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA to profit for the year:

Reconciliation of profit for
the year to EBITDA:

FEFEEEBITDA NWHER :

EBITDA K & A& EBITDA (%)

A E 5 AEBITDA KX & # ¥ EBITDA * & H
REMRBTMEERTESANMISE -
MR BEBITDA X 4 8 2 EBITDAH F 1 79
BRE - 1REE  AROWE - RITREEAM
AT HAERTETBTE - U ERFERRE
NEMARMNLEERE - BonE REARR
RARBPIEEREREE S - A - EBITDA
K 48 2 EBITDA /N A # 52 7F J8 3 7Y 48 & F1|
SEMEMRIBTE - T T RBALERH
SEMEMERBEFENERER R AN
$EE R IR S IR BE S R FEIZ o EBITDA R A& 3
FEBITDAKRBEEFTER - (B H asskigx -

FLBUA ~ BIF5 8 A R T 88 R A iR D B2 R -

T # &, 51| 55 [Z EBITDA J% £% #4 % EBITDA £2 FI
B SIRR o

Profit for the year FERE 106,635
Income tax expense S &R 72,345
Interest income FEMA (10,699)
Finance costs W% A 18,578
Exchange losses B 1B 5k 10,281
Depreciation and amortization YrEe K 5 74,613

EBITDA EBITDA 271,753

Non-cash share-based compensation
expenses
Non-operations-related business

VAR 1 BT BO3E IR & Hr R X

FFEERENEBERMAR

development and legal service expenses ARG ERY
Severance payment and consulting fees A PIRRIEE B ERITED
paid to our ex-Co-CEQO BB ENAZRE
Adjusted EBITDA KFAEEBITDA

332,908
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EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA (Continued)

Our EBITDA increased by RMB160.7 million or 59.1%, from RMB271.8
million in 2016 to RMB432.5 million in 2017. This increase was primarily
due to Panzhuang's increase in net sales volume as a result of a 13%
increase in gross production, increase in ASP from RMB1.20/cm in 2016
to RMB1.31/cm in 2017, increase in subsidy income and VAT refund,
decrease in headquarter's employee benefit expenses as a result of
decreased non-cash share-based compensation expenses and a
reduction of severance payment and consulting fees paid to our ex-
Co-CEOQ, offset by increase in Panzhuang’s material, services and
logistic costs due to more wells put into production and non-
operation-related expenses related to business development and legal
consulting service in 2017. In addition, Mabi began recognizing
revenue and related expenses with effect from 1 July 2017 as a result of
entering into the exploration phase sales contract. In summary, higher
production volume and realized ASP, combined with stringent cost
controls resulted in increase in EBITDA outperforming increase in
revenues.

Our adjusted EBITDA increased by RMB132.3 million, or 39.7%, from
RMB332.9 million in 2016 to RMB465.2 million in 2017. This increase
was due to the reasons explained above for the increase in EBITDA
adjusted for decreased non-cash share-based compensation expenses
and severance payment/consulting fees paid to our ex-Co-CEQ in 2017
and increased non-operations-related expenses for business
development and legal consulting service included in 2017.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary sources of funding include cash generated from operating
activities and bank borrowings.

We had cash and bank balances of RMB2,274.6 million as at 31
December 2017 (RMB2,375.3 million as at 31 December 2016).

On 8 July 2015, SAEI entered into a New US$250 million RBL with The
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Standard
Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, Bank of Communication Ltd,
Offshore Banking Unit and Societe Generale, Singapore Branch and on
16 July 2015, SAEI successfully drew down US$70 million from the New
US$250 million RBL to prepay and replace the original US$100 million
reserve-based facility.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)

The New US$250 million RBL commenced reduction of the maximum
borrowing facility amount on 1 July 2017 and will continue reducing
every six months until the maximum borrowing facility reduces to zero.
As of 31 December 2017, the maximum borrowing facility amount was
reduced to US$200 million. As at 31 December 2017, the unutilised
portion of the New US$250 million RBL is US$118 million. On 1 January
2018, the maximum borrowing facility amount was further reduced to
US$175 million, and accordingly the undrawn borrowing facility amount
as at that date was further reduced to US$93 million.

As of 31 December 2016 and 2017, we had long-term borrowings of
RMB496.4 million and RMB513.6 million, respectively, all of which were
non-current secured U.S. dollar bank borrowings representing the
drawn portion of the New US$250 million RBL as of 31 December 2016
and 2017, respectively.

As at 31 December 2017, the gearing ratio (ratio of total borrowings to
total equity) of the Group was 10.4% (31 December 2016: 10.3%). Save
as the information disclosed above or otherwise in this annual report,
we had no outstanding mortgage, pledge, debentures or other loan
capital issued or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts, borrowings,
liabilities under acceptance or other similar liabilities, hire purchase
and finance lease commitments, or any guarantees or other material
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2017.

Cash Flows
The table below sets forth our cash flows for each of the years
indicated.

RBEERELRER @)

F2bEETBARBMENR2017F7 A1 BRHE
HMBERRE LRE%E YK FES SEAT
B—IX EEERBELERBEZT AL - R
2017F12R31H BHRBELRESERE2
B3EIL o PR2017F 12 A31 8 » RIEEUE K&
A A118EETT - K2018F1 818 - &
HEhE FRSFE—FRME1.758FET 0 AME
M Z ARG REA 3 A9,3008E T °

E=d

R2016F K% 201712 31 B » B EHE
TR BARELAET R AREES1361E
T B aEY AERNBEERETRITE
X B20164F 2017912 A31 H #2518 3
TLREREDRIERIE D -

R2017 128318 AEBEREER X
(B mmERmEE) 510.4% (2016 F
12A 318 :10.3%) ° Br £ 302N F 3 H b &
DEIHEZERSN  R2017F 128318 &
930 AT R (EEIR B « || - EHHEAME
BITRAEBRITEREAR  BITEX B
AHBEXEMEAEE  BERMBHEEA
B EMERIEMERKREE -

RERhE
TREIINESATRFERFNVRERE ©

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLFE

2017 2016

2017 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T AR¥ETFTT

Net cash generated from operating activities  #&&& /EZENFTIRIR & F5E 438,301 257,418

Net cash used in investing activities KEEZHTAE S F5E (455,556) (337,742)

Net cash generated from financing activites @& /EENFTSIR & F 58 26,392 12,874
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash BeRBLEEYEM Chd)

equivalents 8 9,137 (67,450)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FUNBEeRREEFED

the year 2,343,764 2,309,810
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and cash RekReEEWMER (BX)/

equivalents Uz (115,931) 101,404

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year F RIS LIRS EEY 2,236,970 2,343,764
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)
Cash Flows (Continued)

Operating Activities

Net cash generated from operating activities was RMB438.3 million in
2017 largely due to profit before income tax of RMB310.9 million,
depreciation and amortization of RMB110.4 million, a decrease in trade
and other receivables of RMB22.3 million, non-cash share-based
compensation of RMB20.5 million, finance costs of RMB13.0 million
mainly for commitment fee, an increase in trade and other payables of
RMB12.7 million, and unrealized exchange losses of RMB4.5 million.
These were offset by RMB32.9 million of interest paid and RMB16.2
million income tax paid.

Net cash generated from operating activities was RMB257.4 million in
2016 largely due to profit before income tax of RMB179.0 million,
depreciation and amortization of RMB74.6 million, non-cash share-
based compensation of RMB48.3 million, finance costs of RMB18.6
million and unrealized exchange losses of RMB12.6 million, and
increase in trade and other payables of RMB7.8 million. These were
offset by an increase in trade and other receivables of RMB40.9 million,
RMB26.3 million of interest paid, interest income of RMB10.7 million
and RMB5.3 million income tax paid.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was RMB455.6 million in 2017 and
comprised mainly of purchases of property, plant and equipment of
RMB456.3 million, increase in restricted bank deposits of RMB6.1
million, offset by interest received of RMB6.5 million. The purchase of
property, plant and equipment primarily comprised of payment for
more wells drilled, additional well head compressors and construction
of gas gathering stations and power facilities.

Net cash used in investing activities was RMB337.7 million in 2016 is
mainly for the purchase of property, plant and equipment of RMB570.1
million, increase in restricted bank deposits of RMB23.6 million, offset
by decrease in term deposits with an initial term of over three months
of RMB246.0 million and interest received of RMB9.5 million. The
purchase of property, plant and equipment primarily comprised of
payment for more wells drilled, additional boosters and compressors,
and construction of gas gathering stations and power facilities.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)
Cash Flows (Continued)

Financing Activities

Net cash generated from financing activities was RMB26.4 million in
2017 largely due to RMB39.7 million of cash received from drawing
down a portion of the New US$250 million RBL, offset by finance costs
of RMB13.4 million largely due to payment for commitment fees paid
for unutilized portion of the New US$250 million RBL.

Net cash generated from financing activities was RMB12.9 million in
2016 largely due to RMB40.4 million of cash received from drawing
down a portion of the New US$250 million RBL, offset by finance costs
of RMB19.9 million largely due to payment for commitment fees paid
for unutilized portion of the New US$250 million RBL and payment of
RMB7.7 million of IPO-related expenses.

Cash and Bank Balances

We had cash and bank balances of RMB2,375.3 million and RMB2,274.6
million as of 31 December 2016 and 2017, respectively. Our cash and
bank balances consist of cash on hand, cash at banks, and restricted
bank deposits. The decrease in our cash position is largely due to
purchases of property, plant and equipment. As at 31 December 2016
and 2017, we had approximately 67.2% and 75.1% of our cash and
bank balances held in HK$ or US$.

FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

Our activities expose us to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, market
risk (including foreign exchange risk and cash flow interest rate risk),
liquidity risk and concentration risk. Our overall risk management
program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on our financial performance.

Credit Risk

As the majority of the cash at bank balances are placed with state-
owned and international banks and financial institutions in the PRC and
Hong Kong, and there has been no recent history of default in relation
to these banks and financial institutions, the corresponding credit risk
is relatively low. Therefore, our credit risk arises primarily from trade
and other receivables. We have controls in place to assess the credit
quality of our customers. We have concentration risk on trade
receivables. Only limited allowance for uncollectible receivables was
made in the past as our sales were only made to the customers with
good credit history. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly
monitored.
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FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk

We are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to US$. Foreign exchange risk arises
when future commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities
are denominated in a currency other than the entity’s functional
currency.

Prior to 30 April 2016, we were exposed to non-cash foreign exchange
risk arising from retranslation of US$ denominated inter-company
loans. To manage the foreign exchange risk, management decided to
execute a debt restructuring on 30 April 2016 by converting the inter-
company loans into perpetual loans through entering into perpetual
loan agreements between respective group companies such that the
perpetual loans do not bear interest and the lenders can not request
repayment. Upon completion of this debt restructuring, any foreign
exchange differences arising from retranslation of these US$
denominated perpetual loans are recognised in equity in the
consolidated financial statements.

We manage our foreign exchange risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rates, and by monitoring the amount
of the US$ loan utilised from the US$250 million revolving credit facility,
which is our only US$ borrowings from third parties.

As at 31 December 2017, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by 1%
against the US$ with all other variables held constant, profit before
income tax for the year would have been RMB902,000 (31 December
2016: RMB3,909,000) lower/higher, respectively, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of US$ denominated
payables held by our entities with their functional currency as RMB.

Cash flow interest rate risk

Our income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of
the changes in market rates. Our floating-rate bank borrowings expose
us to cash flow interest rate risk. A detailed analysis of our bank
borrowings, together with their respective interest rates and maturity
dates are included in Note 15.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

The Group did not hold any significant investments for the year ended
31 December 2017.
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ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group had no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or
associated companies for the year ended 31 December 2017.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2017, the Company had 643 employees, with 68
based in Beijing, 570 based in Shanxi and 5 based in Hong Kong,
respectively. There have been no material changes to the information
disclosed in the Company’s prospectus dated 11 June 2015 (the
“Prospectus”) in respect the remuneration of employees,
remuneration policies and staff development.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Director

Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (“Dr. ZOU") (#} @ 3R 18 %), aged 60, is
the primary founder of the Group, an executive director of the
Company (“Director”) and the chairman of the Board. Dr. ZOU is
primarily responsible for the Group’s overall development and growth
strategies, investor and public relations, board governance and
supervision of key management issues. Dr. ZOU has been the chairman
and chief executive officer of AAG Energy Limited (our then parent
Company, the “Parent Company”) since February 2008 and October
2013, respectively. He has been a director, the chief executive officer
and chairman of the board of directors of AAGI since July 2004, August
2006 and October 2013, respectively. He was the president of AAGI
from July 2005 to October 2013. He has been a director and the
president of SAEI since June 2007.

Dr. ZOU has over 32 years of experience in energy resources fields in
the U.S. and the PRC, mainly in coal, CBM and petroleum exploration
and development. He is considered one of the pioneers of China’s
CBM industry. From 1999 to 2006, he was a director, executive vice
president, president and chief China representative of Asian American
Coal, Inc. ("AACI") and was responsible for development and
implementation of AACI's short-term and long-term work plans,
management of its daily operations and business development,
including project acquisition, assessment and approvals, contract
negotiation and approvals, and partner relations. During this period,
he identified and developed two coal mining projects, the Daning coal
mine and the Gaohe coal mine, and two CBM projects.
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Dr. ZOU was the general manager of CBM projects of Phillips China
Inc. (FE 1A T BI B BR A 7)) from 1996 to 1997. He was responsible
for the project coordination between Phillips China Inc. and its
partners, overall management of the projects, negotiation of the
production sharing contract and coordination of the support processes
from Phillips China Inc. From 1994 to 1996, Dr. ZOU was the vice
president of CBM Energy Associates, L.C. and was responsible for its
in-country management, partner relations and business development,
including identification, contract negotiation and development of two
CBM concessions, which led to the establishment of Shanxi Hedong
CBM Company, Ltd., a joint venture established by CBM Energy
Associates, L.C., Shanxi Energy Enterprise (Group) Corporation and
four other local companies in Shanxi Province, and Fuxin Sino-
American CBM Co. Ltd., a joint venture established by CBM Energy
Associates, Inc. and Fuxin Energy Development Corporation, as the
operators of the CBM concessions. From 1994 to 1997, Dr. ZOU was
the vice chairman and general manager for both Shanxi Hedong CBM
Company, Ltd. and Fuxin Sino-American CBM Co., Ltd. and managed
their daily operations, CBM explorations (drillings and reservoir
evaluation), CBM sales contracts’ negotiations and partner relations.
From 1989 to 1993, while pursuing his doctorate degree at the
department of geology and geography of West Virginia University, Dr.
ZOU was a teaching assistant as well as a research assistant on a
project sponsored by the U.S. Department of Energy entitled
"Measuring and Predicting Reservoir Heterogeneity in Complex
Deposystems”. Prior to that, he worked as an engineer at the branch of
geology & exploration, China Central Coal Research Institute (9 Bl £
R BRI E B R D FT) from 1985 to 1989 and worked at Shanxi
No. 2 Coal Geological Exploration Co. (1L 758 H 2 &£k — FX) from
1975 to 1978. Dr. ZOU obtained a bachelor of engineering degree in
coal geology and exploration from Shanxi Mining College (LI FafE 2
FT) in May 1982 and obtained a master degree from China Central
Coal Research Institute (4 B ik BLEH FEpT) in December 1985. Dr.
ZOU earned his doctor of philosophy degree in geology from West
Virginia University in December 1993.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Peter Randall Kagan, aged 49, is a non-executive Director. Mr.
Kagan is primarily responsible for advising on industrial, geological and
financial matters, Mr. Kagan was appointed to the Parent Company's
board of directors in April 2011. He has also been one of the directors
of AAGI and SAEI since April 2011.

Mr. Kagan has over 20 years of experience with energy companies and
investments and broad knowledge of the oil and gas industry. He is a
partner of Warburg Pincus & Co., and a member and managing
director of Warburg Pincus LLC, where he has been employed since
1997 and became a managing director in 2002. Mr. Kagan is also a
member of Warburg Pincus LLC’s executive management group. Prior
to joining Warburg Pincus LLC, he worked in investment banking at
Salomon Brothers in both New York and Hong Kong from 1990 to
1993. Currently, Mr. Kagan acts as a director for a number of listed
companies. He is an independent non-executive director of MEG
Energy Corp. (TSX: MEG), Antero Resources Midstream Management
LLC, Targa Resources Corp. (NYSE: TRGP) and Laredo Petroleum
Holdings, Inc. (NYSE: LPI), respectively.

Mr. Kagan served as a director of Targa Resources GP LLC, the general
partner of Targa Resources Partners LP (NYSE: NGLS), from February
2007 to February 2013 and of Targa Resources, Inc. (Nasdag: TRGP)
from February 2004 to December 2010, respectively. In addition, he
was a director of Broad Oak Energy, Inc. from May 2006 to July 2011.

Mr. Kagan received his bachelor of arts degree cum laude from
Harvard College in June 1990. He also obtained both juris doctor and
master of business administration degrees with honors from the
University of Chicago in June 1997.
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Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw (8 = #X), aged 53, is a non-executive
Director. Mr. Shaw is primarily responsible for advising on accounting,
internal control and financial matters. Mr. Shaw was appointed to the
Parent Company's board of directors in February 2008. He is also one
of the authorized representatives of the Company and has been one of
the directors of AAGI and SAEI since February 2008 and March 2010,
respectively.

Mr. Shaw has over 22 years of private equity experience with a broad
variety of experience in the finance industry across Asia. Mr. Shaw is a
managing director of Baring Private Equity Asia Limited. Prior to joining
Baring Private Equity Asia Limited in January 1999, Mr. Shaw was a
director at Hong Kong-based AIG Investment Corporation (Asia) Ltd.,
which he joined in September 1993.

Mr. Shaw received his bachelor of science degree in electrical
engineering from Massachusetts Institute of Technology in June 1986
and his master of business administration degree from Columbia
University in October 1992. Mr. Shaw is a Fellow, Life Management
Institute (FLMI).

Mr. Zhen Wei (#138), aged 46, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Wei is
primarily responsible for advising on financial related matters. Mr. Wei
was appointed to the Parent Company’s board of directors in March
2010. He has been one of the directors of AAGI and SAEI since March
2010.

Mr. Wei joined Warburg Pincus Asia LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Warburg Pincus LLC, in 2002 and is currently a managing director
leading investments in the consumer and retail, energy and natural
resources and industrial sectors. Before that, he worked as a financial
analyst at the investment banking division of Morgan Stanley Asia
from1997 to 1999 and a business analyst at McKinsey & Company from
1995 to 1997.

Mr. Wei obtained his bachelor of science degree from University of

Texas at Austin in May 1995. He received his Master of Business
Administration degree from Harvard Business School in June 2002.
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Mr. Lei Jin (£%), aged 40, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Jin is primarily
responsible for advising on business development matters. Mr. Jin was
appointed to the Parent Company’s board of directors in June 2013. He
has also been a director of AAGI and a director of SAEI both since June
2013.

Mr. Jin has more than 13 years of experience in private equity funds,
principal investment, investment banking and corporate finance. Mr.
Jin has been a managing director and a member of investment review
committee of Chinastone Capital Management Limited since January
2011. Mr. Jin was an assistant to the chairman of a Hong Kong based
investment company from June 2008 to December 2010 and served as
board secretary to Shantou Dongfeng Printing Co., Ltd. (SHA:601515)
from June 2008 to December 2010. He was a vice president of ABN
AMRO from February 2007 to May 2008, an executive director of
Cathay Fortune Corp. from September 2006 to January 2007, an
international business director of a PRC conglomerate from February
2002 to August 2006 and a vice president of a securities company from
February 2002 to August 2006.

Mr. Jin obtained his bachelor degree in economics from Shanghai Jiao
Tong University in July 1999 and his master of philosophy degree in
economics with merits from University of Cambridge in May 2002.

Dr. Guiyong Cui (B B 18 T), aged 55, is a non-executive Director.
Dr. Cui is primarily responsible for advising on investor relations. Dr.
Cui was appointed to the Parent Company’s board of directors in May
2014. He was one of the directors of AAGI from July 2004 to June 2006
and has resumed such role since July 2014. He has also been one of
the directors of SAEI since July 2014.

SRAE A FRTES -2 LETEE
EMEBERBEETREER - X EMN2013
FOARZEASRARESENE  B2013F
GABR—EEALREAEEBEREEPERR
RIEE -

SHRAENERERES  HERIRE - RE8R1T
MEC¥MEEREEBRBIFHNELES -
SREAEB20MF 1 AR—EETESARERE
EENRNESHCELRKREEERESK
B o &% ER20084F 6 4 E 2010412 A HifE
AEBREAREFIIE - AN 2008FE6 AFE
20104F 12 B HAR & (L)L 58 38 & BNl pL 19 8 PR
NA(ERF:601515) EEEME- R
20072 H ZE20084F5H8 Hi B 4 {EABN
AMRO Bl #8%; - 720069 A % 2007 F 1 A HA
METEEEERITES - N2002F28%
2006 4F 8 AHIRIETE — R AR AR ¥/ B R
ERHES - IR 20024 2 A & 2006 4F 8 A B
EIBEARBIRE -

SRENI1999F 7 AES LB BAEBEES
B+ 2Ry A20024E5 A LAMEE K SIS EIE
KER Qe B4R EARE + BT o

BEHEBEL S5m0 FRTES - EBLER
BENKREEBEREMERE - EBLIRN2014
FSARZEXRRBRRESTGKE ° 102004
F7HAE2006F6 AHRZEEEEIAERER
% YBH2014F7 AREHEEZRAL - 8
201457 ARt EEETRRARESE -

DEREREBRERRR/ —E—LFFRH 37




Directors and Senior Management

EEREREER

Dr. Cui has over 22 years of experience in investment in the energy and
resources sectors. He is a managing director of Baring Private Equity
Asia Limited and is primarily responsible for the firm’s investments in
greater China. Prior to joining Baring, he worked as a managing
director at HOPU Investment Management Co. Ltd. from May 2008 to
September 2009 and became a partner since October 2009. He worked
at Morgan Stanley Asia Limited from April 2007 to April 2008 and acted
as a managing director of investment banking. From March 2004 to
April 2007, he was employed by HSBC Group and held the position of
managing director of Global Investment Banking Asia Pacific —
Resources and Energy at HSBC Markets (Asia) Limited. From June 2002
to August 2003, he served as head of the investment banking division
at ICEA Capital Limited. Dr. Cui was employed by N M Rothschild &
Sons and assumed various positions from September 1994 to June
2002 including the position of managing director, investment banking
and the chief representative China in N M Rothschild & Sons’ Beijing
Office. Dr. Cui is currently a non-executive director of China Shengmu
Organic Milk Limited (HKSE:1432) since March 2014. He also served as
a non-executive director of Winsway Enterprises Holdings Limited
(HKSE: 1733) from June 2010 to January 2012.

Dr. Cui obtained his bachelor of engineering degree and master of
engineering degree from the University of Science and Technology of
Beijing (3L REHE K | previously known as Beijing Steel College (db
FIEERT) in April 1982 and June 1987, respectively, and his doctor
of philosophy degree from the University of Oxford in the United
Kingdom in May 1995.

Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal, aged 37, is a non-executive Director.
Mr Agarwal is responsible for advising on human resources and
business development matters. Mr. Agarwal is a Managing Director at
Warburg Pincus. He joined Warburg Pincus in 2009 and has over 9
years of investment experience in the energy sector. He is currently
based in Singapore, where he relocated from New York in 2017 to
focuses on firm’s investments activities in Southeast Asia.

Prior to joining Warburg Pincus, Mr. Agarwal worked at McKinsey &
Company in New Jersey and New Delhi, and Temasek Holdings in
Mumbai.
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Mr. Agarwal is currently a director of Mosaic, Inc., and CleanMax Enviro
Solutions and previously served on the boards of several companies,
including CPV Inc., Delonex Energy, RimRock, RSEG Inc., Trident
Energy Velvet Energy and Venari Resources.

Mr. Agarwal received a degree of bachelor of technology in electrical
engineering and a degree of master of technology in microelectronics
from the Indian Institute of Technology Bombay in August 2004. He
also received a master of business administration degree from the
Harvard Business School in June 2009.

Mr. Fei Nie (F§ 7®), aged 37, is a non-executive Director. Mr Nie is
responsible for strategic development and investor relations. Mr Nie is
a Senior Executive at China Mingsheng Investment Group ("CMIG").
He joined CMIG as a key member of founding team in 2014 and has
over 9 years of investment experience in the energy sector. He is
currently based in Beijing and holds several senior management
positions within CMIG Group including Executive Director of CMH
Investment (FF R ZE B & & A R 2 7)), Director and Executive Vice-
President of China Minsheng (Guangxi) Investment (F R 3% (&P )% &
BPFRAF]), and Chairman of the Board at CM&U (Guangxi) (F RE8E(E
) EABRAF]). Mr. Nie also served as a board member of Shaanxi
Sijichun Clean Energy Co., Ltd (FRFEAOZEFFREIRE R A A) since
2015. Besides, his former positions with CMIG Group also include Vice-
President of CMIG New Energy (F R ge i & &£ E B R A 7)), and
Chairman of the Board of CMIG Gas (f R MM R IKRE B R A 7).
Prior to joining CMIG, Mr. Nie worked for Mingsheng Financial Leasing
Co., Ltd (R A& ¢ gt 1 & B R 2 &) where he looked after the energy
equipment leasing business. Earlier to that, he worked for Citi Bank
China (FEERTT (P B) B BR A F)), where he was a Senior Manager in
the Global Corporate Banking Division.

Mr. Nie received a Bachelor of Science degree in International
Economics and Trade from Beijing Technology and Business University
in 2004 and a Master of Science degree in Economics Finance and
Management from Bristol University in 2006.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yaowen Wu (R¥BX), aged 74, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Wu is primarily responsible for independently overseeing
the management. Mr. Wu joined the Group in June 2015.

Mr. Wu has served as chairman of the board of China Coal Energy
Group Ltd (P Bl EE R £ B AR A A]) since October 2008. Mr. Wu
served as an external director of Baosteel Group Co. Ltd (Zif|&EH
R 2 @) from October 2005 to March 2013. Mr. Wu served as deputy
general manager in charge of the overseas business of China National
Petroleum Corporation (F B 75 i1 X %A &, % & 2 7)) from December
1996 to December 2003. Mr. Wu served as one of the board members
and vice chairman in Petro China Company Limited (H B # KA FAR
B AT from May 1999 to July 2004. Mr. Wu also served as chief
petroleum engineer of the National Energy Ministry of the PRC (EIZ &
JRED) from July 1988 to May 1993. Prior to that, Mr. Wu was a general
manager of Qinghai Petroleum Administration Bureau (5,8 A # & 12
/&) from September 1986 to July 1988. He was a deputy general
manager of China Offshore Oil Donghai Corporation from July 1983 to
October 1986.

Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor of science degree in drilling engineering from
the China University of Petroleum (R BI/G M AZR , formerly known as 3£
AMEEBT) in August 1968. Mr. Wu is a senior engineer in professor grade.

Mr. Robert Ralph Parks, aged 74, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Parks is primarily responsible for independently
overseeing the management. Mr. Parks joined the Group in June 2015.

Mr. Parks was appointed as the chairman of Oaktree Capital (Hong
Kong) Limited (“Oaktree”), covering the Asia Pacific region from
February 2007 until March 2012. He is a member of the board of
trustees of Rice University in Houston, Texas in the United States and
serves as chairman of the board of Rice Management Company, which
oversees the university’s endowment. He was appointed as an adviser
to the investment committee of the Carnegie Corporate, a charitable
foundation, in New York City. He is also an independent non-executive
director of Ambow Education in Beijing, PRC. He recently completed
his last term as an independent non-executive director of The Siam
Commercial Bank Public Company Limited (SET: SCB) in Bangkok,
Thailand.
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Mr. Parks has over 41 years of experience in investment banking and
has held senior management positions in Asia Pacific, Europe and the
United States. Prior to joining Oaktree, he was chairman and chief
executive officer in JP Morgan Asia Pacific from early 2001 to
November 2006. Prior to that, Mr. Parks joined the Beacon Group in
1997 and was a partner from 1998 to 2000. Mr. Parks joined Goldman
Sachs & Co. in the beginning of 1981 and became a partner in 1986
and was a limited partner for two years until 1996. Mr. Parks started his
investment banking career with Merrill Lynch in 1970. In 1995, Mr. Parks
founded Pear Tree Point School in Darien, Connecticut, USA, an
independent elementary day school, of which he remains the sole
proprietor to the present time.

Mr. Parks obtained his bachelor of arts degree from Rice University in
June 1966 and his master of business administration degree from
Columbia University in June 1970.

Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law (#& £ E), aged 55, is an independent
non- executive Director. Mr. Law is primarily responsible for
independently overseeing the management. Mr. Law joined the Group
in July 2016. Through his past and current experience, Mr. Law's
professional qualifications and related financial management
experience (as mentioned below) have met the requirements under
Rule 3.10(2) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Law was serving as the finance director
and a member of the executive directorate of MTR Corporation
Limited (HKSE:66) (“MTR"). Prior to MTR, Mr. Law was the chief
financial officer at Guoco Group Limited (HKSE:53) (“Guoco”). Prior to
Guoco, Mr. Law was a managing director at TPG, one of the largest
global private equity funds. Prior to TPG, Mr. Law also worked in direct
investment at Morningside. Mr. Law is a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Mr.
Law is also a council member of HKICPA, and a vice-president of the
Hong Kong Business Accountants Association, and an adjunct
professor of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. In addition, Mr. Law
was appointed by Ministry of Finance of the PRC (the “MOF") as an
expert consultant to advise the MOF on finance and management
accounting.

Mr. Law holds a bachelor degree in science (civil engineering) from the
University of Birmingham, the United Kingdom and also received a
master degree in business administration from the University of Hull,
the United Kingdom.
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Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett, aged 57, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Barrett is primarily responsible for independently
overseeing the management. Mr. Barrett joined the Group in June
2015.

Mr. Barrett has over 32 years of experience in the energy and resources
industry. Mr. Barrett currently serves as a non-executive director for
Tamboran Resources, a private independent exploration and
production oil and gas company headquartered in Sydney, Australia
since September 2014. Mr. Barrett also currently serves as chairman of
the Compensation Committee for Tamboran. From 2014 to 2015, Mr.
Barrett served on an advisory panel and steering committee for Santos
Ltd. (ASX: STO), a leading oil and gas producer headquartered in
Adelaide, Australia, providing technical and strategic advice on their
unconventional programs in Australia. Mr. Barrett served various
positions in the Bill Barrett Corporation from 2002 to 2013, which was
co-founded by him in January 2002, and he retired in January 2013. He
served as president and executive director from January 2002 to July
2006, chief executive officer and chairman of the board from March
2006 to January 2013 and also served as chief operating officer from
June 2005 to February 2006 and also served as president from July
2010 to January 2013, respectively. Prior to that, Mr. Barrett was a
senior geologist for Barrett Resources in the U.S. Rocky Mountain
Region from 1997 to 2001, and a geologist from 1989 to 19946. Mr.
Barrett was a partner in the Terred Oil Company from 1987 to 1989, a
private oil and gas partnership providing geologic services for the U.S.
Rocky Mountain Region. Mr. Barrett worked as a project and wellsite
geologist intern-in-training for various periods for Barrett Resources
from 1983 to 1986, and held similar training internship roles for various
periods for Barrett Energy and Aeon Energy from 1981 to 1983.

Mr. Barrett obtained his bachelor of science and master of science
degrees in geology from Ft. Lewis College, Durango, Colorado, USA
and Kansas State University, Manhattan Kansas, USA in April 1984 and
March 1989, respectively. Mr. Barrett graduated from the Harvard
Business School Advanced Management Program in May 2005.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jing Li (Z=3X), aged 48, is the chief executive officer and the president
of the Company. Mr. Li was the co-chief executive officer and the
president of the Company from October 2013 to October 2016. He has
been the president of the Parent Company since October 2013. He was
the senior vice president and the vice president of business
development of the Parent Company from March 2011 to October
2013 and from February 2008 to March 2011, respectively. He was the
vice president of business development of AAGI from February 2008 to
October 2013 and has been the president of AAGI since October 2013,
He is primarily responsible for the Group's overall development and
growth strategies, operations, the technical group, health and safety
matters, as well as government and partner relations, sales and
marketing, human resource managements and public relationships.

Mr. Li has over 18 years of experience in business development, project
management and marketing and sales management in CBM and coal
exploration and development business. Before joining the Group, from
December 1999 to June 2008, he held various positions with AACI
including deputy president of business development, business
development director, project manager and marketing manager.

Mr. Li worked as a sales manager in Beijing Micromatic Machinery Co.,
Ltd. (3t B & B H 2 W A R 2 &) from June 1995 to May 1997
and a mechanical engineer in Capital Steel Corporation (& &b % 5= &)
from July 1992 to May 1995.

Mr. Li obtained his bachelor degree in engineering from Shanghai Jiao
Tong University (/8 33BARE) in July 1992 and his bachelor degree in
economics from Peking University (3t 70 K £8) in August 1998. He
received his master of business administration degree from China
Europe International Business School (FF Bt B BX T 7 £ F%) in April
2000.
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Mr. Allen Mak (Z ¥ f&), aged 56, is the Company’s chief financial
officer. Mr. Mak has been the chief financial officer of the Parent
Company since August 2014. He is primarily responsible for financing,
financial reporting, budget planning, internal control, project
evaluation and financial management operations of the Group.

Mr. Mak has over 33 years of experience in finance and accounting. He
was previously an executive director, joint company secretary and chief
financial officer of MIE Holdings Corporation (HKSE: 1555), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Mak worked at MIE Holdings
Corporation from 2008 until he joined the Group. He was also
previously the chief financial officer of CITIC 21CN Company Limited
(HKSE: 0241), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, for over three
years.

Prior to his career as a chief financial officer, Mr. Mak was an investment
banker and had over eleven years of experience in investment banking.
He was an assistant director at Peregrine, executive director at Citicorp
and the managing director and head of the investment banking group
of a securities firm based in Hong Kong. Mr. Mak also worked in the
private equity business for over three years as an investment director at
CVC Asia Capital and Citicorp. Prior to Mr. Mak’s career in investment
banking and private equity, he worked for seven years in the
accounting profession at Price Waterhouse (subsequently renamed as
PricewaterhouseCoopers) in Hong Kong, and KPMG and Deloitte in
Canada.

Mr. Mak obtained his bachelor degree in commerce and business
administration from the University of British Columbia in Canada in
May 1984. He is a chartered accountant certified by the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Mr. ShuXing Dong (E#& £ ), aged 48, is the chief operating officer of
the Company. Mr. Dong was the vice president of technology from
June 2016 to August 2017. He is primarily responsible for company
operations, technology and HSE matters.

Mr. Dong has over 25 years of diversified experiences in the oil and gas
industry, including conventional oil/gas reservoir, heavy oil and un-
conventional gas (CBM). From 2002 to May 2016, he held various
positions with ConocoPhillips, an independent E&P company,
including reservoir engineer, senior reservoir engineer, reservoir
engineering supervisor and chief reservoir engineer. From 1997 to
2002, he was a reserve/completion engineer in Phillips China Inc.. From
1992 to 1997, he held positions of assistant engineer and engineer in
China Coal Research Institute Xi'an Branch.
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Mr. Dong received his bachelor degree in Production Engineering
from Xi'an Petroleum University in China in 1992 and his MBA degree
from Vlerick Leuven Gent Management School in 2012.

Ms. Yang Lin (#£15), aged 44, is the Company's chief legal officer. She
has been the chief legal officer since October 2013 and the chief legal
officer of AAGI since October 2013, respectively. She is also the
corporate secretary of AAGI. Ms. Lin was appointed as the Company's
joint company secretary in March 2015. She is primarily responsible for
the Group's general legal matters and corporate compliance.

Ms. Lin has over 21 years of experience in providing legal advice, in
particular 10 years of experience in providing legal advice on CBM-
specific matters. Ms. Lin served numerous positions in the Group since
she joined the Group in February 2006. She was the vice president and
general counsel of the Parent Company from February 2008 to October
2013. She was the vice president and general counsel and corporate
secretary of AAGI from February 2008 to October 2013 and was the
general counsel of AAGI from August 2006 to February 2008. She was
the vice president of legal and general counsel of AACI from February
2006 to June 2008.

Before joining the Group, Ms. Lin worked as an associate with Baker &
Daniels LLP from February 2004 to February 2006 and as the legal
counsel of China Minmetals Corporation (1 B 7 & & B 2 7)) from
August 1995 to August 2002.

Ms. Lin obtained her bachelor of law degree from University of
International Business and Economics (¥} 4h &8 % & 5 K £) in June
1995 and her master of laws degree from New York University School
of Law in May 2003. She was admitted to the New York State and the
PRC bars in November 2004 and October 1996, respectively.

Mr. Jeffrey Lobao, aged 59, has been the Company’s vice president
of business development — Southeast Asia since March 2016. He is
primarily responsible for seeking, coordinating and executing potential
merger, acquisition or other new business opportunity of the
Company.
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Before joining the Group, he was the chief executive officer and the
managing partner of Matrix Capacity Petroleum from 2013 to 2015,
responsible for E&P area. In 2012, he served as an independent energy
advisor for several oil and gas companies in Southeast Asia, providing
E&P consulting services. He served as new ventures manager from
2006 to 2008 and managing director from 2008 to 2012 in Lundin
Petroleum, a Swedish independent oil and gas exploration and
production company. From 1985 to 2006, he held various positions in
Royal Dutch Shell Petroleum, an energy and petrochemical company,
including senior seismic interpreter/geologist, principal seismic
interpreter/geologist, and business opportunity coordinator in Asia
Pacific, exploration manager and manager of exploration and new
business in Asia Pacific region.

Mr. Lobao received his bachelor degree in Geology from Northeastern
University in Boston and his Master degree in Geology from Louisiana
State University in the United States.

Mr. Lijun Pan (& #|
commercial since November 2016. He is in charge of exploration,

), aged 45, has been the vice president of

business development (China), marketing & sales, procurement,
project support, mineral rights management, and contract
management. Mr. Pan has over 9 years of experience in new project
development, project management, exploration operation and reserve
certification and pilot development before commercial production in
the CBM business. Mr. Pan served several positions since he joined our
Group in August 2008. Mr. Pan was exploration director and general
manager for Inner Mongolia projects from February 2012 to September
2016. He was project manager of Mabi project during November 2011
to February 2012 and then promoted for general manager of Mabi
project during January 2010 to February 2012. He was a new business
development manager from August 2008 to January 2010.

Before joining our Group, Mr. Pan was a senior manager in Beijing
Mainstream Technology Co., Ltd. from March 2008 to August 2008 and
the senior project development manager in LK Group of HK Company
from March 2005 to March 2008. Mr. Pan worked as an engineer and
department head in Yanshan Petro-chemical Company of Sinopec from
June 1996 to September 2003.

Mr. Pan obtained his bachelor’'s degree in Polymer Manufacturing and
Machinery from Sichuan University (formerly known as “Chengdu
Science & Technology University”) in June 1996 and his international
MBA degree from a joint MBA program supported by Tsinghua
University, School of Economics & Management and MIT Sloan School
of Management in June 2005.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERGREERE

Mr. Bing Wang (E k), aged 48, is the Company’s vice president of
government liaison. Mr. Wang has been the vice president of
government liaison of the Parent Company since November 2013. Mr.
Wang served numerous positions in the Group since he joined the
Group in June 2005. He is primarily responsible for government
relations and project approvals and support.

Mr. Wang has over 13 years of experience in project management,
sales and marketing in the CBM business. Mr. Wang served as a
director of operation from February 2012 to November 2013 and as a
general manager of Panzhuang Project from October 2008 to February
2012. He was one of the Company’s core team members to conduct
exploration and pilot operation tests for the Panzhuang Project. He
was a business development manager of AAGI from January 2007 to
September 2008 and a sales manager of AAGI from June 2005 to
December 2006.

Before joining the Group, he was a vice general manager in Shanxi
Kotel Micro Technique Co., Ltd. (Ll 78 &} Z& ik #% 1i7 & BR 2 &) from
September 2001 to May 2005 and the marketing manager in the
Beijing branch of American ATMEL Company from July 1997 to
September 2001. Mr. Wang worked as a regional manager in Shanghai
Jiahua United Company Limited (/8% {t 2 ]) from December 1995
to July 1997 and a branch manager in the Beijing branch of American
NCH Company from December 1993 to December 1995.

Mr. Wang obtained his bachelor’'s degree in metallic material
engineering from Northeast Heavy Machinery Institute (31t Z 7 47
2 Bt) in September 1992 and his master's degree in business
administration from the Open University of Hong Kong in December
2000.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERGREERE

Mr. Huibing Ma (F18£L), aged 54, is the Company’s vice president of
project support and local Liaison. Mr. Ma joined company since March
2017. He is primarily responsible for managing preparing drilling pad
and temporary engineering road for CBM drilling operation and
managing relationship with local communities and township to county
level government.

Mr. Ma has over 20 years of experience in company management,
especially in purchasing, sales, engineering and project management.
He has worked in Jincheng area which is AAG’s main operation area
for over 13 years.

Mr. Ma served as sales general manager for mining product in Westrac
China, (CAT's dealer in North East China), from January 2015-March
2017; He served as deputy general manager in Industrea Wadam
Machinery Equipment & Technology Service Company from March
2012 to December 2014. (Industrea Group was acquired and merged
into GE Mining from November 2012); He joined Asian American Coal
Inc. from December 2000, and served in one of AACI's subsidiary
company, Shanxi Asian American Daning Energy Company Ltd., as
purchasing manager (from 2011 to December 2006) and as assistant to
general manager managing purchasing, sales, internal control, surface
construction department, as well as managing Yangcheng Asian
American Daning Railway Spur Operation Company Ltd., (from January
2007 to January 2012).

Before joining the AACI, Mr. Ma served in Zhuhai Huafeng Food
Industry (Group) Company from November 1993 to January 1999, and
took serial position from Purchasing supervisor, SAP implementation
team leader, to deputy manager of a branch company; Mr. Ma also
served as project managing engineer in Luoyang Research Institute
from August 1984 to November 1993.

Mr. Ma had studied in China Europe International Business School
from May 1999 to October 2000, and obtained his MBA degree from
CEIBS in October 2000; He had his college education in Hunan
University from 1980-1984, he obtained his bachelor degree in Electric
Motor Engineering in 1984.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Company is the leading independent CBM producer in China. The
Company focuses on the development and value optimization of
unconventional gas resources to supply clean energy to the Chinese
economy. Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
of the Group are set out in note 1 and note 30 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities
during the year ended 31 December 2017.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2017 and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development are provided in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” of this annual report. Description of possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing can be found in the section
headed “"Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report. In addition, the
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group can be
found in note 3 to the section headed “Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this annual report. An analysis of the Group's
performance during the year ended 31 December 2017 using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Further,
discussions on the Group's environmental policies, relationships with
its key stakeholders and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group are contained in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Report of the Directors”,
and “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report,
respectively. Discussions and information therein form part of this
report of the Directors.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set
out in the section headed “"Consolidated Financial Statements” of this
annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a dividend of HK$0.0248
per share for the year ended 31 December 2017, subject to the
approval of the shareholders at the annual general meeting to be held
on 8 May 2018. The proposed dividends are expected to be payable
on 20 June 2018 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company as of 16 May 2018.
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Report of the Directors
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'S
INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The total net proceeds from the Listing which involved the issue of
761,400,000 shares of the Company (the “Shares”) amounted to
approximately RMB1,506.9 million received by the Company after
deduction of the underwriting commissions and other estimated
expenses. As of 31 December 2017, RMB273.1 million of the proceeds
had been utilized. The net proceeds were and will continue to be used
in accordance with the proposed applications set out in the section
headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus which
includes the funding of capital expenditure set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Outlook and
Guidance for 2018” of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
REVENUE GENERATING ASSETS

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
revenue generating assets of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2017 are set out in note 6 to the section headed
“Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report,
respectively.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank loans and other borrowings during the year ended 31
December 2017 are set out in note 15 to the section headed
“Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE INCENTIVE
SCHEMES

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
incentive schemes are set out in notes 12 to the section headed
“Consolidated Financial Statements” and of this annual report and the
paragraph headed “Share Incentive Schemes” below, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association (the "Articles”) the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata
basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the year ended 31
December 2017.
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Report of the Directors
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting ("AGM"), the register of members of the Company
(the "Register of Members”) will be closed from 3 May 2018 to 8 May
2018, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of
the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the AGM, all transfer form of shares of the Company,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on 2 May 2018, being the first business day
before the first day of closure of the Register of Members.

The record date for qualifying to receive the proposed dividend is 16
May 2018. In order to determine the right of shareholders entitled to
receive the proposed dividend, which is subject to the approval by
shareholders in the forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the
Company will also be closed from 14 May 2018 to 16 May 2018, both
days inclusive, during which period the registration of transfer of shares
will be suspended. All transfer of shares, accompanied by the relevant
share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration
no later than 4:30 p.m. on 11 May 2018.

RESERVES

Details of reserve movement of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2017 are set out in note 29 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2017, the distributable reserves of the Company
was approximately RMB3,982.9 million.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group made
RMB543,500 charitable contributions.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the sales to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for 77.9% of the total sales for the year
ended 31 December 2017 and sales to the largest customer included
therein amounted to 25.2%.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017, the purchases from the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for 26.1% of the total purchases for the
year ended 31 December 2017 and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to 9.4%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their close associates
or any substantial shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or
customers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2017 and up to the date of this annual report were:
Executive Director Date of Appointment

Dr. Stephen Xiangdong ZOU
(Chairman)

(appointed on 28 January 2015)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Peter Randall KAGAN (appointed on 28 January 2015)
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan SHAW
Mr. Zhen WEI

Mr. Lei JIN

Dr. Guiyong CUI (appointed on 28 January 2015
Dr. Bo BAI (resigned on 28 February 2017)
Mr. Saurabh Narayan AGARWAL (appointed on 24 March 2017)

(appointed on 28 January 2015
(appointed on 28 January 2015

)
)
(appointed on 28 January 2015)
)

Mr. Fei NIE (appointed on 8 December 2017)
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Yaowen WU
Mr. Robert Ralph PARKS

(appointed on 5 June 2015)
(appointed on 5 June 2015)

Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin LAW
Mr. Fredrick J. BARRETT

(appointed on 2 July 2016)
(appointed on 5 June 2015)
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the current Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out in the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
therein, there was no other matter with respect to the appointment of
the Directors that need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders and there was no information relating to the Directors
that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of
the Listing Rules as of the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The executive Director has entered into a services agreement with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date
subject to the relevant provisions of retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting(s) of the Company (the
“AGM(s)") in accordance with the Articles. Each of the non-executive
Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of three years subject to the relevant provisions of retirement by
rotation and re-election at the AGMs of the Company in accordance
with the Articles.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Peter Randall KAGAN, Mr. Zhen
WEI, Mr. Lei JIN, Mr. Yaowen WU and Mr. Fei NIE, will retire at the
forthcoming AGM and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-
election.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts, transactions and
arrangements of significance in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year ended 31 December 2017 or at any time during
the year ended 31 December 2017.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and those of the five
highest paid individuals are set out in note 20 and note 31 to the
section headed “Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual
report. The remunerations of the Directors are determined based on
the market price and contribution made by such Directors to the
Company. There has been no arrangement under which any Director
has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors and as at the
date of this annual report still considers them to be independent.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2017.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provides that each Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her officer or
otherwise in relation thereto. Provided that this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may
attach to any of such directors or officers. In addition, the Company
has maintained appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in
respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which (a) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
have taken, or are deemed to have taken, under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company; or (c)
were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code"”), to be notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange were as follows:

) i
e

R2017F 124318 AR EERETETHR
ABEARLBISEBH AR (TERLES K
B ((BERBERKRD ) EXVE) D -
HEROREFTEER @QREBEESFRAE K
BIEXVEBE 7 8D EL - AME AR A REER
FIEEMAR (BEREESMBEEKGA
BIEREEESRIEERENERTAR) © &
(o) IRIE B H K HAE 16171 58 352 (R AR SN AR
REEECMANEEMAR  (QREEL
TRAME10TE EMBITAZFHETES
R SMIRAESTRI ([ZESFR D) BHMEARRAE R
B FTRRE R PR B AT

Number of Approximate
shares held percentage of
Name Position Capacity (Note 7) shareholding
IESTEnE =]
e ;- 20) 514 (BtzE7) BFREAE D
Stephen Xiangdong ZOU Chairman and Executive Beneficial owner 138,092,761 (L) 4.14% (L)
("DrZOU") (Note 1) Director ERBEA
B ([ (HEED) IRERNITES
Founder of 72,687,829 (L) 2.18% (L)
a discretionary trust
ZREEFTAIRA
Interest of your spouse 4.449,606 (L) 0.13% (L)
B s
Guiyong CUI Non-executive Director Beneficial owner 275,326 (L) 0.01% (L)
ERE FNTES ERfEAA
Fredrick J. BARRETT (Note 2) Independent Non-executive Beneficial owner 927,708 (L) 0.03% (L)
(KF=E2) Director
BIERITES EnEBA
Robert Ralph PARKS (Note 3) Independent Non-executive Beneficial owner 1,165,708 (L) 0.03% (L)
(BI7E3) Director BEnEaA
BUERTES
Yaowen WU (Note 4) Independent Non-executive Beneficial owner 927,708 (L} 0.03% (L)
KB (HIE4) Director BEnEEA
BIIEMITES
Stephen Cheuk Kin LAW Independent Non-executive Beneficial owner 450,000 (L) 0.01% (L)
(Note 5) Director EnEA
B (MizES) BAIEITES
Jing Li (Note 6) Chief Executive Officer and Interest in a controlled 68,664,552 (L) 2.06% (L)
FR(izE6) President corporation
BERNTEREH XL
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Dr. ZOU beneficially owns interests in 138,092,761 Shares. Dr. ZOU is deemed to be
interested in 63,075,458 Shares and 9,612,371 Shares for the purposes of the SFO,
which is beneficially owned by Dr. ZOU's descendants as beneficiaries of The Zou
2011 Family Trust and The Zou 2012 Family Trust, respectively. Each of The Zou 2011
Family Trust and The Zou 2012 Family Trust is a discretionary trust established by Dr.
Z0U as a settlor and its beneficiaries are Dr. ZOU and his family members. Dr. ZOU
is also deemed to be interested in 4,449,606 Shares by his spouse for the purpose of
SFO. 11,942,710 Shares among these interests represent interests in the outstanding
options he held under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (as define below). Dr. ZOU
is also interested in 9,091,290 Shares which represent interests in the outstanding
restricted share units (“RSUs") he held under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme (as defined
below).

Mr. Barrett beneficially owns interests in 927,708 Shares of the Company. 477,708
Shares among these interests represent interests in the outstanding options he held
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as of 31 December 2017. 337,500 Shares
among these interests represent interests in the outstanding RSUs he held under
the Post- IPO RSU Scheme as of 31 December 2017.

Mr. Parks beneficially owns interests in 1,165,708 Shares of the Company. 477,708
Shares among these interests represent the interests in the outstanding options he
held under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as of 31 December 2017. 337,500
Shares among these interests represent the interests in the outstanding RSUs he
held under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme as of 31 December 2017.

Mr. Wu beneficially owns interests in 927,708 Shares of the Company. 477,708
Shares among these interests represent interests in the outstanding options he held
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as of 31 December 2017. 337,500 Shares
among these interests represent interests in the outstanding RSUs he held under
the Post- IPO RSU Scheme as of 31 December 2017.

Mr. Law beneficially owns interests in 450,000 Shares of the Company. 337,500
Shares among these interests represent interests in outstanding RSUs under the
Post-IPO RSU Scheme as of 31 December 2017.

Mr. Li beneficially owns interests in 68,664,552 Shares through China Energy
Holdings Limited, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Li, 42,915,168 Shares among
these interests represent the interests in outstanding options he held under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme as of 31 December 2017, 10,140,271 Shares among these
interests represent the interests in the outstanding RSUs he held under the Post-IPO
RSU Scheme as of 31 December 2017.

The letter “L" denotes long position in such securities.
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BE+ T2 A 138,092,761 B » shE A M EIE
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MRARD R EA e ELESAEBETNTLH A
ER 201 FHRRKETM2012FPRREETH
R AB=HEE - 2011 FRRREETER2012FH
KRGEASEABEL(HEAMERT A) KK
2HET EIBZAAPHLIRERKKE - Hig
TINEAR BTE R B BB R A 894,449,606 IR P HEH 1
TR o BT 11,942,710 B M EE XA
FHEERERES (TER T B T ARITERR
R - BIELTRESF 9,091,208 M5  ELR
DRIBIEE N AR SRR HIRMD BB (&
B30 RATEZBR HIA D B AL ([ ZRRFIRDEAL])
B ©

Barrett 5T 4£ B 25 A AN QA 71927, 708 B B& 1 » B &=
20174128318 - 5 m=Rr477,708 & 1) &
BRAFEEAERER B8 T RITEBRENE
o R EAERE T 337,500 AR D A E IR AR SR
é@ﬂ%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ?*ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ%@%&m
=

Parks 7o 4 B 25 B AR 7]1,165,708 R % 17 - B &
2017912 A31H » Z5#mFR477,708 Ik I 15 A
BRAFEEAERET 8B T RITEBRENE
o XS HERE P M) 337,500 BN Al R AREEE
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RELFREBARF 927,708 LD o H = 2017
F12A318 - ZEERPHI477,708 R0 R E IR
NHREERERETEE T RITEBRENER
ZE TR R 337,500 RN Al X RREER IR
AR5 B Az 5t BITE T ARTTEE IR BIAR D BRI HE A ©

BB A A A F)450,000 B A% 19 o B E=2017
F12A318 - ZEREz P 337,500 810 A E IR
ARABEEZREIRMDECFTEIB T RITEZ RS

Bt B AR RS

F A miAH 2 & ¥ 22 7 China Energy Holdings
Limited B 25 5 68,664,552 [8 i 1n » B Z= 2017 12
A31H  ZEEEP 42,915,168 MH AE XA
FEERBREEE T RITEERENER - B
Z2017F 1231 H » Z5#&mHF#710,140,271 B A%
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company and their respective
associates had or is deemed to have any interests or short positions in
the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executive of
the Company are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or were required to be recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which
will be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2017, the following persons (other than the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) have interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying shares or debentures as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of the SFO:

B EXFTEESESN - R2017F 128318 &
NAEBENEBITHRAEMBMS B ELA
BAREARRSEBBH AR (TEREFSHLED
BIEPIZEXVED) Bk - HEERGD RES
BURAEEIREES MG KROIEXVEET7
k8D EME ARG R R AR ERESAR
(BIEREZRSFLBEGRIEBIEREEEX
BIEARRIZEZRFEITHA B HAE MR
KE)  HIREEHF MEE DI 35215685
BRAAREEELMANESSAE - R
BAZAESFRIZE AN S AN 5] KRB 22 P e i 2 ook

PN
=

FERREADRRD - HEAKRD
REZHHEENERNKXE

R2017F12A318 THALT(ARRES
HEBITHABRIN FEAR RIRIEES & H
EEBIZE 3BT EERLMETSH A 18R
D REFFHEEERSCABWNT ¢

Number of Approximate

shares held percentage of

Name of shareholder Capacity (Note 1) shareholding

FisR B A

e 5147 (BE=E1) BREAE D

Warburg Pincus & Co. (Note 2) (Fif5E2) Interest in a controlled corporation 844,713,882 (L) 25.32% (L)
ZEEEER

Warburg Pincus Partners GP LLC (Note 2) (Ff3£2) Interest in a controlled corporation 844,713,882 (L) 25.32% (L)
XEEBEER

Warburg Pincus Partners, L.P. (Note 2) (Hi#F2) Interest in a controlled corporation 844,713,882 (L) 25.32% (L)
ZEEEER

WPP GP LLC (Note 2) (Fif5£2) Interest in a controlled corporation 844,713,882 (L) 25.32% (L)
XEEBEER

Warburg Pincus X GP L.P. (Note 2) (Ki72) Interest in a controlled corporation 844,713,882 (L) 25.32% (L)
ZEEEER

Warburg Pincus X, L.P. (Note 2) (fi#F2) Interest in a controlled corporation 844,713,882 (L) 25.32% (L)
XEEBEER

Warburg Pincus Private Equity X, L.P. Interest in a controlled corporation 844,713,882 (L) 25.32% (L)

(Note 2) (Fif5E2) SEEEER
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Number of Approximate

shares held percentage of

Name of shareholder Capacity (Note 1) shareholding

iR B E A

BRRAH &1 (BFE1) BEREAEIL

Asia X Investment | LLC (Note 2) (KTzE2) Interest in a controlled corporation 844,713,882 (L) 25.32% (L)
REEBEER

WP China CBM Investment Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 844,713,882 (L) 25.32% (L)

(Note 2) (Hf3£2) EmEAA

Salata Jean Eric (Note 3) (Ffi5£3) Interest in a controlled corporation 688,933,679 (L) 20.65% (L)
SEEE R

Barings Private Equity Asia GP IV Limited Interest in a controlled corporation 688,933,679 (L) 20.65% (L)
(Note 3) (Fffz£3) SEE R

Barings Private Equity Asia GP IV L.P. Interest in a controlled corporation 688,933,679 (L) 20.65% (L)
(Note 3) (FffzE3) SEEE R

The Baring Asia Private Equity Fund IV L.P. Interest in a controlled corporation 688,933,679 (L) 20.65% (L)
(Note 3) (Ff5E3) SEEE R

Baring Private Equity Asia IV Holding (4) Limited ~ Beneficial owner 688,933,679 (L) 20.65% (L)

(Note 3) (Ff5E3) EnEEA

Ping An Group (Note 4) Interest in a controlled corporation 345,906,690 (L) 10.37% (L)
FEE (i) ZEEEER

EEEZPRR (£E) BRAE (Note 5) (Fif3E5)  Interest in a controlled corporation 180,833,000 (L) 5.42% (L)
SEEE RS

BE=FERAR DA (Note 5) (HIES5) Interest in a controlled corporation 180,833,000 (L) 5.42% (L)
SRR

RIBIRELIRIZE BR A B (Note 5) (FiFE5) Beneficial owner 180,833,000 (L) 5.42% (L)

EnlaA
Notes:
m The letter “L" denotes long position in such securities.

(2) WP China CBM Investment Holdings Limited beneficially owns 844,713,882 Shares
(long position) of the Company. Asia X Investment | LLC holds 100% equity interest
in WP China CBM Investment Holdings Limited. Warburg Pincus Private Equity X,
L.P. controls 96.90% equity interest in Asia X Investment | LLC. Warburg Pincus
Private Equity X, L.P. is 100% controlled by Warburg Pincus X, L.P., which in turn is
100% controlled by Warburg Pincus X GP L.P., which in turn is 100% controlled by
WPP GP LLC, which in turn is 100% controlled by Warburg Pincus Partners, L.P.,
which in turn is 100% controlled by Warburg Pincus Partners GP LLC, which in turn is

100% controlled by Warburg Pincus & Co..
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WP China CBM Investment Holdings Limited & 25
B R 1 7844713882 B (0 ( 4F B ) ° Asia X
Investment | LLC¥f WP China CBM Investment
Holdings Limited 2 #BA&## ° Warburg Pincus Private
Equity X, L.P.¥E #l|Asia X Investment | LLC. 96.90%
f& # o Warburg Pincus Private Equity X, L.P. &
Warburg Pincus X, L.P. 242l : Warburg Pincus X,
LP. M Warburg Pincus X GP LP.2& # £ #l:
Warburg Pincus X GP L.P. B8 WPP GP LLC & ##% #l
WPP GP LLC F Warburg Pincus Partners, L.P. 235
%l : Warburg Pincus Partners, L.P. f Warburg
Pincus Partners GP LLC & #&#% il : Warburg Pincus
Partners GP LLCFiWarburg Pincus & Co. &£
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3 Baring Private Equity Asia IV Holding (4) Limited beneficially owns 688,933,679
Shares (long position) of the Company. The Baring Asia Private Equity Fund IV L.P.
holds 99.26% equity interest in Baring Private Equity Asia IV Holding (4) Limited. The
Baring Asia Private Equity Fund IV L.P. is 100% controlled by Baring Private Equity
Asia GP IV L.P., which in turn is 100% controlled by Baring Private Equity Asia GP IV
Limited, which in turn is wholly-owned by Jean Eric Salata.

(4) Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China (“Ping An Group”) ultimately owns
100% of Chinastone Hong Kong Holdings Limited, which is directly interested in
248,046,164 Shares of the Company. Ping An Group also ultimately owns 100% of
the shares in PA Investment Funds SPC, which is directly interested in 97,860,526
Shares of the Company. Therefore, Ping An Group is deemed to be interested in
345,906,690 Shares of the Company.

(5) FIIE R aE R 1% B B R A 7] beneficially owns 180,833,000 Shares (long position) of
the Company and is 100% controlled by & E =& JR B R 2 &), which in tumn is
51% controlled by EE = AR (S E) BRAF] .

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company are not aware of any other person
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had
an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

In order to incentivize the Directors, senior management and other
employees of the Group for their contribution to the Group and to
attract and retain suitable personnel of our Group, the Company
adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme (as defined below).

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the pre-IPO share option scheme of the
Company (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) on 31 March 2015,
which became valid and effective perpetually from the same day and
subject to certain termination events. The exercise price of US$0.151
per Share in respect of options granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme was determined at the sole discretion of the Board.
The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme to any
one person (including exercised and outstanding options) pursuant to
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share compensation
arrangements adopted by the Company shall not exceed 3.0% of the
Shares in issue from time to time.

(3) Baring Private Equity Asia IV Holding (4) Limited &
o5 5 AN 1 5688,933,679 % fZ 1 (47 &) ° Baring
Asia Private Equity Fund IV L.P.#§ 74 Baring Private
Equity Asia IV Holding (4) Limited 99.26% &) % # -
Baring Asia Private Equity Fund IV L.P. B3 Baring
Private Equity Asia GP IV L.P.& # #& fl : Baring
Private Equity Asia GP IV L.P. 3 Baring Private
Equity Asia GP IV Limited 2 #1% | ; Baring Private
Equity Asia GP IV Limited H Jean Eric Salata & #
-

(@) FPHEIZREB(EE)BRGBERAB((FRZEE)D &
KEESEERERERARNEHER  MEE
EEEAANNT 248,046,164 DS FTRER
B4 PA Investment Funds SPC H) 2 2R% (5
1% % & 5 A AN 2 597,860,526 I B 5 25 ©
It R EE R AT AR 7] 345,906,690 B A 15
HHE -

6 RIINBBEFRREERARNEGZEAART
180,833,000 fn (47 R) - A MEE =ZWREERER
RAEEHEE MEEZRGERERAFHEE=
B (B AR A RIS 51% 1 o

Br EXXRT#EEESN - 2017 12A318 » K
RAEEFENEETHABETABEMEAMA
T (RAREBEREBITHABRIN ERIEE
% M ERE GO FE 336 6 AR R el FE L M
MRS SABRR D R B S SA R -

fR R Bt &1
ARBRME R AFIEERBRERT M E X
AHABRERIRIBNDELAE(ERR T
X)) BEESZBAKREES SAEREAER
HibEBHAKREELRR - WRSIFMHE A
SEEERAT

BXAMREABRETSE
RABR2015F3ANEBHEBAERNAMEE
AERETEH(ERAHAREBRE
2)) BRARKEEY  BRESTRIES
TFRIGTEIAR IE - BERER B R AR E R
FHEIE MR ERBENER0.151 ELTE
B HEFE2EBERT - BEEXARE
E R EE IR 8 R A D RIRMA AT H AR D
FNLZHR TEMA LT E R AFREERTER
BN ERE(BREETEMRITENER
W) MATTERF - BBITHBETNES KD
HENEBBIEEBEITRNDA3.0% -
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Other principal terms (including the purpose, the participants, the
consideration for accepting any options among others) of the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme are set out in the section headed ”Statutory and
General Information — Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” in Appendix V
to the Prospectus.

Outstanding Options

For the year ended 31 December 2017, 7,540,993 options have lapsed.
60,000 options have been exercised. As at 31 December 2017, there
were a total of 223,014,280 options outstanding. If all the outstanding
options are exercised, there would be a dilution effect on the share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2017 of approximately
6.68%. Save as disclosed above, no further options have been or would
be granted by the Company after the date on which the Shares were
listed on the Stock Exchange and from which dealing therein
commenced (the “Listing Date"”) pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme.

Movements of the Options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
for the year ended 31 December 2017:

BERBERARBEEABREINEMERK
F(BEEW - 28EF  RITABBEENR
B)SERARERMER DEE R —REM —
—BRRRBERBRESE] —& -

RITEBIRRE
HZE20177F 12 A31 BILFE - 7,540,993 17
B % HE 55 2 > 5 60,000 % B FETT & = 722017
F12 8318 » 5 223,014,280 17 B A% i &
17fE - ERTARITEBRERETE - A2aR
2017 12 A 31 B KRR AN 6 15 70 8 8 28U - iR
EHEL6.68% ° B EXXFIIEEIN AR T
R EMB BRI EREE X AR SAIERE
FHEIE H SO IR B H AL B AR R -

BE2017F12A3NALFE  BERAREE
IR A ST IR T e RB A )

Number Total number
of Shares of Shares  Approximate
represented represented percentage of
Exercise by options Exercised Lapsed Cancelled by options at  issued shares
Name of price  at1January  duringthe  duringthe  during the 31 December of the Vesting Exercise
Share Option Grantees™ Date of Grant (US$) 2017 period © period period 2017  Company® Period® period®
BRER BRER
2017 % 2017 EARRR
1A18 12A318 BB
T L BRE FR&EN  RENELD
BREARAZED RitBH (%7) ROBE RRBIRS  BREANU E# RHHE EpAd BEH e
Directors of
the Company
NG
Dr.Z0OU 31 March 2015 $0.151 11,942,710 - - - 11,942,710 0.36% Please see Please see
note 2 below  note 3 below
ke 015637318 0.151%7T #F2ETX  #2BTX
MizE2 BizE3
Yaowen WU 5June 2015 $0.151 477,708 - - - 477,708 0.01% - -
RIEX 201566758 0.151%7
Robert Ralph PARKS 5 June 2015 $0.15 477,708 - - - 477,708 0.01% - -
201556858 01511
Fredrick J. BARRETT 5 June 2015 $0.151 477,708 - - - 477,708 0.01% - -
01566758 0.151%7
Other employees of the Company
FARAMESR
31 March 2015 and $0.151 217,239,439 60,000 7,540,993 - 209,638 446 6.28% Please see Please see
5June 2015 note 2 below  note 3 below
D15%3A31AK 0151 %7 #F2ETX  #2BTX
201556A58 MizE2 Hi3E3
Total 230,615,273 60,000 7,540,993 - 223,014,280 6.68%
@
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Prior to the Listing, certain of the grantees have transferred their options to
companies wholly-owned by them, in accordance with the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme.

Unvested options granted to the grantees pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme shall vest as follows:

(a) 50% of the Options shall be time-based and shall vest at the rate of (i) one
half (1/2) for each 12-month period commencing from 1 January 2015 if the
relevant date on which the employment relationship between the Company
(the "Employment Date") is on or prior to 1 January 2014; or (ii) one third
(1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from the relevant Employment
Date if such date is after 1 January 2014; and

50% of the Options shall be KPI-linked (the “KPI-linked Options”) and shall
be divided into three equal instalments, with each instalment being linked
with one of the three KPIs (as defined below) and vested at the rate of one (i)
half (1/2) for each 12-month period commencing from 1 January 2015 if the
relevant Employment Date is on or prior to 1 January 2014; or (i) one third
(1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from the relevant Employment
Date if such date is after 1 January 2014 pursuant to the following payout
schedule:

()] 100% of the KPI-linked Options shall vest if 100% of the relevant KPI

Target is met; or

if the relevant KPI Target is not met at 100%, 50% of the KPI-linked
Options shall vest if 80% of the Relevant KPI Target is met and an
additional 2.5% of the KPI-linked Options shall vest for each 1%
further improvement in such KPI Target; provided that if the
performance rate of any KPI Target exceeds 100%, then up to 10% of
the improvement of that KPI Target can be added to the performance
rate of other KPI Target(s) that is not 100% accomplished.

For the purposes of above, “KPIs" refer to (i) EBITDA; (i) Reserves; and (iii) All-in-
unit Cost. “KPI Target” shall mean 95% (in the case of EBITDA and Reserves) or
105% (in the case of All-in-unit Cost) of the estimated number of that relevant KPI
presented in (i) the annual work plan and budget of the relevant year approved by
the Board; or (ii) the revised annual work plan and budget for the relevant year,
which is subsequently presented to and approved by the Board. The treatment for
any unvested KPI-linked Options shall be determined by the Board or the
Committee as delegated by the Board.

Subject to any accelerated termination as set forth in the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, each option shall expire on the date specified under the Pre-IPO Share
Option, provided that in no event, shall the Exercise Period of an Option exceed
five years from the date upon which the relevant option has vested.

Approximate percentage of issued Shares of the Company is calculated by dividing
the options held by the relevant grantees by the issued and outstanding Shares of
the Company as at 31 December 2017.

The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before the date on
which the options were exercised during the Reporting Period was HK$1.22.
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Further details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in note
20 to the section headed “Consolidated Financial Statements” of this
annual report and the Prospectus.

Post-IPO RSU Scheme

The Company adopted the post-IPO restricted share unit scheme of
the Company (the “Post-IPO RSU Scheme”) on 5 June 2015, which
took effect on the Listing Date, a summary of principal terms (such as
the purpose, the participants, among others) of which is set out in the
section headed “Statutory and General Information — Post-IPO RSU
Scheme” in Appendix V to the Prospectus.

On 18 December 2015, the Company offered to grant an aggregate of
41,234,696 restricted share units (“RSUs"”) to certain connected
grantees and non-connected grantees of the Group in accordance with
the Post-IPO RSU Scheme. On 31 January 2016, an aggregate of
19,865,199 RSUs were accepted by the connected grantees and an
aggregate of 21,199,297 RSUs were accepted by the non-connected
grantees, respectively.

On 24 March 2017, the Board of the Company approved the
conditional grant of an aggregate of 26,333,182 RSUs to certain
connected grantees and non-connected grantees of the Group in
accordance with the Post-IPO RSU Scheme, subject to the approval by
the independent shareholders of the Company and the acceptance by
the grantees where applicable. On 9 May 2017, the grant of RSUs to
the connected grantees was approved by the independent
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting. On 31 May 2017, an
aggregate of 26,333,182 RSUs were accepted by the relevant grantees.
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OUTSTANDING RSUs FITHEZIRSI RO EN

For the year ended 31 December 2017, 2,622,115 RSUs have lapsed. EZ2017F 12 A31 BIEFE - 2,622,115

9,880,788 RSUs have vested. As at 31 December 2017, there were a S [R %l J& {5 B i1 5 2% » 9,880,788 19 = PR #l J&

total of 53,984,475 RSUs outstanding. If all outstanding RSUs are ) B E B - N2017F 128310 & &

vested, there would be a dilution effect on the share capital of the 53,984,475 %R #I 8% ) BBAL M AR FTF © BT

Company as at 31 December 2017 of approximately 1.62%. ERTEZRHRDELHEITE - NRAFR
2017 F 12 A3 B R AR FHEEEUE - I
TEEEE 1.62% ©

Number Total number
of Shares of shares Approximate
represented represented percentage of
by RSUs at Granted Vested Lapsed Cancelled by RSUs at issued shares
Name of RSU 1 January during during during during 31 December of the
Grantees Date of Grant Consideration 2017 the period the period the period the period 2017 Company Vesting Period
SRHRG FRHRG
EUR2017% EUR2017%
1818 12A31H ERAE
ERHRBEM i3 ARRH  BRORHY
ARAER RiAH RE RH#HAE AreRY BREEE BABAR BAgHE BAEH BHEAL SES
Directors of the Company
ARFES
Dr.Z0U 22 January 2016 - 6,621,733 - 1,559,419 - - 5,062,614 0.15% 31 March 2016 -
o M651522A 1 April 20200
M6EIANAE
WNE4R1R0
31 May 2017 - - 4,028,976 - - - 4,028976 0.12% 31 March 2017 -
017E5A31H 1 April 20217
NI7F3A3NAE
WIE4R1R
Yaowen WU 31 May 2017 - - 450,000 112,500 - - 337,500 001% 31 May 2017 -
RIEX 01755A31H 1 April 2020
N17E5AINAE
N0F4/189
Robert Ralph PARKS 31 May 2017 - - 450,000 112,500 - - 337,500 001% 31 May 2017~
017458318 1 April 2020 @
M7ESANAE
WNE4R1RE
Fredrick J. BARRETT 31 May 2017 - - 450,000 112,500 - - 337,500 001% 31 May 2017~
017E5A31H 1 April 2020
WITE5A31BE
X0F4/189
Stephen Cheuk Kin 31 May 2017 - - 450,000 112,500 - - 337,500 001% 31 May 2017 -
LAW 01755A318 1 April 2020
BIR N7ESANAE
N0F4/189
Other employees of the Company
KARAMES
18 December 2015 - 33,532,463 - 7,871,369 2,283,656 - 23377438 0.70% 31 March 2016 -
0155127 18A 1 April 20201
WI653A31HE
N0F4/180
31 May 2017 - - 20,504,208 - 338459 - 20,165,747 060 31 March 2017-
01755A31H 1 April 20212
NITEIANAE
WNF4/182
Total
st 40,154,196 26,333,182 9,880,788 2,622,115 - 53,984,475 1.62%
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Note:

64

The RSUs granted to the subjected RSU grantee under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme in
2015 and 2016 shall be vested in accordance with the vesting schedule as follow:

(a) 50% of the RSUs will be time-based and shall vest at the rate of one-fourth
(1/4) for each 12-month period commencing from 31 March 2016; and

(b) 50% of the RSUs shall be KPI-linked RSUs and shall be divided into three
equal instalments, with each instalment being linked with one of the three
KPlIs (as defined below) and vested at the rate of one-fourth (1/4) for each
12-month period commencing from one-fourth (1/4) pursuant to the KPI-
linked RSUs payout schedule.

The RSUs granted to Dr. ZOU and other employees of the Company under the Post-
IPO RSU Scheme in 2017 shall be vested in accordance with the vesting schedule as
follows:

(a) 50% of the RSUs will be time-based and shall vest at the rate of one-fourth
(1/4) for each 12-month period commencing from 31 March 2017; and

(b) 50% of the RSUs shall be KPI-linked RSUs and shall be divided into three
equal instalments, with each instalment being linked with one of the three
KPls and vested at the rate of one-fourth (1/4) for each 12-month period
commencing from 31 March 2017 pursuant to the KPI-linked RSUs payout
schedule.

The RSUs granted to the independent executive directors of the Company under
the Post-IPO RSU Scheme in 2017 shall be vested in accordance with the vesting
schedule as follows:

(a) 25% of the RSUs will be vested immediately after the acceptance of the RSU
Grants by the relevant independent executive directors;

(b) 37.5% of the RSUs will be time-based and shall vest at the rate of one-third
(1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from 31 March 2017; and

() 37.5% of the RSUs shall be KPI-linked RSUs and shall be divided into three
equal instalments, with each instalment being linked with one of the three
KPls and vested at the rate of one-third (1/3) for each 12-month period
commencing from 31 March 2017 pursuant to the KPI-linked RSUs payout
schedule.
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(4) The KPI-linked RSUs payout schedule:

(a) 100% of the KPI-linked RSUs shall vest if 100% of the relevant KPI Target (as
defined below) is met; or

(b) if the relevant KP| Target is not met at 100%, 50% of the KPI-linked RSUs shall
vest if 80% of the relevant KPI Target is met and an additional 2.5% of the
KPI-linked RSUs shall vest for each 1% further improvement in such KPI
Target; provided that if the performance rate of any KPI Target exceeds
100%, then up to 10% of the improvement of that KPI Target can be added
to the performance rate of other KPI Target(s) that is not 100%
accomplished.

For the purposes of the above, KPIs refer to (i) EBITDA; (i) reserves; and (iii) all-in-
unit cost. “KPI Target” shall mean 95% (in the case of EBITDA and reserves) or 105%
(in the case of all-in-unit cost) of the estimated number of that relevant KPI
presented in (i) the annual work plan and budget of the relevant year approved by
the Board; or (ii) the revised annual work plan and budget for the relevant year,
which is subsequently presented to and approved by the Board. The treatment for
any unvested KPI-linked RSUs shall be determined by the Board or the
Remuneration Committee as delegated by the Board.

(5) The closing price of the shares immediately before the date on which the RSUs were
granted on 31 May 2017 was HK$1.29.

Further details of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme are set out in note 20 to the section headed “Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report and the
Prospectus.

Equity-linked Agreements

Other than the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme disclosed above, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above under the paragraph “Share Incentive
Schemes”, no rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares in or debentures of the Company were granted to any Directors
or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company and any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or
their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate for the year ended 31
December 2017.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed below, the Group had not entered into any
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions which are
required to be disclosed in this annual report in compliance with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year
ended 31 December 2017. The Directors confirm that they have
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Grant of RSUs to Connected Persons

To recognize the contribution to the success and development of the
Group by each of the connected grantees and to attract and motivate
the connected grantees to participate in the continuing operation and
long-term development of the Company, on 24 March 2017, the Board
of the Company approved the conditional grant of an aggregate of
10,906,933 RSUs to independent non-executive directors (Mr. Yaowen
WU, Mr. Robert Ralph PARKS, Mr. Fredrick J. BARRETT and Mr.
Stephen Cheuk Kin LAW) , Dr. Stephen Xiangdong ZOU and Mr. Jing
Li in accordance with the Post-IPO RSU Scheme, subject to the
approval by the independent shareholders of the Company and the
acceptance by the grantees where applicable. On 9 May 2017, the
grant of RSUs to the above connected grantees was approved by the
independent shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting. On 31
May 2017, an aggregate of 10,906,933 RSUs were accepted by the
connected grantees.

The above grant of RSUs and the related transactions constitute non-
exempt connected transactions of the Company in accordance with
the Listing Rules. For details, please see the announcement of the
Company dated 24 March 2017, the circular of the Company, 19 April
2017 and note 20 to the section headed “Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions during the year ended 31
December 2017 are set out in note 27 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report.

Save as disclosed above under the paragraph “Connected
Transactions”, the related party transactions as set out in note 27 to
the section head “Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual
report do not fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or
“continuing connected transactions” under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2017.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, the Board confirms that the
Company has maintained the sufficiency of public float as required
under the Listing Rules at all times for the year ended 31 December
2017 and as at the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, none of the Directors or
their respective associates had engaged in or had any interest in any
business which competes or may compete with the business of the
Group.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND
COMPLIANCE MATTERS

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company was not engaged
in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation
or claim of material importance is known to the Directors to be
pending or threatened against the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company obtained all the
material licenses, permits and approvals necessary for the respective
development stages of projects in Panzhuang and Mabi.

For the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this
report, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group complied
with applicable laws, rules and regulations in all material respects.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

On 8 July 2015, SAEI (as borrower) and AAGI (as guarantor) entered
into a senior secured revolving credit facility agreement (the “2015
Facility Agreement”) with certain banks in relation to a
US$250,000,000 69 months term loan facility.

Under the 2015 Facility Agreement, it will constitute an event of
default, among others, if (i) Dr. ZOU holds (whether directly or indirectly
or by way of a trust) less than 25% of the Shares that Dr. ZOU holds
(whether directly or indirectly or by way of a trust) as at 8 July 2015,
representing approximately 1.45% of the issued share capital of the
Company; (ii) at any time, Dr. ZOU ceases to be the chairman of the
Board; or (iii) during the period from 23 June 2015 to 23 June 2016, any
of the Controlling Shareholders disposes of, or enters into any
agreement to dispose of, any shares he/it holds (directly or indirectly)
in the Company in breach of his/its undertakings to the Stock Exchange
in relation to Rule 10.07(1) of the Listing Rules as set out in the
Prospectus. Upon and at any time after the occurrence of an event of
default, the majority of the lenders may, among other actions,
immediately cancel all commitments and declare any or all outstanding
amounts under the 2015 Facility Agreement and the relevant financing
documents together with interest accrued thereon to be immediately
due and payable.

For details of the 2015 Facility Agreement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 9 July 2015.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
2017

There was no subsequent events between the end of reporting period
and the printing date of this annual report that would cause material
impact on the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed "Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.
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REVIEW BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Group and discussed the Group's risk
management, internal controls and financial reporting matters with the
management. The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights in relation to, the Shares, they are advised to consult an expert.

APPRECIATION

The Group would like to express its appreciation to all the staff for their
outstanding contribution towards the Group's development. The
Board wishes to sincerely thank the management for their dedication
and diligence, and they are the key factors for the Group to continue
its success in future. Also, the Group wishes to extend its gratitude for
the continued support from its Shareholders, customers, and business
partners. The Group will continue to deliver sustainable business
development, so as to meet its business objectives for 2018 and realize
higher values for its Shareholders and other stakeholders.

AUDITORS

There have been no changes of auditors in the past three years.
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Stephen Xiangdong ZOU
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
4 April 2018
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2017 (the “"Review Period”)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code (the “"CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance. The
Company has complied with all applicable code provisions under the
CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2017. The Company will
continue to review and monitor its corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group's strategic decisions and monitors business and
performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the senior
management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the
Company'’s affairs, the Board has established four Board committees
including the Audit Committee, the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the new business committee (the
“New Business Committee”) (together, the “Board Committees”).
The Board has delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as
set out in their respective terms of reference.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in

compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders at all times.
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Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised one executive
Director, seven non-executive Directors and four independent non-
executive Directors as follows:

Executive Director
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (Chairman)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw
Mr. Zhen Wei
Mr. Lei Jin
Dr. Guiyong Cui
Dr. Bo Bai (resigned on 28 February 2017)
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal
(appointed on 24 March 2017)
Mr. Fei Nie
(appointed on 8 December 2017)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yaowen Wu

Mr. Robert Ralph Parks

Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law

Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett

The biographies of the current Directors are set out under the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
Saved as disclosed in the Prospectus and this annual report (if any), to
the knowledge of the Directors, the Board members have no financial,
business, family or other material relationship with each other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers each of them to be independent.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve
on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the New Business Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organizations
and other significant commitments as well as their identity and the time
involved to the issuer, Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

ExgdAm
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RBX A

Robert Ralph Parks %t 4
EEER A
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Induction and Continuous Professional Development for
Directors

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company'’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under relevant status, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
provides Directors with regular updates on latest development and
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time. The Directors are also provided with
regular updates on the Company's performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated and
provided written training materials relating to the roles, functions and
duties of a Director.

During the Review Period, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending training courses and/or
referring materials on the topics related to the Group's business,
corporate governance and regulations on the roles, functions and
duties of a director of a listed company:
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Attending
expert briefings/
seminars/
conferences/
on-line courses

relevant to
Reading the business of
regulatory the Group or
Name of Director update  directors’ duties
SmEBRAER
EBREESHE
ZEREHRE
T £ 7
EEnE HESNMEEER BRERE
Executive Director HITES
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou ArRIHELT v 4
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan Peter Randall Kagan 5t 4 4 v
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw Gordon Sun Kan Shaw %t 4 v v
Mr. Zhen Wei REEA v/ 4
Mr. Lei Jin e@AE v/ -
Dr. Guiyong Cui EEBET v/ -
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal Saurabh Narayan Agarwal 5£ 4 v 4
Mr. Fei Nie mAREAE v/ -
Independent non-executive Directors BIAFHTESE
Mr. Yaowen Wu R A v/ v/
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks %t 4 v/ v/
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law EEERALE v v
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett %t £ v v/
Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors ZI EERERES

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal BIRZE(E - ERNERESHNEF LBAEHRN
of directors are set out in the Articles. The Nomination Committee is  #Hf| - IR L ECBEFZESTMMHENK @ I
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, monitoring the ERBEEMNERT - EEREFE -
appointment, re-election and succession planning of Directors.
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Each of the executive Director, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service
agreements or a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years. Such term is subject to his re-election by the Company at
an annual general meeting upon retirement. The Articles provide that
any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the
Board shall hold office until the first general meeting of the Company
after his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at such
meeting. Besides, any Director appointed by the Board as an addition
to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election. In accordance with the Articles, at every annual general
meeting of the Company, one third of the Directors for the time being
or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years and being eligible offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Fei Nie and one-third of the
Directors, being Mr. Peter Randall Kagan, Mr. Zhen Wei, Mr. Lei Jin
and Mr. Yaowen Wu shall retire and being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election at the Company’s forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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General Meetings

During the Review Period, two general meetings were held and the
attendance of the individual Directors at these meetings is set out in
the table below:

BRRAESH
EOESMA  RRASRITTMAGHE  &&
FhFELeRNBRRTE

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EENE BIRHE AHERE
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (Chairman) BrRIELT (FE) 2/2
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan Peter Randall Kagan 7t 4 0/2
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw BMEREE 2/2
Mr. Zhen Wei =St 0/2
Mr. Lei Jin TEITE 2/2
Dr. Guiyong Cui EHEBXE 0/2
Dr. Bo Bai (resigned on 28 February 2017) HUR %A (72017 2 A 28 BE (L) 0/0
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal Saurabh Narayan Agarwal 7t 4
(appointed on 24 March 2017) (2017 F3 A 24 AEEE) 0/2
Mr. Fei Nie (appointed on 8 December 2017) B AE (R2017F12 A8 HEERT) 0/0
Mr. Yaowen Wu RENSEHE 0/2
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks 5t 4 2/2
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett 554 2/2
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law mERSEE 2/2

Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding board meetings regularly,
at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals.
Notices of not less than 14 days will be given for all regular board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice will
generally be given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or committee members at least three days
before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When
directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they
will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity
to make their views known to the chairman of the Board prior to the
meeting.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings will be
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board Committee meeting are/will be sent to the Directors for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the
meeting is held.

Exges
ARRAEBREMBRTEFEER(BEFRIM
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During the Review Period, five board meetings were held and the HEBEHA  EFESRTTAREH S
attendance of the individual Directors at these meetings is set out in  HEELEHNBERNETX :
the table below:

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EEnA BEHE W ERE
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (Chairman) BrRFIELT(F/E) 5/5
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan Peter Randall Kagan %4 4/5
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw BT E 4/5
Mr. Zhen Wei MErE 3/5
Mr. Lei Jin @R E 4/5
Dr. Guiyong Cui EREBELYE 4/5
Dr. Bo Bai (resigned on 28 February 2017) BR 5o (722017 F 2 A 28 B & T) 0/0
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal Saurabh Narayan Agarwal 5t 4
(appointed on 24 March 2017) (FR2017 53 A24 B EZF) 5/5
Mr. Fei Nie (appointed on 8 December 2017) R (FR2017 F 12 A8 HEZRT) 171
Mr. Yaowen Wu RIBX T4 5/5
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks 5¢ 4 5/5
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett 524 5/5
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law EERSLA 5/5
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FEREEHTE

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and  RIELEEATAKREA21ERTE £/
chief executive officer should be separate and performed by different EEFEHITEMBBLESFH  WHTRAL
individuals. BT

The chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the ARBEBSEELEFNTE (EEHT
Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”) are currently two separate B )R AREBE B - » BB S ERELE
positions held by Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou as the chairman of the IEFEEXFE HEREEERITEEHRITE
Board and Mr. Jing Li as Chief Executive Officer, with clear distinction 5 T/5MiARHE - EE 2 X F A ERAEBRER
in responsibilities. The chairman of the Board is responsible for ZEREHIBERAIEE  MEFHITERA
providing strategic advice and guidance on the business development E5XEHE&E ©

of the Group, while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the

day-to-day operations of the Group.
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the “"Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiries of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards as set out in the Model
Code for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The Company also established written guidelines on terms no less
exacting than the Model Code (the “"Employees Written Guidelines”)
for securities transactions by relevant employees who are likely to
possess inside information of the Company in respect of their dealings
in the Company'’s securities. No incident of non- compliance of the
Employees Written Guidelines by the relevant employees was noted
by the Company during the Review Period.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant financial and operational matters. Directors could have
recourse to seek independent professional advice in performing their
duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to
consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to
be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of Directors and the corporate governance
duties include:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

BERZHZEESFA
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()  to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on  (¢) BZRIWEEEARRD FIETIRERERIE TN

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; PR RERER

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and (d) #I5] BEERTEREANRAKQRES M
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the FEMNBRTTAEREHEFMGEE) A
Company and Directors; and K

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and (e) BEAARETLEEAETERAMES
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report. SBMERBEEENEN o

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management EERSREEASTMH

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for  AATAHIEAEFBEE R SREIRE A B HEN

formulating policies on remuneration of Directors and senior MEFEY 7 —EFHMABBSHENER o

management of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the & ZEARFEEEHE2017F12 A 31 BHHH BN

Directors for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in note 31  [F&ENANER [ A M EHRE | — &0 FE31 -

to the section headed “Consolidated Financial Statements” of this

annual report.

The senior management’s remuneration for the year ended 31 EHZ2017F12831BIFESHREEAEN
December 2017 is within the following bands: SEMEE T -

Number of
Individuals
AE

2017

2017 5§

Emolument bands

HKD1,500,001-HKD2,000,000
HKD2,000,001-HKD2,500,000
HKD2,500,001-HKD3,000,000
HKD4,000,001-HKD4,500,000
HKD4,500,001-HKD5,000,000
HKD6,000,001-HKDé,500,000

i

1,500,001 /& 7T £ 2,000,000 8 7T
2,000,001 7T % 2,500,000 7T
2,500,001 7 7T % 3,000,000 4 7T
4,000,001 7 7T 2 4,500,000 78 7T
4,500,001 7 7T 2 5,000,000 78 7T
6,000,001 87T 6,500,000 78 7T

HKD®,500,001-HKD 10,000,000
HKD11,500,001-HKD 12,000,000

9,500,001 % 7T % 10,000,000 7 7T
11,500,001 % 7T 2 12,000,000 7 7T

U GO U G G Y

Mzt D EHMeEURO RERNOFIEX -

Note: The above emoluments included share-based compensation expense.

78 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2017




Corporate Governance Report
TEELRE

Directors’ Liability Insurance
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal action against its Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Stephen
Cheuk Kin Law, Mr. Robert Ralph Parks, and Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw,
the majority of who are independent non-executive Directors. The
chairman is Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law, who confirmed that he
possesses appropriate professional qualifications as required under
Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The main duties of the Audit
Committee include the following:

(@)  to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company's staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the auditor before submission to the Board;

(b)  to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standard and discuss with external auditor the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before
the audit commences; and

() to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures, including the
adequacy of the resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programs and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function.

The Audit Committee oversees the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, reports to the Board on any material
issue, and makes recommendations to the Board.

The written terms of reference of Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Review Period, three meetings of the Audit Committee FEEBEEHA - BEREEGRITT=REE &

were held to discuss and consider the following matters: WA EE T AT EIE

e reviewed annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries for o  FHEARQ T REME AT EZE 201612
the period ended 31 December 2016; A 31 AR FEEE

. reviewed interim results of the Company and its subsidiaries for e ERARNRRENBRAREE2017F6
the period ended 30 June 2017; A 30 B EA R P EAZEA

. reviewed the internal audit report of the Company for the period o EMARRHE2016F12A31 B HHE
ended 31 December 2016; and BABEZRE + AR

. reviewed the internal audit report of the Company for the period o EFAQNTEHE2017F6 A30H B
ended 30 June 2017. R EFEALIRE o

During the Review Period, three meetings of the Audit Committee ERIFEAEAN - BREZESRIT T AR &
were held and the attendance record of the Audit Committee BXZZEZEEeKEMEFLEERETEX
members is set out in the table below:

Attended/

Name of Director Eligible to attend

EEnA BERHE W RERE

Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law (Chairman of the BERGH (FRZESFE) 3/3
Audit Committee)

Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw BEFELE 3/3

Mr. Robert Ralph Rarks Robert Ralph Rarks 5& 4 3/3

Pursuant to the code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code, the Audit RIEFEMCEEATAIKERECIIFRTE @ |
Committee should meet with the Company’s auditors at least twice a ZESESFELEARNGZHAMESEMNX °
year. During the Review Period, the Company had met the auditor fEEIEEHAA - ANA B E BEAZZAN S EMIA o

twice.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members,
namely Mr. Robert Ralph Parks, Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett and Mr. Saurabh
Narayan Agarwal, the majority of whom are independent non-
executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the
following:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies;

2. to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the corporate goals and objectives
determined by the Board;

3. either to determine, with delegated responsibility or to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. These
include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

5. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions of
the Group;

6. to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

7.  to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate; and

8. to ensure that no Director or any of his associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

FMEsS

YMZESHER B =4KE  BlRobert
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The written terms of reference of Remuneration Committee are  #HNE E /)= B &S BB AT R AN T

available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. Bub T HER -
During the Review Period, three meetings of the Remuneration ERIFEHAN HFHEESRIT T =ZXEE - A
Committee were held to discuss and consider the following matters: SamilEHEIATEIA

e reviewed the vesting of KPI-linked Pre-IPO options & Post-IPO o  BAZEH EEFEIEHBE X AFREESH
RSUs; BRELREXARMESRIBEIRNGE
IRERE

. reviewed and discussed year-end performance evaluation results, e EZLAwFRRRTEER 4
bonus distribution principles and salary adjustment rules; fig iR 81 N S BN A = AR Al

e reviewed the detailed 2017 Post-IPO RSUs allocation principles; o  EBR17FHRXAHEEEIRIIKMD
BUAENSERA

J reviewed the long term incentive plan; and o EZREEEEE &

e reviewed adequacy of terms of reference for the Remuneration o  BEFHIEE & EMBESERNARILE
Committee.

During the Review Period, three meetings of the Remuneration ZERIEHAN  FMEZESRITT =ZRER &
Committee were held and the attendance record of the Remuneration #FHEZE ek ENHEELEERE T X -
Committee members is set out in the table below:

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EEHSR BRHETTHERE
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks (Chairman of the Robert Ralph Parks %4 3/3
Remuneration Committee) (FiNEE & F/E)
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett t 4 3/3
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal Saurabh Narayan Agarwal 5t 4 2/2
(appointed on 24 March 2017) (R2017F3 A 24 BEZEAE)
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, being Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law and Mr.
Yaowen Wu, and an executive Director, Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou,
who is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the
following:

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company'’s corporate strategy;

2. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer; and

5. toreview the Board diversity policy.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time
and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to
the Board for decision. The written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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During the Review Period, two meetings of the Nomination Committee
were held to discuss and consider the following matters:

° reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board;
. reviewed and considered election of directors, retirement and re-

election of directors;

J reviewed adequacy of the terms of reference for the Nomination
Committee; and

o reviewed the independence of independent non-executive
directors.

The written terms of reference of Nomination Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Review Period, two meetings of the Nomination Committee
were held and the attendance record of the Nomination Committee
members is set out in the table below:
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{23
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RAEZEENEMBARHBEEH XL ANRF

AT &R -

EOBESA - RAZEBEBRTTMASRE &
RAZBEREMEFLEI TR :

Attended/

Name of Director Eligible to attend

EERE BER MR ATHERE
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou BRAREE(IEEEZESFE)

(Chairman of the Nomination Committee) 2/2

Mr. Yaowen Wu RIBX 4 2/2

Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law BARSLA 2/2

New Business Committee

The New Business Committee currently consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, being Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett, Mr. Robert Ralph
Parks and Mr. Yaowen Wu, and a non-executive Director, Mr. Saurabh
Narayan Agarwal. Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett is the Chairman of the New
Business Committee.
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The principal duties of the New Business Committee include the
following:

1. to review, evaluate and provide feedback on the investment
strategies, annual investment plan(s) and the relevant risk
management policy of the Company and make recommendations
to the Board;

2. to review, evaluate and provide feedback on the investment
opportunities of the Company and issue opinion for long-term
development plan (including mergers and acquisition, joint
venture and equity investments) and make recommendations to
the Board;

3. to review, evaluate and provide feedback on significant
investment projects pursued under the Company’s investment
strategy and annual investment plan, review and approve the
issue of non-binding indicative offers or letter of intent, and make
recommendations to the Board;

4, to review and assess, in addition to new opportunities, the
ongoing investment strategy, technical merits and risks
associated with existing development and exploration programs,
including the annual reserve and resource assessments and make
recommendations to the Board;

5. to advise management from time to time on the engagement of
appropriate external financial and technical advisors in
connection with material acquisitions or divestitures, including a
review of the terms of their proposed compensation; and

6. other matters as delegated by the Board.

The written terms of reference of New Business Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Review Period, four meetings of the New Business
Committee were held to discuss and consider the following matters:

o reviewed the latest progress made in respect of Mabi concession
technical development.

o reviewed and discussed the new business development strategy
and opportunities; and

° reviewed and discussed annual reserve and resources
assessment.
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During the Review Period, four meetings of the New Business
Committee were held and the attendance record of the New Business
Committee members is set out in the table below:

EAEEEHHW %ﬁ%ﬁ%éz\a—f— Pl:‘//\:au% i)
BEMEBLZESRENLF LN TK

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EEHE BREE T ERE
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett (Chairman of the Fredrick J. Barrett 2t 4
New Business Committee) (TEBZEEEE) 4/4
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks 5t 4 1/4
Mr. Yaowen Wu RN A 4/4
Dr. Bo Bai (resigned on 28 February 2017) BUR A (72017 2 A 28 B & (L) 0/0
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal Saurabh Narayan Agarwal 5t 4 2/2
(appointed on 24 March 2017) (FR2017F3 A 24 AEEE)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the
approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company and also to enhance the quality of performance of the
Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

All board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 12 Directors. Four of
the Directors are independent non-executive Directors and
independent management, thereby promoting critical review and
control of the management process. The Board is also characterized by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of culture and
education background, professional background and skills.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting in respect
of Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 which give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of
the Group's results and cash flows.

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.1 of the CG Code, the management
has provided to the Board such explanation and information as are
necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of
the Company'’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for
approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with
monthly updates on Company’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in
the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual
report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibility of the Board

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board for
ensuring that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems and reviewing
the effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis. The Board is also
aware of the fact that such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable assurance and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Company adopted the three lines of defence model in the
management of risk. Operational management form the core of the
first line of defence as they contact with the risk sources in the first
place. They are responsible for identifying, reporting and preliminarily
managing risks in their daily operations. Our second line of defence is
the risk management function, comprised of HSE, Legal departments
etc., aiming to facilitate and monitor the implementation of effective
risk management practices by operational management throughout
the Company. Our internal audit function is the core of the third line of
defence and mainly responsible for checking, auditing and monitoring
the work performed by the first and second lines of defence.
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The Company'’s risks are identified from business processes in our
established enterprise-wide risk assessment methodologies. Key
responsible personnel for the management of risk in each of the
business process are selected as interviewees to identify the risks to
form our risk universe. Each risk within the risk universe is assessed in
terms of likelihood of occurrence and the significance of impact, taken
into account the current internal controls in place to mitigate these
risks. The risk assessment results are reported to senior management
and the Board for them to evaluate whether risks have been
appropriately managed and decide on our priorities in risk
management, based on the Company'’s risk appetite, and in particular
how much risks the Company is willing to take for the achievement of
its strategy and business objectives, the availability of resources for risk
mitigation, and the effectiveness of current internal control system.

In this reporting period, five risk areas had been selected by senior
management and confirmed by the Board to form the top of the
Company’s 2017 risk management agenda, aiming to reduce the risk
exposures to an acceptably low level. In order to better facilitate the
managing these risks as well as risks in future periods with good
organisation, coordination and collaborations across all departments
involved, the Company established a risk management working group
with five members, chaired by the Chief Executive Officer. Action plans
for the mitigation of the five risk areas had then been formulated,
approved, and carried out after rounds of discussions and evaluations.
The five risk areas were addressed through the design and
implementation of new policies and procedures, and in particular the
establishment and refinement of internal controls.

The Company's internal control system is based on Internal Control —
Integrated Framework of the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission, and has five components, namely
Control Environment, Risk Assessment, Control Activities, Information
and Communication, and Monitoring Activities. The system intends to
facilitate the design and functioning of good control practices and
reduce the likelihood and impact of risks to an acceptably low level, in
order for us to achieve our objectives in operations, reporting, and
compliance.
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Any material internal control defects identified are timely
communicated and carefully evaluated for their potential impacts. The
departments or functions who are owners of these controls, are
required to propose corrective measures and obtain approval from
management before implementation. The implementation statuses are
monitored by both management and the internal audit function to
ensure these control defects are properly resolved in a timely manner.
The Company has also established policies and procedures for the
handling and dissemination of inside information. The information to
be disclosed should be properly reviewed and approved by our
compliance functions and management to ensure its appropriateness
and accuracy, and is closely monitored after disclosure.

In 2018, the Company plans to use its best endeavour to continuously
refine our risk management and internal control systems whenever
necessary, which would include the establishment of a more
systematical risk response process, improvements to be made in
control design and execution in high risk areas identified through our
annual risk assessment, and a mechanism to monitor the resolution of
control deficiencies, to mention but a few.

Internal Audit Function

The Company's internal audit department plays a major role in the
monitoring of the Company’s internal governance processes, i.e., to
provide independent assurance that the Company’s risk management,
governance and internal control processes are operating effectively.
The major tasks of the department include providing assurance on the
effectiveness of the Company’s governance, risk management and
internal controls in areas of operations, safeguarding of assets,
reporting, and compliance, and conducting risk-based audits of all
branches and subsidiaries of the Company on a regular basis with
recommended action plans to audit findings. The department also
provides consulting services in risk management and internal control
related issues within the Company.

The Company’s internal audit department conducted annual
independent full scope risk assessment update and internal audit for
selected areas, and reported to the management and the Board.
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Review of the Effectiveness and Adequacy of Our Systems
The Company prepare and submit reports to the Board in related to
risk and control at least annually, detailing how risks have been
managed and internal controls been designed and implemented in
accordance with the established risk and control frameworks, to keep
our overall risk exposures within risk appetite and achieve our business
objectives. The Board reviews the reasonableness of these reports and
representations from management and makes sufficient enquiries
whenever they feel necessary, before reaching their conclusions.

During the Review Period, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems with the application of the above review process, and
considered our risk management and internal control systems effective
and adequate in both design and operations.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITOR'S
REMUNERATION

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Company is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s
Report” of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the total remuneration paid or
payable to the Company’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers
("PwC"), for audit and other services totaled RMB4,783,000.

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to PwC is set out
below:
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Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BILLEFEE

2017
2017 &
RMB'000
AR® T
Auditors’ remunerations ZERENE A
— Audit Service — B IRTS
— The Company — RRA] 3,600
— Subsidiaries — KB AT 600
— Non-audit services — IEEETRTE 583

Non-audit services primarily represent tax and advisory services
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Yang Lin (“Ms. Lin"), one of the joint company secretaries of the
Company, is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and ensuring that the Board policy and
procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance
with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company
also engages Ms. Lai Siu Kuen (“Ms. Lai”), associate director of TMF
Hong Kong Limited (a company secretarial service provider), as another
joint company secretary to assist Ms. Lin to discharge her duties as
company secretary of the Company. The primary corporate contact
person at the Company is Ms. Lin, one of the joint company secretaries
of the Company.

During the Review Period, Ms. Lin and Ms. Lai have undertaken not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training respectively in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group's business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-
selective disclosure of information, which will enable shareholders and
investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The AGM provides opportunity for Shareholders to communicate
directly with the Directors. The chairman of the Board and the chairmen
of the Board Committees of the Company will attend the AGMs to
answer Shareholders’ questions. The external auditor of the Company
will also attend the AGMs to answer questions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and contents of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and its
Shareholders and maintains a website at http://www.aagenergy.com/,
where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings (“EGM") by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene
an EGM. An EGM shall also be convened on the requisition of one or
more shareholders of the Company holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such
requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the joint company
secretaries of the Company for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. The Directors shall within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition proceed duly to convene such meeting. If within 21
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Enquiries to the Board and contact details

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send their
enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the following:

Address:  Unit 2109-10, 21st Floor

China Merchants Tower

Shun Tak Centre

No. 168-200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Email: george.massey@aagenergy.com

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

An amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of
the Company was adopted by the Company on 5 June 2015 and was
effective on the Listing Date. The Company has not made any
significant changes to its constitutional documents during the year
ended 31 December 2017.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of AAG Energy Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
101 to 177, which comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2017;

J the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,;

and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

: PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888 Fax: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the

Code.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.
Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to:
o Share-based compensation

Key Audit Matter
HARETER

Bk KB

BB RS
BEXERERERATAKRR(E)
(REASHBIMA AR A])

BREEE
REAFHESRERMNEXHE - B8
AHAFUBRENENFTRABEENER -5
LEEITERMBABBEHHMBRRELA
BREEITRIEN - AT SHELEHEH
BERENER -

BAAER BRI OB RES FREAR -

o AR AR M

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNBANTEERRENEE

Share-based compensation

BARR 47 75 B8 A9 SR A

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
FELHE IR FE20 ©

The Company has adopted and operated Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme and Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit
Scheme (collectively the “Schemes”) to reward its
employees, which are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 2 “Share-Based Payments”. Share-based
compensation expenses totalling RMB20.5 million (2016:
RMB48.3 million) for the year ended 31 December 2017
comprise net expenses from the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme of RMB0.3 million (2016: RMB31.0 million) and
expenses from the Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme
amounting to RMB20.2 million (2016: RMB17.3 million)
which were recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
BERFIEHRMLRITERAFEEMBRETSMERD
FBEERZREIRG BAE (A HER 58 ) ARE
BT WEBEEEMBREERE 25 [ARMDRERE
1o BZE2017F12 831 B EFE - LA & E 70
ERRBERARB205887T(2016%F : ARK4BIAH
7)) HPBREERANHBEERNBRETEZFERARE
0.3E&T(2016%F : ARBINO0BEET) MEAAREER
REHIRMDEMTEZBEROARE 202887 (2016 F :
ARB173IBERL) YRNEHEARRERPHER

In addressing this matter, we have performed the
following procedures:

FRERRESERT - RPIMITTATER

o We obtained and examined the terms and
conditions of the Schemes and documentation and
the schedule of share-based compensation (the
“Schedule”) prepared by management.

o RMERIRE T a8l ERIGGAREEELE
EE AR D AER R SCHEMEZE R (B
x)) -

J In relation to the awards granted during the year
under the Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme,
we assessed the fair value of those awards granted
on the grant date to the market price of the
Company's shares.

s HRAFERTHNEEALHEERIBHRNE
st E TR - HPIAERRIRENTISEEY
WRTRBER T RORAEEETHME -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter
HARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNBANTEERREASEE

Share-based compensation

BARR 47 75 2 8 A9 SR A

The estimation of share-based compensation expense is
based on certain key bases and assumptions, including
determination of the fair value of relevant awards granted,
the incremental fair value arising from change of terms and
the number of awards which are expected to be vested.
VAR A BT ) RN E eV st 2N S IR A R
BREBERRTRENAABENETE  AEREESRE
A EERIEN - ARFERELGE THORBHE -

Because of the significance of share-based compensation
during the year ended 31 December 2017, together with
the use of judgements and assumptions, we had identified
this matter as a key audit matter.

HRABRD BERORMNEE2017F12ANBLEFE
MERTE  UNHEHEREREROER - HABMNZER
REARETEE
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J In respect of the share-based compensation
charged during the year, we checked the number
of awards granted and expected to be vested as
shown in the Schedule against the criteria of
vesting as set out in the Schemes and underlying
supporting documents, including minutes of Board
of Directors, human resources records, scheme and
the fulfilment of performance conditions.

o HRAFEHERHARNDSERORM  RABE
HERPHENDHER T RIBHHRER T REH
ENMHEEXHEXN  BREFSIRLE - ANER
FCE% - AHEIEBREARIR T 2 X EITIRY -

J We tested the mathematical calculations of share-
based compensation expenses during the year.

o BFIARTAFEARN SEROHRMERNE -

Based on our work, no significant exception has been
noticed.

ENBRANTHE  REREREF -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

LEONG Kin Bong

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 March 2018
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at 31 December

®W12A31H
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
M AR®ET T AREFIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment TE)E - TR FHE 6 3,504,437 3,188,674
Land use rights -+ 35 A #E 7 11,982 12,265
Intangible assets LA E 8 39,832 33,907
Other non-current assets HEIEREEE 1,434 4,116
3,557,685 3,238,962
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 2,444 1,760
Trade and other receivables JE LS B X Kz EL fih FE U 3 9 297,927 319,850
Current income tax prepaid TafS & HAFT1S B - 2,555
Restricted bank deposits SIRAIRITIER 11 37,663 31,583
Cash and cash equivalents e RREEEY 11 2,236,970 2,343,764
2,575,004 2,699,512
Total assets BEE 6,132,689 5,938,474
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of the EEBRAATREENES
Company
Share capital % AR 12 2,041 2,034
Capital surplus &R 13 4,769,340 4,839,134
Retained earnings/(Accumulated deficits) Bz (Z25tEE) 178,964 (4,234)
Total equity B 4,950,345 4,836,934
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2017 2016
2017 & 20164
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
M AR®ET T AREFIT
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Asset retirement obligations BEEEEBER 14 14,609 13,176
Borrowings [EE:N 15 513,593 496,376
Deferred income tax liabilities RICLFTISHBE 16 232,080 148,213
760,282 657,765
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables JE A~ BR FR N EL b FE ST 3R 17 396,953 443,775
Current income tax liabilities EHMSHEaE 25,109 -
422,062 443,775
Total liabilities HmeE 1,182,344 1,101,540
Total equity and liabilities HWEZIREE 6,132,689 5,938,474

F106EE 177 ENMERANEHYHRERN

The notes on pages 106 to 177 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

FINBEZ177TENMBREBEZEET TN 2018
FI3I[23HHE  WHERKRESE -

The financial statements on pages 101 to 177 were approved by the
Board of Directors on March 23 2018 and were signed on its behalf.

HITEF
HE R

Executive Director
Stephen Xiangdong Zou
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BHmERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLFEE

2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
M5 AR®ET T AREFIT
Revenue WA 18 541,598 411,278
Other income E A 19 193,913 149,276
Other losses, net HibEK — FE (83) (913)
Operating expenses BERX
Depreciation and amortisation e L (110,419) (74,613)
Employee benefit expenses BEBANMY 20 (142,130) (164,142)
Materials, services and logistics MR BRIS R (134,686) (100,203)
Others EHAftb (26,071) (23,543)
Total operating expenses R BT (413,3006) (362,501)
Profit from operations K& RIE 322,122 197,140
Interest income FLEU A 21 6,306 10,699
Finance costs Mi%EMA 21 (12,977) (18,578)
Exchange losses [E 718k 21 (4,510) (10,281)
Finance costs, net BRER — 35 (11,181) (18,160)
Profit before income tax B BT 1555 A0 K 55 22 310,941 178,980
Income tax expense FrEHER 23 (127,743) (72,345)
Profit attributable to owners of the BERAATIFEEN
Company for the year FERHE 183,198 106,635
Other comprehensive income: HitiR & W
Items that may be reclassified HiZ g EF DT
subsequently to profit or loss Ba ) H B
Currency translation differences GNEE I =28 (90,363) 90,613
Total comprehensive income attributable SBRADTRMEEN
to owners of the Company for the year FEEFREKNZHE 92,835 197,248
Earnings per share (RMB) sRUa (AR®BT)
— Basic — B 24 0.055 0.032
— Diluted —wiE 24 0.055 0.032

The notes on pages 106 to 177 are an integral part of these

106 EE177 AWM RAS I BIHREN

Paray
EEl
consolidated financial statements. BRIy o

DEREREBRERRR/ —E—LFFRH 103




Consolidated Statement of Change in Equity

B EREEER

Attributable to owners of the Company

BBRADRANFAES
(Accumulated
deficits)/
Share Capital Retained Total
capital surplus earnings equity
(R&tEE),/
(& BERBE Bz MR
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
B s AREFTT AREFIT AREFIL ARBFIT
As at 1 January 2016 R2016F1 818 2,034 4,700,281 (110,869) 4,591,446
Comprehensive income FehE
Profit for the year EEFE - - 106,635 106,635
Currency translation differences  SMNEHrE =% - 90,613 - 90,613
Total comprehensive income & RFE A - 90,613 106,635 197,248
Transactions with owners HFEENR S
Share-based compensation AR A7 75 50 6 SR 20(b) - 48,240 - 48,240
Total transactions with owners EBEffEE MR 5 E% - 48,240 - 48,240
As at 31 December 2016 R2016%F12831H 2,034 4,839,134 (4,234) 4,836,934
As at 1 January 2017 R2017F1818 2,034 4,839,134 (4,234) 4,836,934
Comprehensive income FelE
Profit for the year FEFIE - - 183,198 183,198
Currency translation differences  SMEITEZ%E - (90,363) - (90,363)
Total comprehensive income S &RF A = (90,363) 183,198 92,835
Transactions with owners HFTEENR S
Share-based compensation LARR D B B 1 ) SR A 20(b) - 20,515 - 20,515
Vesting of RSUs BB X RS EfL 12 (7) = =
Exercise of options e B PR 12 - 61 - 61
Total transactions with owners i ENXZ A 7 20,569 = 20,576
As at 31 December 2017 ®2017%12A31H 2,041 4,769,340 178,964 4,950,345

FI06EZ177TENHERAREHMBREN

D

The notes on pages 106 to 177 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BORESRER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12831BLLFEE

2017 2016
2017 2016 4F
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
B =E AR¥T T ARBT T
Cash flows from operating activities K& ZBHHLRE
Cash generated from operations REFEIRS 26 487,398 289,040
Interest paid BAFE (32,883) (26,338)
Income tax paid ERFTEH (16,214) (5,284)
Net cash generated from operating KESEB TSR FEE
activities 438,301 257,418
Cash flows from investing activities RETHEESRE
Purchase of property, plant and BETYE ITHEREAR
equipment and intangible assets BmLEE (456,318) (570,062)
Decrease in term deposits with initial #1464 BARR B 48 = & A 09 7F HA
terms of over three months FROR D - 246,000
Increase in restricted bank deposits SR I ERTT 17 SR AN (6,080) (23,550)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEREE - TRAERE
plant and equipment FriS 5008 391 343
Interest received S 6,451 9,527
Net cash used in investing activities WEEBAMARE F58 (455,556) (337,742)
Cash flows from financing activities RMETHRERE
Proceeds from exercise of options TR BB AR PTG IE 61 -
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIE KPS TIA 39,687 40,438
Cash paid for listing expenses FLETHAIZAERES = (7,700)
Finance costs paid ENMBER (13,356) (19,864)
Net cash generated from financing BEEEMSH S F5E
activities 26,392 12,874
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRESEEY
cash equivalents ®h, CRd) T8 9,137 (67,450)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning  F#IR& MBS EEY
of the year 11 2,343,764 2,309,810
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and B NBLEEMEL(BX),/
cash equivalents g (115,931) 101,404
Cash and cash equivalents at end FREERESEEY
of the year 1 2,236,970 2,343,764

The notes on pages 106 to 177 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

O I AR M A

106

GENERAL INFORMATION

AAG Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the "Group”) are principally engaged in
exploration, development and production of coalbed methane
("CBM") in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The
Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability on 23 December 2014. The address of
the Company’s registered office is P.O.Box 31119, Grand
Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1205, Cayman Islands.

The Group conducts its business through two production sharing
contracts (“"PSC") entered into with China United Coalbed
Methane Corporation Ltd. (“CUCBM") and PetroChina Company
Limited (“"PetroChina”) for the Panzhuang and Mabi concessions
respectively in Shanxi Province of the PRC.

The Overall Development Plan (“ODP") of the Panzhuang
concession was approved by the National Development and
Reform Commission of the PRC on 28 November 2011, which
allowed the Panzhuang concession to enter into the commercial
development phase. On 1 November 2016, Panzhuang
concession entered into production phase after the Joint
Management Committee ("JMC") approved and announced
based on the terms of Panzhuang PSC. Asian American Gas Inc.
("AAGI") and PetroChina entered into exploration phase sales
contract with effect from 1 July 2017. As at 31 December 2017,
Mabi concession was still in exploration phase.

The Company's initial public offering (“IPO") of its shares on the

Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited was
completed on 23 June 2015.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEETTHERE
POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

ARG HBBERERRKANEIZEHRK
REN T BRAEFHPAN - IFBE
HEMOIBHAEFERNERER -

2.1 wREEE

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRS") and
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies ordinance
Cap.622. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a)

(b)

108

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and
amendments for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2017:

o Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses — Amendments to HKAS 12;
and

. Disclosure initiative — amendments to HKAS 7.

The amendments to HKAS 7 require disclosure of
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
(Note 26).

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations
have been published that are not mandatory for 31
December 2017 reporting periods and have not been
early adopted by the Group. The Group's assessment
of the impact of these new standards and
interpretations is set out below.

(i) HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

Nature of change

HKFRS 9 addresses the classification,
measurement and derecognition of financial
assets and financial liabilities, introduces new
rules for hedge accounting and a new
impairment model for financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

(b)  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

(i)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Impact

HKFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed
measurement model and establishes three
primary measurement categories for financial
assets: amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI") and fair value
through profit or loss. The basis of classification
depends on the entity’s business model and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial assets. Investments in equity
instruments are required to be measured at fair
value through profit or loss with the irrevocable
option at inception to present changes in fair
value in OCI not recycling. The Group does not
expect the new guidance to have an impact on
the classification and measurement of its
financial assets since the Group does not have
any debt instruments and equity investments.

There will be no impact on the Group's
accounting for financial liabilities, as the new
requirements only affect the accounting for
financial liabilities that are designated at fair
value through profit or loss and the Group does
not have any such liabilities. The derecognition
rules have been transferred from HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement and have not been changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

110

(b)  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Impact (Continued)

The new impairment model requires the
recognition of impairment provisions based on
expected credit losses rather than only incurred
credit losses as is the case under HKAS 39. It
applies to financial assets classified at amortised
cost, debt instruments measured at FVOCI,
contract assets under HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, lease receivables,
loan commitments and certain financial
guarantee contracts. The Group has assessed
the new impairment model and is expecting no
significant impact.

Date of adoption by Group

The Group will adopt the new standard on 1
January 2018.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers

Nature of change

The HKICPA has issued a new standard for the
recognition of revenue. This will replace HKAS
18 which covers contracts for goods and services
and HKAS 11 which covers construction
contracts and the related literature.

The new standard is based on the principle that
revenue is recognised when control of a good
or service transfers to a customer.

The standard permits either a full retrospective
or a modified retrospective approach for the
adoption.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)
(b)  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Impact

Management has assessed the effects of
applying the new standard on the Group's
financial statements and has identified no
significant impact.

Date of adoption by group

The Group will adopt the new standard on 1
January 2018.

HKFRS 16 Leases

Nature of change

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will
result in almost all leases being recognised on
the balance sheet, as the distinction between
operating and finance leases is removed. Under
the new standard, an asset (the right to use the
leased item) and a financial liability to pay
rentals are recognised. The only exceptions are
short-term and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not change
significantly.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

(b)  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

(iii)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Impact

The standard will affect primarily the accounting
for the Group’s operating leases. As at the
reporting date, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of RMB7,552,000.
The Group estimates that approximately 0.32%
of these relate to payments for short-term and
low value leases which will be recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.

However, the Group has not yet assessed what
other adjustments, if any, are necessary for
example because of the change in the definition
of the lease term and the different treatment of
variable lease payments and of extension and
termination options. It is therefore not yet
possible to estimate the amount of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities that will have to be
recognised on adoption of the new standard
and how this may affect the Group's profit or
loss and classification of cash flows going
forward.

Mandatory application date/Date of adoption
by Group

Mandatory for financial years commencing on or
after 1 January 2019. At this stage, the Group
does not intend to adopt the standard before
its effective date. The Group intends to apply
the simplified transition approach and will not
restate comparative amounts for the year prior
to first adoption.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective
and that would be expected to have a material impact
on the entity in the current or future reporting periods
and on foreseeable future transactions.

112
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHBEXBE®H)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries 2.2 WEATE
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over BN B 2 15 AN £ (B 5 A 2 4
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity MER(BELBTEER) 245
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable BE2EZEEMES N E A A&
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the Btz - WA IBBHEEN
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the IBIEBE RS M EZ 0O ®mEE - A
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from AEEHZEREGIEHE - (B
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They AR EEHEEREAREE 2B
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. EBHARR o FTRBIEZESIESR L2

HiEEFIESHAR -

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on EFRNIRT S ERATBRXSE
transactions between group companies are eliminated. EREREARER B R SHEEER
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction iH o REIREBEO RN - BRI
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred RBEHETEREEREBENTE -
asset. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries RV ERSYHNBARMEHRe5E
have been adjusted to conform with the Group's MEFAEAFAEAEBH TR
accounting policies. % o

2.3 Production Sharing Contract 23 EmoHRER

The Group’s exploration, development and production
activities are primarily conducted through PSCs which
establish joint control over the exploration, development
and production activities. Each participant is entitled to a
predetermined share of the related output and bears an
agreed share of the costs.

The consolidated financial statements reflects:

(i) The Group's assets used in joint operations;

(i) Any liabilities that the Group has incurred;

Any income from the sale or use the Group's share of

the output of the production, together with its share
of any expenses incurred in the production; and

(iv)  Any expenses that the Group has incurred in respect
of its interest in the production.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EESHBEXBE®H)

114

2.3 Production Sharing Contract (Continued)

The Group’'s PSCs comprise of three phases: the
exploration phase, development phase and production
phase. Costs incurred with respect to exploration activities
within the PSC contract areas are solely borne by the
Group. All costs incurred subsequent to the date of the
approval of ODP are treated as development costs and
provided by the Group and the PSC partners in the
proportion of their respective participating interests.
Operating costs incurred for the production operation shall
be borne by the Group and the PSC partners in proportion
to their share of the output of the CBM productions in each

concession.

Pursuant to the Panzhuang and Mabi PSCs, the annual
gross production of CBM, after payment of value-added tax
("VAT") and royalties, is allocated into Cost Recovery CBM
and Remainder CBM.

(@) Cost Recovery CBM

Cost Recovery CBM is the CBM allocated to the
Group and the PSC partners for recovery of the
operating costs, as well as the exploration costs and
development costs. 80% and 70% of annual gross
production of CBM is deemed as Cost Recovery CBM
under the Panzhuang and Mabi PSC, respectively.
Cost Recovery CBM is allocated until all costs incurred
by each party have been fully recovered. Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated as follows:

(i) Prior to the production phase, Cost Recovery
CBM is firstly applied to recover costs incurred
during the exploration phase of the PSC and
once such costs have been fully recovered, Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated to recover costs
incurred during the development phase.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Production Sharing Contract (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Cost Recovery CBM (Continued)

(i) After the PSC enters the production phase, Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated according to the
following mechanism:

Operating cost recovery: payment in kind for
the operating costs actually incurred but not yet
recovered by each party.

Exploration and development cost recovery:
after operating costs have been fully recovered,
the Cost Recovery CBM is allocated to the
Group and the PSC partners for the recovery of
exploration and development costs. Exploration
costs, 100% of which are borne by the Group,
are fully recovered before development costs
can be recovered. Upon the full recovery of
exploration costs, any remaining Cost Recovery
CBM is allocated between the Group and the
PSC partners for the recovery of development
costs according to the respective participating
interests in the CBM concessions.

For the purpose of recovery, exploration costs
do not include any interest, while development
costs include a deemed interest calculated at a
fixed compound interest rate of 9% per annum.

Remainder CBM

Remainder CBM represents the remainder annual
gross CBM production after payment of VAT, royalties
and allocation to Cost Recovery CBM.

The Remainder CBM is further divided into allocable
remainder CBM and share CBM. The allocable
remainder CBM equals to the total remainder CBM
multiplied by a factor (X) and the share CBM equals
the Remainder CBM minus the allocable remainder
CBM. The factor (X) is determined in accordance with
a set of successive incremental tiers on the basis of
the annual gross CBM production as set out in the
PSCs. The allocable remainder CBM is allocated
between the Group and the PSC partner according to
the respective participating interest in the PSC. Share
CBM is allocated 100% to the PSC partner.
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O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEESHHERE @)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Segment reporting 2.4 DEIEH

o

116

25

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the directors and chief executive of the
Company.

Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company is US$, whereas the
functional currency of the production sharing projects
in the PRC is RMB. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive

income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to cash
and cash equivalents are presented in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income
within “exchange gains/losses”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEESHHERE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

2.5 SNEFEE)

(c) Group companies
The results and financial positions of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in OCI.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than exploration and
evaluation assets and construction in progress, are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment. Historical cost includes expenditures that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

2. EESHBEXBE®H)

2.6 TEE  ITHRZEE)

118

Other than gas properties, depreciation of each asset is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate its cost
less its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are
as follows:

(RTRAREE  BEEMNER
HEABRISREEEE G ERF
MR ABAREFTE - T8E - TH
KAt EAFRnT

Estimated useful lives

fhat Al 6 A 3

Gas gathering station

Shorter of remaining PSC period or 20 years

S SRIh FEm o KA RIRIBRF R 20 FF (ARG E RE)
Vehicles 4-5 years
B 454
Furniture, fittings and others 3-5years
HRE KENRHEM 354

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to
its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.11).

Construction in progress represents development costs
occurred after the technical feasibility and commercial
viability of extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable
and the buildings, machinery and equipment for which the
construction work has not been completed. It is carried at
cost which includes construction expenditures and other
direct costs less any impairment losses. Upon completion,
the development costs recorded in construction in progress
are transferred to gas properties. No depreciation is
provided for construction in progress until they are
completed and available for use.

Spare parts are accounted for as property, plant and
equipment when (a) they can be used only in connection
with an item of property, plant and equipment; or (b) the
Group expects to use them during more than one year.
Other spare parts are classified as inventory.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within “other gains” in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEESHHERE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Exploration and evaluation assets 27 BWERKRMEEE
Exploration and evaluation expenditures mainly include BERTEATEZEREHIRED
acquisition of rights to explore, topographical, geological, BE M HE - BN
geochemical and geophysical studies, exploratory drilling, BRYIBI T - BNIREH C BUERA K
sampling and activities in relation to evaluating the B BARHE A AT 1T ME A0 7 SR P BR AR
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a EERMAIITHEREEH S o

mineral resource.

During initial stage of a project, exploration and evaluation HIA B M VIPEER - SR G
expenditures are expensed as incurred. Expenditure on a YTREERY o HAEIEDEEA
project after it has reached a stage at which there is a high 1THEER® AR Y EARIR R
degree of confidence in its viability is capitalised as BERFTER FEELEENT
exploration and evaluation assets. If a project does not 17 HEEZIERABESE A B
prove viable, all irrecoverable expenditures associated with B RE e lkERTI)R

the project are expensed in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

Costs of exploratory wells are capitalised and evaluated for R A AT IE—F AT
economic viability within one year after completion of AE AL A 5T B H A BT - 1A
drilling. The related well costs are expensed as dry holes if RWBERGEEITIEERER
it is determined that such economic viability is not attained. BEHKAIEAT HF Y -

Exploration and evaluation assets are measured at cost less BRI ATk B B DA K AR (B B
impairment provisions. Exploration and evaluation assets HE e BERBERM TN ER
are reclassified to gas properties when the technical HEEZRAITE > HFEETEE
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral ESENHBEERARREE -

resource are demonstrable.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for EEENRBERBRBRGELTE
impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the BEMREEEGEHBEER O
carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may SRR BEENTGEEET
exceed its recoverable amount, and also tested for ER S TeEREPEERAR
impairment immediately prior to reclassification to gas BEAEITRERR -

properties.
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O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.8 Gas properties

2. EESHBEXBE®H)
2.8 RARLE

120

2.9

Gas properties include drilling costs, exploration and
evaluation costs, development costs and other direct costs
attributable to the gas production properties. Gas
properties are depreciated based on the unit of production
method. Unit of production rates are based on proved and
probable gas reserves estimated to be recoverable from
whole concessions based on the current terms of the
respective PSC.

Land use rights

Land use rights represent upfront prepayments made for
the land use rights and leasehold land and are expensed in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income on
a straight-line basis over the periods of the leases or when
there is impairment, the impairment is expensed in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

2.10 Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent computer software. Acquired
computer software are capitalised on the basis of the costs
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives
ranging from 3 to 10 years.

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows which are largely independently of
the cash flows from other assets or group of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEESHHERE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Inventories 212778
Inventories are mainly spare parts and consumables with FETEABHEREESRESR &
low value and stated at the lower of cost and net realisable AR N A IR R E IR E PR ©
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost B A% RN S 19 VA HERR o A] B IR
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price FEEHBESPNETESERE
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable B R i EFR X TS -

selling expenses.

2.13 Trade and other receivables 2.13 FEUR AR X I HL fth FE LUK

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair FEULBR SR &% E b FR W R W3R 3R A 7
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using BEE  BEREBERAX LR
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. TRELBRP A BRI EEERT 2 o 10
A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is EREBEEEHASEEBEEILE
established when there is objective evidence that the WER AR I a2 5B Hi 4
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according B o R R UROAR SR B IGRET
to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial REEE - G ARABREXNT S
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will Mg - nJeelESGETIMISEAR
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or WA BB R s B A IR B 9 AR B
delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the WHRIBRETR - REEHENSRE
receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the 7B B B BRI B (B AN BL TR fih AR R ER
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the SRR EGRRCERFIERER)
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at HONEE - BENRAEBEBEEE
the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of R FUER - MEESEES
the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance PR KRR KT ER o B EIKIE
account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the RO - BI B FE UK BR SR A B R BR
consolidated statements of comprehensive income. When PR o anEEE I Bl L AR &
a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the % QEAAHEA NS RT R
allowance account for receivables. Subsequent recoveries > G AEE Y o

of amounts previously written off are credited against
expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive

income.

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents 214 R e RBETEEY
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits BekIReSEYBRIERS Ik
held at call with banks and term deposits with original ST BN SR TR R B HREAMR &
maturities of three months or less. =& A AT EE BRF AR
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O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEESHHERE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Share capital 215 R#&

122

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 12).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.16 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost; any difference between
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has a contractual or an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
end of the reporting period.

2.17 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the

consolidated statements of comprehensive income in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEESHHERE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Trade payables 2.18 ETERRX
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services EREERRERBELE TS
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business % 2 E P TR A 7 h sIR S T &
from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current EMETR - I RERE—FUR
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the (MERKHME FELERELE
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they Hd) ENERINTAERESA
are presented as non-current liabilities. B BAENERGINTRIERD
BE-
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and EREREFIZB AR BEETVIRE
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the R HRFERERRREIREHEK
effective interest method. RErE o
2.19 Current and deferred income tax 219 EHIRIELFREH
The income tax expense for the period comprises current ISt 858 S HART
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated PSR - HIBEAHEARERA
statements of comprehensive income, except to the extent R EEEMEE RS EET
that it relates to items recognised in OCI or directly in HESERNIER BENTIERIN
equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in OCI or FEURBERAT » MBS REEAMLERE
directly in equity, respectively. Wi E B ERNER -
(a) Current income tax (a) EHIFFEBH
The current income tax charge is calculated on the EHMERST P REEE AR
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted A& B PR S EE A FE AR UK
at the balance sheet date in the countries where the ABBEIREZEE B2 EMHK
Group companies operate and generate taxable EE D EAMO LR
income. Management periodically evaluates positions HoEREMERHEEER
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which BT $8 7€ 918 00 5 B 5T 1 B 7%
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. R WAEBEAB R TIRE
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the F A TSRS AT RGR
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax TE R o
authorities.
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O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

124

(b)

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on
taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements,
except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements
only to the extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEESHHERE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

219 EMRIELEFTISHL (8)

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

2.20 Employee benefits

The Group operates various pension schemes. The schemes
are generally funded through payments to insurance
companies or various government-sponsored pension plans
under which the employees are entitled to a monthly
pension based on certain formulas. The Group has defined
contribution plans. A defined contribution plan is a pension
plan which the Group pays contributions into a separate
entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations
to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating
to employee service in the current and prior periods. The
contributions are recognised and allocated to related cost
of assets and expenses based on different beneficiaries.

All Chinese employees of the Group participate in other
employee social security plans, including medical, housing
and other welfare benefits, organised and administered by
the governmental authorities. According to the relevant
regulations, the premiums and welfare benefit contributions
that should be borne by the Group are calculated based on
percentages of the total salary of employees, subject to a
certain ceiling, and are paid to the labor and social welfare
authorities.
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O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition

2. EESHBEXBE®H)

2.21 R

126

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied, stated net of discounts and VAT.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, when it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
specific criteria have been met for the Group's activities as
described below. The amount of revenue is not considered
to be reliably measurable until all contingencies relating to
the sale have been resolved. The Group bases its estimates
on historical results, taking into consideration the type of
customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each
arrangement.

Sales of gas

The Group produces and sells gas. Sales of gas are
recognised when the gas is delivered to the customers. The
amount of revenue to be received by the Group is allocated
based on the terms of the PSCs (Note 2.3).

2.22 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred with no future related
costs, such as refund of VAT paid and subsidies granted
according to CBM production, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable. Note 19
provides further information on how the Group accounts for
government grants.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Lease
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases (Note 28). Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor), are charged to the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.

2.24 Share-based compensation
(a) Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates two equity-settled share-based
compensation plans, under which the Group receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options and restricted share unit) of the
Company. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options and
restricted share unit is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options and
restricted share unit granted:

o including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity's share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining as an employee of the Group over a
specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or to hold shares for a
specified period of time).
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O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Share-based compensation (Continued)

128

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Non-market performance and service conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of options
and restricted share unit that are expected to vest.
The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options and restricted
share unit that are expected to vest based on the
non-marketing performance and service conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received from the exercise
of options net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (and share
premium).

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
at a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified. An additional expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the options and restricted share unit,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as
measured at the date of modification.
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BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEESHHERE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Share-based compensation (Continued) 2.24 LR A ER A REN (&)
(b) Share-based payment transactions among group (b) EEEUBROGAEFENIZF
entities x5
The grant by the Company of options and restricted BARAANEETIENH
share unit over its equity instruments to the BEARIEEMBREHEERT
employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is B BB AR i N 2R I A% 1 B8
treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of RATE - MESNES
employee services received, measured by reference BRENAABELERTH
to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the WAREESE  RETH
vesting period as an increase to investment in NHER AN E QR
subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit & WABEE AR AR ER
to equity in the parent company entity accounts. BRE 2 o
2.25 Interest income 2.25 RIB KA
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest F S AR A BRI 3L R o
method.
2.26 Provision-Asset retirement obligation 226 —EERERK
Asset retirement obligation for environmental restoration is EAEBRBEEHMELEREH
recognised when: the Group has a present constructive FEERS  WrlseHEEAERR A
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an BFER - BeBE LA M
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation AIBEMREBRERENEERZE
and the amount has been reliably estimated. £ o
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the B ZBEUEE  ESFELET
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is BEBRREOAEEN - BIaRIEE
determined by considering the class of obligations as a R BREE - BIFEER —EK
whole. Asset retirement obligation is recognised even if the fBRIFTE S /MEA—EE B HERN
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item BRRHOATREERE - DEER
included in the same class of obligations may be small. BEZBEEF-
Asset retirement obligation are measured at the present BEFEZSHBREETHELS
value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle EREBAFEAENFR BB
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current £ ZARRBEETISHERE
market assessments of the time value of money and the BRZEBNETREIE - B
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision RS 378 0 T 32 AN e BB RER B R B
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense. s o
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O I AR M A

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3.

3.1 Financial risk factors

Bt 75 B B i B
3.1 MEREBEZE

130

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:

credit risk, market risk (including foreign exchange risk and

cash flow interest rate risk), liquidity risk and concentration

risk. The Group's overall risk management program focuses

on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to

minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.

(a)

(b)

Credit risk

As the majority of the cash at bank balances are
placed with state-owned and international banks and
financial institutions in the PRC and Hong Kong, and
there has been no recent history of default in relation
to these banks and financial institutions, the
corresponding credit risk is relatively low. Therefore,
the Group's credit risk arises primarily from trade and
other receivables. The Group has controls in place to
assess the credit quality of its customers. The Group
has concentration risk on trade receivables. Only
limited allowance for uncollectible receivables were
made in the past as the Group's sales were only made
to the customers with good credit history. The
utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.

Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to US$. Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions
or recognised assets or liabilities are
denominated in a currency other than the
entity’s functional currency.
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BOF M I WK M A

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. BKRBEREH
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 B¥EKBEE(E)
(b) Market risk (Continued) (b) m%E\.Fﬁ(ﬁ*)
(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) ()  SMER B (E)

Prior to 30 April 2016, the Group was exposed 2016¢4H 308 Z A
to non-cash foreign exchange risk arising from REBFZHIER I
retranslation of US$ denominated inter- MR B EMTED
company loans. To manage the foreign NETFAENARBEE

exchange risk, management decided to execute
a debt restructuring on 30 April 2016 by
converting the inter-company loans into
perpetual loans through entering into perpetual
loan agreements between respective group
companies such that the perpetual loans do not
bear interest and the lenders can not request
repayment. Upon completion of this debt
restructuring, any foreign exchange differences
arising from retranslation of these US$
denominated perpetual loans are recognised in
equity in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates, and by monitoring the amount of
the US$ loan utilised from the US$250 million
revolving credit facility (Note 15), which is the
Group's only US$ borrowings from third parties.

As at 31 December 2017, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 1% against the US$ with all
other variables held constant, profit before
income tax for the year would have been
RMB902,000 (31 December 2016: RMB3,909,000)
lower/higher, respectively, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of
US$ denominated payables held by the Group
entities with their functional currency as RMB.

DEREREBRERRF/ =F

e BT ERINER
% BIERIREN 2016
FARANAMNITERE
M BBBARREN

BRKAMER - B

% EARE B BT
ABERWE  XKEBEER

TEGHR B B EFHHT
TEBREE - X
EREMTTHRE - mE
LEE T KB B R R E
EREFESEZZES
HHBERERER BE

J::r:|.°

7B [ 2 ) B R
BRBREERME (M
FE15) 25X THEA
METEREBEAA
SEBE=FEANKE
—RTLER)  UERE
SNEERLBR

MR2017%F12 8318 -
mARBRZETER
&/ FAE1% mMFA
EMAgREEZRET
. RIBRFIEBIAIFE
FEE D B, hn
AR #902,0007T (2016
F12A31H: AR
3,909,0007t) " £ &R
EEeRAEEEEHMFT
VASE T EHE A B Uik
BHEHEDBEEE AR
FRE L HOEE 3 Mz 18
95 o

—tEFH 131




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

O I AR M A

3.

132

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(c)

3. M¥ERERE®
3.1 B¥EREZE(E)

Market risk (Continued) (b) TiZEE(E)
(i) Cash flow interest rate risk (i) B FERERE
The Group's income and operating cash flows REERWARLLEE
are substantially independent of the changes in SREEY T m5
market rates. The Group's floating-rate bank MRS E - RE
borrowings expose the Group to cash flow B )2 8 FI R IRITE
interest rate risk. A detailed analysis of the FEAREEBEERSRT
Group's bank borrowings, together with their RERR o NEBRITE
respective interest rates and maturity dates are RN - ERE
included in Note 15. SR BN RSk
RHIEES ©
Liquidity risk () REMERE
The liquidity risk of the Group is mainly controlled by AEENRBUERABRFER
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents BRGERBRFTERRTTR
through operations and funds from shareholders. The HHIRE MR EEBMETT
table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities TSl TRERAEENT
into relevant maturity groupings based on the MEE LREEND S
remaining period at the balance sheet date to the B REREEHEERE
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in HIAM R R EET D -
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. TRIAEESEARMEN
SRIMEME o
Less than Over
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years Total
SR-F —EWE MERF RENE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTR ARETT AR%TR
As at 31 December 2016 1201612 31H
Borrowings fEm 25,469 25,469 589,020 - 639,958
Trade and other payables FERTBRF R At R 416,641 - - - 416,641
442,110 25,469 589,020 - 1,056,599
As at 31 December 2017 R 2017F12A31H
Borrowings EES 31,314 32,542 578,296 - 642,152
Trade and other payables FERBRF R At R 372,804 - - - 372,804
404,118 32,542 578,296 - 1,014,956

The Group’s liquidity management policy also
involves maintaining debt financing plans. The Group
has access to the undrawn borrowing facilities which
disclosed in Note 15.
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BOF M I WK M A

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3.

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

BEEREREE)
3.1 B¥EREZE(E)

(d) Concentration risk
Revenue of the Group is mainly derived from
Panzhuang concession. Any disruption to the
operation of the concession may have a material
adverse impact to the result of operation and the
financial position of the Group.

During the year, all the Group's revenue was derived
from sales made to fourteen customers. In the event
that these customers terminate their business
relationship with the Group and the Group fails to
find new customers, it may have a material adverse
impact on the Group's financial position and result of
operations.

3.2 Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for the shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital by using debt-to-cash ratio
analysis. This ratio is calculated as amount of borrowings
divided by total cash and bank balances as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet, and monitoring when the
borrowings are due for repayment. The debt-to-cash ratio
at 31 December 2017 and 2016 was 22.6% and 20.9%,
respectively.

3.2

d) SPER
AEBENRE T BREER
B3R o o% [ B2 B MY (T
B DR REHARENEE
KA NMMBIRAEREANT
2

FR ARERNZERED
KB [+ 5 E P 1A
E-BERFEPRIEENE
BERGEEER  MAKER
ESEHEF  AAKER
MBRRREEREGRE
BEARTHMEE -

BEXREE
AEBENEARERBREERER
SEEEMFERLE - RERFRIEHE
WEAEMN S EREE TR A -
R #EFRENEREEURDE
ZND PN

AEEFNBEERES L ERDNEE
B o ZLLRIBERSEHRIAA B
BEEABRYIANIA S MIBITHER
BEEATE  EREREBAEER
o 7N B £ 2017 F 2 2016 612
A3NBEmMEBEBRESLLEDF A
22.6% %% 20.9% °
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O I AR M A

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. BBEAREE®
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AREEME

The measurement of fair value uses different level of inputs AAEBENFEEATRSERBA

to valuation technique. Such inputs are categorised into BUEA R ERM - 258 ABEE

three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows: RABESFHRADB/=(EX ©®

BNz

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for e MHREEXBEEERETS
identical assets or liabilities (level 1). EHMECRAR)(B1E) -

e Inputs other than quoted prices included within level e BRTFIVEMBRIEHMEIN
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either ZEEMBENTEHRMNE
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived fibda A - Al R E# (BHIn{E
from prices) (level 2). ®) kR (BREERE)($2

E) -

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on e EENBGBIWIFKEBEUTER
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) MI5EIE A A (BIIE #Es
(level 3). BWA)(E3IE) -
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BOF M I WK M A

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

4.1 Estimation of proved and probable gas reserves
Proved gas reserves are those quantities of CBM that by
analysis of geoscience and engineering data can be
estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially
recoverable, from a given date forward and under defined
economic conditions, operating methods, and government
regulations. Probable gas reserves are those additional
reserves of CBM that analysis of geoscience and
engineering data indicate are less likely to be recovered
than proved reserves but more certain to be recovered than
possible reserves.

The Group's reserve estimates were prepared for each
concession area and include only CBM that the Group
believes can be reasonably produced within current
economic and operating conditions. Reserves cannot be
measured exactly. Reserve estimates are based on many
factors that require evaluation by the engineers interpreting
the available data, as well as price and other economic
factors. The reliability of these estimates at any point in
time depends on both the quality and quantity of the
technical and economic data, and the production
performance as well as engineering judgement.
Consequently, reserve estimates are subject to revision as
additional data become available. Well tests and
engineering studies will likely improve the reliability of the
reserve estimate. The evolution of technology may also
result in the application of improved recovery techniques
such as supplemental or enhanced recovery projects, or
both, which have the potential to increase reserves beyond
those envisioned during the early years of a reservoir’s
producing life.

4,
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

136

4.1

4.2

Estimation of proved and probable gas reserves
(Continued)

Proved and probable reserves are key elements in the
Group's investment decision-making process. They are also
an important element in testing for impairment. A reduction
in proved and probable reserves will increase depreciation
and amortisation charges (assuming constant production)
and reduce net profit. Proved and probable reserve
estimates are subject to revision, either upward or
downward based on new information, such as from
development drilling and production activities or from
changes in economic factors, including gas prices, contract
terms or development plans.

In general, changes in the technical maturity of gas reserves
resulting from new information becoming available from
exploration, development and production activities and
change in gas price have tended to be the most significant
cause of annual revisions.

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
Exploration and evaluation assets are capitalised on a field-
by-field basis and are assessed for impairment when
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may
exceed its recoverable amount. This assessment involves
judgment as to (i) the period for which the Group has the
right to explore in the specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not expected
to be renewed; and (i) substantive expenditure on further
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area is neither budgeted nor planned; and (iii)
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area have not led to the discovery of commercially
viable quantities of mineral resources and the Group has
decided to discontinue such activities in the specific area;
and (iv) sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the
carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is
unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development
or by sale. While conducting an impairment review of its
assets, the Group makes certain judgments in making
assumptions about the future gas prices, reserves and
future development and production costs. Changes in
these estimates could require a material change on the
carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets.
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BOF M I WK M A

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.3

4.4

Impairment of gas properties

Gas properties are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell or value in use. In estimating the recoverable
amounts of assets, various assumptions, including future
cash flow to be associated with the assets and discounted
rates, are made. If future events do not correspond to such
assumptions, the recoverable amounts will be revised and
this may have impacts on the Group's result of operation or
financial position.

Income taxes and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are certain transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will be reflected in the
income tax expense and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

In addition, the realisation of future income tax assets is
dependent on the Group's ability to generate sufficient
taxable income in future years to utilise income tax benefits
and tax loss carry-forwards. Deviations of future profitability
from estimates or in the income tax rate would result in
adjustments to the value of future income tax assets and
liabilities that could have a significant effect on the income
tax expenses.

4. BRESTHEFTTRHAE @

4.3

4.4
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM") has been
identified as the directors and chief executive of the Company
who review the Group's internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The CODM has determined
the operating segments based on these reports.

The Group's operating segments are defined by PSCs, which is
the basis by which the CODM makes decisions about resources
to be allocated and assesses their performance. The financial
information of the two PSCs have been separated to present
segment information to be reviewed by the CODM.

The measurement of results and assets of the operating
segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies. The CODM evaluates the
performance of the operating segments of the PSCs based on
profit before income tax, depreciation and amortisation, interest
income, finance costs and exchange gains/losses (“EBITDA").
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The segment information provided to the CODM for the
reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 2017 is as

follows:

5. oEER @

HE20177F12A3NBIEFE SA2
WMOMIRBLETEEERRENDIE

BT
Panzhuang Mabi
concession concession
RMB'000 RMB’000

Total
et
RMB’000

ARBTT ARBETT ARETET

For the year ended
31 December 2017

HZE2017%F12A31H
LEFEE

Revenue from external customers DEEINEES SN PN 512,886 28,712 541,598
EBITDA EBITDA 552,844 (26,889) 525,955
Other income H A 180,170 13,743 193,913
Operating expenses FEFAY (231,281) (84,760)  (316,041)
Depreciation and amortisation e LR#HE (90,993) (15,375) (106,368)
Interest income SN 4,613 211 4,824
Finance costs B &R (2,065) (123) (2,188)
Exchange (losses)/gains PEH (185k) Mz (9,726) 17,074 7,348
Income tax expense Frisii & A (127,736) = (127,736)
For the year ended BE2016%12A31H
31 December 2016 IEFEE

Revenue from external customers K EINEBR P HI A 411,278 - 411,278
EBITDA EBITDA 441,628 (45,075) 396,553
Other income E g A 149,276 - 149,276
Operating expenses FEFAY (184,449) (50,135) (234,584)
Depreciation and amortisation e LE#HE (65,906) (5,589) (71,495)
Interest income IS N 8,933 113 9,046
Finance costs B i5E M (2,654) 61) (2,719)
Exchange (losses)/gains PE N (1B%k) = (13,262) 3,782 (9,480)
Income tax expense Frisfi & /A (72,345) - (72,345)

DEREREBRERRR/ —E—LFFRH

139




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

O I AR M A

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 7HER @)
Panzhuang Mabi
concession concession Total

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTTE ARBTT ARBTT

As at 31 December 2017 M2017%12831H
Total assets 48R E 2,141,264 2,282,764 4,424,028
Total liabilities BEE 507,976 145,908 653,884
Additions to non-current assets IEmENEEIL M
(other than deferred tax assets) GREETRITBEERRIN) 163,208 157,108 320,316
As at 31 December 2016 M2016F12831H
Total assets 48R E 2,344,636 1,991,940 4,336,576
Total liabilities waE 400,879 189,622 590,501
Additions to non-current assets IEmENEEL M
(other than deferred tax assets) CRETRITBEERIN) 234,448 336,837 571,285
A reconciliation of EBITDA to total profit before income tax is EBITDA B34 FR S B BT A 42 X8 Fa 80 20
provided as follows: T
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HIEEE
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Total EBITDA for reportable segments T 23R 9 £ #9 EBITDA #%48 525,955 396,553
Headquarter overheads BEHEHRX (93,414) (124,800)
Depreciation and amortisation e N Y (110,419) (74,613)
Interest income L E WA 6,306 10,699
Finance costs B 75 & A (12,977) (18,578)
Exchange losses [E W AB K (4,510) (10,281)
Profit before income tax R FTi55 gl A1) E 310,941 178,980
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. o#ER &
Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as A2 oPEEHBLEEMNRAHOT -
follows:

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Total segment assets D ERE EAERE 4,424,028 4,336,576
Unallocated Ko E
Unallocated cash and cash equivalents AOEREERIBEEEY 1,703,240 1,594,604
Others Hip 5,421 7,294
Total assets per balance sheet BEBBERIIRNEERT 6,132,689 5,938,474
Reportable segments’ liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities A2Hr e EHeaEd@nEsmT
as follows:
As at 31 December
R12H31H
2017 2016
2017 F 2016 4F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREEF T
Total segment liabilities DE B ERRE 653,884 590,501
Unallocated Ko Ee
Unallocated long term borrowings Ao B B X 513,593 496,376
Others HAih 14,867 14,663
Total liabilities per balance sheet BEBERTARER 1,182,344 1,101,540
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

142

6. TBE IWKRRE

Exploration
and Gas Furniture,
Gas  evaluation  gathering Construction fittings and
properties assets station  in progress Vehicles others Total
HAR HE #E
RAREE TEEE SR KEIR BH REfh o
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
As at 1 January 2016 R2016 %1518
Cost ey 910,378 1,443,270 307,227 374,456 15,063 40,761 3,091,155
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (369,374) - (47,135) - (9,442) (25,290) (451,241)
Net book value EEFE 541,004 1,443,270 260,092 374,456 5,621 15471 2,639,914
Year ended 31 December 2016 HZ2016512R31HLEE
Opening net book value FNEAFE 541,004 1443270 260,092 374,456 5,621 15471 2,639,914
Additions m 3,044 261,692 440 336,171 809 11,410 613,566
Transferred in/(out) #BA/(H) 155,534 - 48,893 (204,427 - - -
Disposal — cost RE—HA - - - (830) 972) 979 (2,781)
— depreciation —E - - - - 972 966 1,938
Depreciation charge FEER (40,127) - (22,130) - (2,302) (7,188) (71,747)
Currency translation differences EEREESE 4,857 - - 2748 - 179 7784
Closing net book value FREEFE 664,312 1,704,962 287,295 508,118 4128 19,859 3,188,674
As at 31 December 2016 R2016512A31R
Cost R 1,075,621 1,704,962 356,560 508,118 14,900 51,373 3,711,540
Accumulated depreciation 2iE (411,315) - (69,265) - (10,772) (31,514) (522,866)
Net book value RmEE 664312 1,704,962 287,095 508,118 4128 19859 3,188,674
Year ended 31 December 2017 HE2017512B31ALEE
Opening net book value FOREHE 664,312 1,704,962 287,295 508,118 4,128 19,859 3,188,674
Additions £ 266 142,146 264 283,574 723 3,660 430,633
Transferred in/(out) #BA/(L) 1,199,908  (1,146,713) 178,662 (231,857) = = =
Disposal — cost RE—HA - - - - - (2,503) (2,503)
— depreciation —E = = - - = 2,047 2,047
Depreciation charge TEER (62,751) - (30,664) - (2,133) (10,175) (105,723)
Currency translation differences ERnEEE (4,339) (3,649) - (599) - (104) (8,691)
Closing net book value EREREE 1,797,396 696,746 435,557 559,236 2,718 12,784 3,504,437
As at 31 December 2017 R2017€128318
Cost WA 2,269,530 696,746 535,486 559,236 15,623 52,387 4,129,008
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (472,134) - (99,929) - (12,905) (39,603) (624,571)
Net book value EEFE 1,797,396 696,746 435,557 559,236 2,718 12,784 3,504,437
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, borrowing costs
capitalised in property, plant and equipment amounted to
RMB39,176,000 (2016: RMB33,369,000) (Note 21) at the weighted
average rate of 7.15% (2016: 6.79%) per annum.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the additions of
property, plant and equipment include RMB785,000 (2016:
RMB3,484,000) relating to the asset retirement obligations
recognised during the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the exploration and
evaluation assets of ODP phase 1 of Mabi concession were
reclassified to gas properties upon satisfactory technical
feasibility and commercial viability.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

TEE - THRZE®

HZE2017F12831BILFE - T8E -
ImEEBEMENERNABARE
39,176,000 7 (2016 FF = A R ¥ 33,369,000
JL) (MI5E21) » R I F 39 5 £ 7.15%
(20164F : 6.79% )51 5 °

HE20177F12A31BILFE > THE -
T8 N % % 35 0 A R 85 785,000 7t (2016
F: NR#3,484,0007T) @ HEFERNIER
MEEREXRBERM -

HZE2017F12A831HLEFE  ERE
AT REETITHERZ  SHUER
ODP—HiI BN ERFIEEEENBEERXR

LAND USE RIGHTS T b f5E A AE
RMB'000

ARETIT
At 1 January 2016 R2016F1A1H8
Cost B AN 14,099
Accumulated amortisation BT 5 (1,552)
Net book value BREDFE 12,547
Year ended 31 December 2016 BE2016F12A31HILLEE
Opening net book value FHRREDFE 12,547
Amortisation charge BIHER (282)
Closing net book value FARREFE 12,265
As at 31 December 2016 M2016%F12H31H
Cost DN 14,099
Accumulated amortisation Rt (1,834)
Net book value REFE 12,265
Year ended 31 December 2017 BZ2017F12831HILLEE
Opening net book value FHREFE 12,265
Amortisation charge BIHER (283)
Closing net book value FRREFE 11,982
As at 31 December 2017 M2017%12H831H
Cost AR 14,099
Accumulated amortisation R (2,117)
Net book value BREFE 11,982

The Group's interests in land use rights represent prepaid
operating lease payments. All of the Group's land use rights are
located in the PRC.

AEE LI RERERERMNEE
HEMR - AEEOLIHEREDHBRP
BEA -
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8. EEEE
Computer
software
EEE
RMB'000
ARBFIT
At 1 January 2016 Rn2016F1818
Cost BN 19,651
Accumulated amortisation RET 5 (4,626)
Net book value R FE 15,025
Year ended 31 December 2016 HZE2016F12A31HLLEFE
Opening net book value FYERREFE 15,025
Additions AN 21,466
Amortisation charge BiEER (2,584)
Closing net book value FARREFE 33,907
As at 31 December 2016 M2016E12H31H
Cost (BN 41,117
Accumulated amortisation RETE (7,210)
Net book value BREDFE 33,907
Year ended 31 December 2017 BZE2017F12A31BLEE
Opening net book value FHRREFE 33,907
Additions il 10,338
Amortisation charge BIHER (4,413)
Closing net book value FARREFE 39,832
As at 31 December 2017 R2017%12H31H
Cost B AN 51,455
Accumulated amortisation RETE (11,623)
Net book value AR FE 39,832
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9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

9. FREUWBRFR R H UK

As at 31 December

R12A31RH
2017 2016
2017 2016 4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
Trade receivables (a) FEULEBR X (a)
— CUCBM (i) — CUCBM (i) 10,769 32,948
— PetroChina (ii) — HR A (i) 10,503 -
— External customers (i) — HNEBEF (i) 80,008 20,061
Notes receivable (b) FEUZEIE (b) 32,600 119,567
Government grants receivables (c) JE ST #E B (c)
— Government — B 70,084 43,102
— CUCBM — CUCBM 20,938 42,620
— PetroChina — A 4,432 -
Due from CUCBM for cash calls and JEUR CUCBMIR & Z£3 &
accrued expenses (d) TEIRER (d) 54,642 40,631
Prepaid expenses, deposits and others TR - e REAM 21,148 28,118
305,124 327,047
Less: provision for impairment B RE R (7,197) (7,197)
297,927 319,850
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9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
(a) Trade receivables
(i) The ageing analysis of trade receivables — due

B W Bfe K I L it P MACRR ()
(a) FEAER
() PEMCRIWIRE DI —

from CUCBM: CUCBM :
As at 31 December
M12H831H
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Within 3 months —EAR 10,769 32,948

Note: Trade receivables due from CUCBM represent the cash
collected from external customers attributable to Sino-
American Energy, Inc. (“"SAEI") and deposited into CUCBM's
bank account on behalf of the Group, which is jointly
managed by CUCBM and the SAEI.

(i) The ageing analysis of trade receivables — due
from PetroChina:

PEE - FEU CUCBM ) 8 U 5118 5 U
BEMEFILFAH
CcucBME xR~ A (M3
PEERAE ) HAEE - Yk
CUCMB X & A 5% B 5 37 10 §R
TRPHRE o

(i) FEUERWIER ST — K
A

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREEF T
Within 3 months =@EARN 10,503 -

146 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2017



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(a) Trade receivables (Continued)

(iii) The ageing analysis of trade receivables — due

from external customers

9. BUWERMR K HAMBUY @)
(a) FEWERFR (&)
(iii) FEWBRRAERER 24T — FEUX
HMEEF

As at 31 December

R12H31H
2017 2016
2017 F 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Within 3 months —EAR 46,242 12,864
3 months to 6 months Z@AA=~EA 20,510 -
6 months to 1 year NMEAE—F 6,059 -
Over 3 years =FLAE 7,197 7,197
80,008 20,061
Provision B (7,197) (7,197)
72,811 12,864
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
Past due but not impaired @B REE ARBT T ARETTT
Within 3 months =@AR 46,242 12,864
3 months to 6 months =@A=EA 20,510 -
6 months to 1 year NEAE—F 6,059 -
72,811 12,864

These relate to a number of independent customers

for whom there is no significant financial difficulty and

based on past experience, the overdue amounts can

be recovered.

The trade receivables are due upon billing.

HERARANZRBILEP
WES KNP EREH - ENiB
HrCE - MR THE -

JEUBR A D R EEK
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9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 9. BRI H AU (5)

(a)

Trade receivables (Continued)
(iv) Movement of bad debt provision:

(a)

PEW BR R (48)
(iv) EERESE

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEEE

2017 2016

2017 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARBFTT

Beginning and end of the year RE M EFER 7,197 7,197

(b) Notes receivable are bank acceptance with maturity dates (b) FEWEEAINEHBENEAAAND
within six months. RITHEE TR

(c) This represents the VAT refund and government subsidies (c) IAREBCUCBM KA A HEKR
for CBM receivable from the government through CUCBM CBMIZETR N & BUFRAL o
and PetroChina.

(d) This represents CUCBM's share of the cash calls and (d) 1t A CUCBM & 88 7% i+ & 38 25 Ak

(e)

(f)

148

accrued expenses for the development costs of Panzhuang
concession yet to be received from CUCBM.

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amounts of trade and
other receivables approximated their fair values.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
receivables (excluding prepayments) are denominated in
the following currencies:

(e)

(f)

ANBEERNTEREBR - MAkM@E
CUCBM ¢ HR »

M20177F12A31H » EWRER K
Bl smEmERE AR EE
5 -

A1 35 B R 4
CRMFER 5 8 R (80 T 55
R -

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2017 2016
2017 & 20164F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
RMB AR 282,967 298,378
HK$ BT 630 723
Us$ ETT = 17
283,597 299,118
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10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

11.

10. &R T B (IRER)

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2017 2016
2017 % 20164
RMB'000 RMB’000
Financial assets as per balance sheet REESBRNERMEE AR¥T T ARBT T
Loans and receivables E R EWER
Trade and other receivables excluding JrE LA R SR N b R AR
prepayments (Note 9) PERIETENFK (L) 283,597 299,118
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 11) W MRS EBY (1) 2,236,970 2,343,764
Restricted cash (Note 11) SR BIRT R (PIFE1) 37,663 31,583
2,558,230 2,674,465
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2017 2016
2017 & 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
Financial liabilities as per balance sheet REEEBERNEFEE ARET ARETT
Financial liabilities cRIBE
Borrowings (excluding finance lease ER(TBEREHEAR)
liabilities) (Note 15) (KtzE15) 513,593 496,376
Trade and other payables excluding EER R M E b RS RN
non-financial liabilities TRIEESHARE 373,410 443,775
887,003 940,151
CASH AND BANK BALANCES 1. RENEBITEEES
As at 31 December
MR12H831H
2017 2016
2017 % 20164
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREEF T
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkReEED
— Cash on hand —EFES - 270
— Cash at banks — RITER 2,236,970 2,343,494
2,236,970 2,343764
Restricted bank deposits (a) SREIERITIER () 37,663 31,583
2,274,633 2,375,347
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11.

12.

150

CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Continued)

(@) As at 31 December 2017, restricted bank deposits
represented land restoration deposits for Panzhuang and
Mabi concessions.

Cash and bank balances were denominated in the following

11. B RBITESR @

(a)

A2017F12 8318 ZREIET
FRAERRRMS V@R i
1BEIF -

Re RIRITERIZATERE

currencies:
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARBFIT
RMB AR 566,169 779,458
HK$ BT 1,368,162 1,518,355
us$ ET 340,302 77,534
2,274,633 2,375,347
SHARE CAPITAL 12. BA
Equivalent
Number of Nominal value nominal value
ordinary of ordinary of ordinary
shares shares shares
TEREE TEREE SERSERE
Thousands US$'000 RMB’000
T TFET AREFIT
Issued and fully paid: EETRHE -
Ordinary shares of SRR E{E 0.0001 ZETTH)
US$0.0001 each EER il
At 1 January 2016 and R2016F1A1BR
31 December 2016 2016512831 H 3,326,780 333 2,034
— Exercise of share options (a) — 7T{FEEEARHE (a) 60 - -
— Vesting of RSUs (b) — BB X RGN
B (b) 9,881 1 7
At 31 December 2017 M2017%12H31H 3,336,721 334 2,041

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2017, 60,000 share
options were exercised (2016: Nil) (Note 20(b)(i)).

(b)  During the year ended 31 December 2017, 9,880,788 RSUs
were vested (2016: Nil) (Note 20(b)(ii)).
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13. CAPITAL SURPLUS 13.

The capital surplus consist of share premium, share-based

BEXBe
AARRBOEREE - ARG HERE
BV RN R SN ST 2 A

EERERHK

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEEE

compensation and currency translation differences.

14. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 14.

2017 2016

2017 % 2016 4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Beginning of the year REH] 13,176 8,409
Provision B 917 4,355
Accretion expenses HANF 2 516 412
End of the year RER 14,609 13,176

15.

The asset retirement obligations represent the present value of
estimated future expenditures on decommissioning of gas
properties and restoration of land.

EERERDIRERRAARREER
BRI GRRAMIERE -

BORROWINGS 15. &
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2017 2016
2017 & 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBFIT
Bank loans, secured RITER - R
Between 2 and 5 years WERF 513,593 496,376
513,593 496,376
Annual interest rate FF =R LIBOR+4.15%  LIBOR+4.15%
Annual effective interest rate BRFER X 7.15% 6.79%

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group's borrowings were
all denominated in US$, which were drawn down by SAEI. On 8
July 2015, SAEI as borrower entered into an up to US$250 million
senior secured revolving credit facility with AAGI as guarantor,
and with AAGI’s shares in SAEI mortgaged as security, for a term
of 69 months with a final maturity date of 31 March 2021 bearing
interest at LIBOR plus a margin of 4.15% for the first 4 years and
4.65% for the remainder of the facility.

2017 F &2016F 128318 A& H
RIfE I AETTEE - BEFRERA T
IZEY - PA2015F7 A8 H » EFRLREAA
EBIERAEI RS 25BETNELE
EHBEREEME AEEAEEER
ERBERANEMBEF LR R RKRG
EIRIT - BE AEIGE R » &REIEB
A2021F3A31 8 BENFENF EZ M
HEIRITRIZESREFIE IN4.15% 5T F - F
BFENF B mBURTTRIZIREF =X
hN4.65%=tE -
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15.

BORROWINGS (Continued)

15. R @)

Movements in borrowings are analysed as follows: fEREF MM
RMB’000

ARETTT
Year ended 31 December 2017 BZE2017F12A31HLEFE
Opening balance as at 1 January 2017 201761 A1 BEHRE 496,376
Addition bl 39,687
Amortisation of financing costs RE AN £ 7,087
Currency translation differences INEEATE = FR (29,557)
Closing balance as at 31 December 2017 R2017F12 A 31 BERERE 513,593
Year ended 31 December 2016 BE2016F12A31BLEFE
Opening balance as at 1 January 2016 201651 A1 AEHIEE 418,859
Addition =N 40,438
Amortisation of financing costs BB K 7N 6,956
Currency translation differences SN R 30,123
Closing balance as at 31 December 2016 M2016F12 A 31 BEREGHE 496,376
The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities: REBA LT AIER 0 -

As at 31 December

R12H31H
2017 2016
2017 ¥ 20164
UsD’'000 USD'000
FEx FET
Expiring beyond 1 year —F A R Ef 118,000 174,000

The US$250 million borrowing facility commenced reduction of
the maximum borrowing facility amount on 1 July 2017 and will
continue reducing every six months until the maximum borrowing
facility reduces to zero. As of 1 January 2018, the maximum
borrowing facility amount was reduced to US$175 million, and
accordingly, the undrawn borrowing facility amount as at that
date was reduced to US$93 million.

Under the terms of the borrowing facilities, the Group is required
to comply with the following financial covenant: the ratio of net
debt to net assets must be not more than 67%. The Group has
complied with this covenant throughout the reporting period. As
at 31 December 2017, the balance of cash and cash equivalents
exceeds the balance of bank borrowings.

As at 31 December 2017, the fair value of borrowings

approximated to RMB514 million (31 December 2016: RMB496
million). The fair value is within level 2 hierarchy (Note 3.3).

152 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2017

25BETLERBMENR2017F7H1HH
RIREREE ER - W RES @
A — K BEZEFBELRBEES
Bk - HE2018F 118 EXEE L
REeB\ERE=175EERT  WEZZA L
RABABERRESTRE0IIEET °

BRBERREGRT  ARBEEAEETUT
PBRE: FREHFEENLENE
RBE67% - AEENHEPHE —HET
3% - R2017F 128318 BRRE& &
R EEMREBLRITERGE -

B2017F 128310 EZRWAREE
HABARES14EL(20165F12H4318 ¢
AREEAETT) - ZANEBEEE-E
4 (FIFE3.3) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

16. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is
as follows:

16. EEFIEHREE

EENBEEREER AR ESTOT

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Deferred tax assets: EEMBHREE
— Deferred income tax assets to be — B 128 A R E &R AT
recovered within 12 months FISEE 981 845
— Deferred income tax assets to be — BREBB 128 B B ER
recovered after more than 12 months BRI EE 2,168 7,188
3,149 8,033
Deferred tax liabilities: EEFEHRERE:
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be — R 128 A AU E A
recovered within 12 months EEMSHAE (16,065) -
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be — BB 12ME A& KB
recovered after more than 12 months BRIEFTSHAE (219,164) (156,246)
(235,229) (156,246)
Net balance ERFEE (232,080) (148,213)

All deferred income tax assets and liabilities are related to
Panzhuang concession, where the Group has legally enforceable
right to offset each other. Accordingly, it is presented on net
basis.

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as

FBECEMEREERAEYEEE
BRAER - AR B RROR R BT ERERIE
ARG - FIAFEEREZS -

EEFTISHRR B V@M T

follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MBLELEE
2017 2016
2017 & 20164
RMB‘000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T
Beginning of the year RED (148,213) (76,158)
Charged to the consolidated statement of A& (4R & Wax = 0B (F15E23)
comprehensive income (Note 23) (83,867) (72,055)
End of the year RER (232,080) (148,213)
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16. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

The movement in deferred income tax account is as follows:

16. EBIEFMEHREB @)
EEFSREE BEMT -

154

Depreciation

Income not

and yet subject to
amortisation tax and others Total
TAMBE
e R Wz & At #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETTT AREFT ARETTT
At 1 January 2016 MH2016FE1H1H 3,298 (79,456) (76,158)
Charged to the consolidated REHERE Wa RNk
statement of comprehensive (M$7%23)
income (Note 23) (36,442) (35,613) (72,055)
At 31 December 2016 R2016F12831H (33,144) (115,069) (148,213)
Charged to the consolidated RE Bz e RN
statement of comprehensive (Kt 23)
income (Note 23) (33,941) (49,926) (83,867)
At 31 December 2017 M2017F12A831H (67,085) (164,995) (232,080)

For the purpose of filing of PRC corporate income tax,
development expenditures incurred prior to commercial
production from tax perspective are tax deductible over a 8-year
period starting from the commencement date of commercial
production; exploration expenditures incurred prior to
commercial production from tax perspective except for those
qualified as production wells are tax deductible over a 3-year
period starting from the commencement date of commercial
production.

Deferred income tax expense mainly relates to government
grants which comprise of government subsidies and VAT refunds
received by the Group, which will be taxable in specified future
periods according to relevant tax regulations and local authority.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not recognise deferred
income tax assets of RMB113,528,000 (2016: RMB136,376,000)
in respect of the accumulated losses which are related to Mabi
concession amounting to RMB454,110,000 (2016: RMB545,502,000).
Such losses are tax deductible over certain periods starting from
the commencement date of commercial production. Due to the
Mabi concession is still under exploration stage, no deferred tax
assets were recognised on these losses.
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17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 17. BRERRREMBEMSK
As at 31 December
R12H31H
2017 2016
2017 F 2016 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREETIT
Trade payables JETEBRFX 350,956 393,198
Amounts due to related parties FE AT B RS 5 5k 0E
— CUCBM — CUCBM 1,000 1,000
— PetroChina — A 9,243 8,852
Social securities and other payables IR B E b RS 3R 35,754 40,725
396,953 443,775
(@)  The ageing analysis of trade payables were as follows: (@) MENRRREDHIT
At 31 December 2017, the ageing analysis of the trade R2017F12A31H EREEH
payables based on invoice date were as follows: R ERTARF A BRE A ATIAT
As at 31 December
M12H831H
2017 2016
2017 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Within 6 months NMEAR 205,987 322,202
6 months to 1 year NEAE—% 59,960 18,700
1to 2 years —ZEWE 56,339 29,895
2 to 3years ME=4F 12,205 16,480
Over 3 years =FF 16,465 5,921
350,956 393,198
(b) Asat31 December 2017, the carrying amounts of trade and (b) M2017F12A318 ' BHERK
other payables approximated their fair values. Hi MR EmERE AR EE

HHE o
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17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

@]

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other
payables are denominated in the following currencies:

17. BRI H th FE A 7K ()
(© AEBHM IR RE A R
BRE{EIA 5 S8 HE

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB‘000
ARET T ARETIT
RMB AR 383,438 430,811
HK$ BT 3,182 286
Us$ ETT 10,333 12,678
396,953 443,775

18. REVENUE
For the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, all the Group's
revenue is derived from the sale of the Group's share of CBM

sold to customers in the PRC.

19. OTHER INCOME

156

18. WA
HZE2017FR2016F12A31BLEFE -
REBRMBRAERBREE (L CBM
HhEEPHEEMS -

19. EA

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLFE

2017 2016

2017 & 20164

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREFIT

VAT refund (a) EETIERD () 50,063 29,456
Government subsidy (b) NG SEEEL(S) 143,850 119,820
193,913 149,276

(a)

VAT refund is granted by the PRC government according to
“The Notice on Tax Policy Issued by The Ministry of Finance
and The State Administration of Taxation on Speeding Up
The Drainage of Coalbed Methane” (B KR ZBIR 7548/
B 50 O R K [ SR, T ER A8 8 5 W R 3R RS RE Y 38 R )). CUCBM
and PetroChina applies for the VAT refund for Panzhuang
and Mabi concession, respectively. The Group recognises
its entitlement based on the Group's share of CBM sold
and when there is reasonable assurance that the amount
will be received.

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2017

(a) AR E BT R ECE K
BP B 2R R 75 48 = B A I IR K B S
REBHRBERMEENRN)®R
ft ° CUCBM K /R B 95 Bl & & i
[ 3R K 55 A B ER AR IS (A R AR A o
AEEBEBEREBEAEEHGE
CBMR B A BREZSEA YO
REREMMZENEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

19. OTHER INCOME (Continued)

(b)

Government subsidy is granted by the PRC government
according to “The Implementation Opinions of Subsidies
Granted by The Ministry of Finance on The Development
and Utilisation of Coalbed Methane” (€ Bf Ex B B8 A M & &
(RHT) RN B HN BB E R )) at RMB0.3/cm of the
CBM sold. CUCBM and PetroChina applies for the subsidy
for Panzhuang and Mabi concession, respectively. The
Group recognises its entitlement based on the Group's
share of CBM sold and when there is reasonable assurance
that the amount will be received.

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

19. HMUWA @)

(b)

185 B 2 R B BT AR SR R ER
BER (FLET FEFRE N ER
BERIEH  @8EMECBMEL
FAAREE03TTETE - CUCBM &
FEHRDRAETRRESUEL
FREMAL - AEBEERBEALEE
HAECBMRESRBREZ S HE
AR EREREMEEN SR -

20. EEEARX

Year ended 31 December

BZE12831BLLEE

2017 2016
2017 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Wages and salaries ITENFHS 98,533 91,757
Welfare and other benefits (a) BF R EAMHE () 23,082 24,115
Share-based compensation (b) LARR 159 /3 EERE HD BN (b) 20,515 48,270
142,130 164,142

(a) Welfare and other benefits (a) TBRIRHEMFZZ
The Group operates a defined contribution plans for its AEBREERECHEMTKTE -

employees. In the PRC, the pension plans are organized by
the municipal and provincial governments at a rate of 19%
of the employees’ salaries, subject to certain ceilings. In
Hong Kong, the Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
"MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month
based on a monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plans vest immediately.

In the PRC, the Group also contributes to government-
sponsored housing funds at a rate of 12% of the employees'’
salaries, subject to certain ceilings.

DEREREBRERRR/ —E—LFFRH

RERE - BEEHFEMI9%(XE
FERBER) AT RERFEIE
RIRRSETBIME LR - REE -
ANEERERFIMERTES T ENES
FHETEEMRFERFEAESRIKE
FlEtal([aEestal))  YxAasd
BERcEBEEHENESES
ZEB AR A% IELH
LR A%EE A BB A 30,000% T
EBEA1,5008 7T &St
BIVEH A IRBNEFERIE -

RPE NREETZEEFEH
12% (ZET ERAR) AR BHFE
BRERE SR MR -
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 20. EERABXZ @)

158

(b) Share-based compensation (b) UARHHEREA RN
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A3MBLEE
2017 2016
2017 % 20164
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Share-based compensation VAR A7 7 L A S B
— Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme ()  — BIX AR E ATEEIRE
=T21G) (1,119) 22,319
— Incremental fair value related to — BRI AR ey
change of terms AREE 1,392 8,648
— Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit — BRAFREEEZBHIRD
Scheme (ii) BALETE i) 20,242 17,303
Amount charged to employee 8 TREMNE
benefits expenses 20,515 48,270
— Cash settlement in lieu of — DRSS HEENEITIRGD
issuing shares = (30)
Net amount credited to capital surplus 5 A B ARZ & F58 20,515 48,240

(i)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The “2012 Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” refers to
the pre-IPO share option scheme adopted by the
board of directors of AAG Energy Limited on 15 June
2012 which was modified in October 2014 and
replaced on 31 March 2015, namely the “2015 Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”. The vesting conditions of the
unvested options under the 2015 Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme are (a) 50% of the options shall be
time-based and shall vest at the rate of one half for
each 12-month period commencing from 1 January
2015 if the relevant employment date is on or prior to
1 January 2014; or one third for each 12-month period
commencing from the relevant employment date if
such date is after 1 January 2014; (b) 50% of the
options shall be KPI-linked and shall be divided into
three equal instalments, with each instalment being
linked with one of three KPIs and vested at the rate of
one half for each 12-month period commencing from
1 January 2015 if the relevant employment date is on
or prior to 1 January 2014; or one third for each
12-month period commencing from the relevant
employment date if such date is after 1 January 2014.
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AR A A - (A
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—LLBISRE - Sk iERE R (R
BEIA201451 A1B 2%
BIE R EE B R =12
ERASMEZR="2 — il
B (b)50% [ f% # 78 6 B 48
¥ERZHS BED A=
S BHE-EARBRES
BiZz —#8 - WAREBIT
BREE : WAAEERBH
ABR2014F1A1HZ AT -
BIBE2015F1A1H £t &
1218 B 8 =5 2 — bl
B S HEEERESA
N2014E1 A1 B 2% AlE
EREEEE R Z 128 A
M =92 —thhIsRE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 20. EERAMZ @
(b) Share-based compensation (Continued) (b) UARMABERNOTEM(E)
()  Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued) () BXRLOFZEEANBRETE
(%)

(1) Movements in the number of share options (1) MERITHEOERESE
outstanding and their related weight average NE T EE R
exercise prices are as follows: ZET

Exercise price Number of

in per share  share options

Us$ thousands

BRITEE BREHE

EYH T4

As at 1 January 2016 R201651818 0.151 238,657
Cancelled SRR 0.151 (398)
Forfeited B 1ERE 0.151 (5,255)
Expired 2 & 0.151 (2,389)
As at 31 December 2016 M2016F12H831H 0.151 230,615
Exercise of options TR 0.151 (60)
Forfeited B 1ERE 0.151 (6,441)
Expired = Em 0.151 (1,100)
As at 31 December 2017 720175128318 0.151 223,014

(2) As at 31 December 2017, the share options (2 R2017F12H318 -
outstanding have expiry dates between 2020 fed A 77 {68 B AR £ 21 R
and 2023, of which 214,858,731 (31 December H &2020F £ 20234 -
2016: 141,405,688) options were exercisable. H 214,858,731 1%

(201612 A318 :
141,405,688 17 ) B8 A% 1
Al FATfE -
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(b) Share-based compensation (Continued)

160

(ii)

Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme

On 18 December 2015, the Company announced the
granting of restricted share units (“RSUs") to certain
grantees of the Group in accordance with the Post-
IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme conditionally
approved and adopted by the Company on 5 June
2015. The acceptance letters of the RSUs to the
grantees were signed on 31 January 2016. The vesting
conditions of the RSUs under the scheme are (a) 50%
of the RSUs shall be time-based and shall vest at the
rate of one fourth (1/4) for each 12-month period
commencing from 31 March 2016; and (b) 50% of the
RSUs shall be KPI-linked and shall be divided into
three equal instalments, with each instalment being
linked with one of the three KPIs and vested at the
rate of one fourth (1/4) for each 12-month period
commencing from 31 March 2016.
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(b)

(ii)

BRAHREEZRERME
{5t &l

B2015F 12 A18H » XA A
B MHIRE AR R FR2015F 6
RA5H B EHIE RRMAD
BRAAEEEZRH KRG
BRAFTEIRAEEE T HEKR
ABRME 2SI, EL([F
PREIBMEN ) - BUEIRA
KSR SRR 1D BALIE 4 I E
R2016F1A31TBEE - %
FH 8118 T R %I % (0 BB AL 1y
BFIEER (2)50% % R
A% 1 B8 i 78 1% B F) B 2 5R
B B2016F3H31H 5t
SNREAPEERD Z—
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REIRMmENAHEBRESR
BiZHE BASAZSE
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(b) Share-based compensation (Continued)

(ii)

Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme (Continued)

On 24 March 2017, the Company announced the
granting of RSUs to certain grantees of the Group in
accordance with the Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit
Scheme conditionally approved and adopted by the
Company on 5 June 2015. The acceptance letters of
the RSUs to the grantees were signed on 31 May
2017. The vesting conditions of the RSUs for grantees
except for independent non-executive directors are (a)
50% of the RSUs will be time-based and shall vest at
the rate of one fourth (1/4) for each 12-month period
commencing from 31 March 2017; and (b) 50% of the
RSUs shall be KPI-linked and shall be divided into
three equal instalments, with each instalment being
linked with one of three KPIs and vested at the rate of
one fourth (1/4) for each 12-month period
commencing from 31 March 2017. The vesting
conditions of the RSUs for those independent non-
executive directors are (a) 25% of the RSUs will be
vested immediately after the acceptance; and (b)
37.5% of the RSUs will be time-based and shall vest at
the rate of one-third (1/3) for each 12-month period
commencing from 31 March 2017; and (c) 37.5% of the
RSUs shall be KPI-linked and shall be divided into
three equal instalments, with each instalment being
linked with one of three KPIs and vested at the rate of
one-third (1/3) for each 12-month period commencing
from 31 March 2017.

20. EEEABEX ®)

(b)

DEREREBRERRR/ —E—LFFRH

R REREHM (2)
(i) BERAABRERIRFRHE

{fIst8I (&)
B2017F3 8248 » AR A
B MHIRE AR QT R2015F 6
BSHABEEHHERRAS
BRAAEEEZRH KRG
BRAFTEIRAEEE T EKR
A PR H B 0 BE L o B
AR AR R H B 1D B A5
B 2017 F5A31 B %
F o BhAER A (B IERITE
EhRIN B ZBRFII 5 B4
F &M A (2)50% 5 R & A
DEMNBIENEEERS
B2017F3A31HiEF12
EAHEIEMN S 2 — (1/4) L
BIERE : I (b)50% X R i X
MBI ERBREERZH
e BADA=ZZH  &7H
H-(EREREEESEc—#
§9 - WHE2017F3 /8318
ATE12ME A HEIR N D 2 —
(V) PIERE - Lz E /AL
FHITESHNZRBIRMN B
4 TFIEMHR: (2)25% 2R
il A% 19 BEAL 1% A 2 A 1 B B
578 N (0)37.5% 5 R #l k%
MEBAGIESHEEERE -
B2017F3A31HiEsH 12
EAEE=22—(1/3)tt
Bl 8% B+ R (c)37.5% X R il
BB HEIR SR B 1B 1T
B BBESB=%5H &
ME=REEEREEREEL —
ey WHE20174F3A31H
BErE12EABEE=22
—(1/73) L BIERES -
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

162

(b) Share-based compensation (Continued)
Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme (Continued)

(ii)

Movements in the number of RSUs outstanding are as

follows:

(b)

20. EEEABEX ®)

AR RERAFE (&)

(i) BERDARERZREIRMDE
{5t ()
R AT 1 52 IR 1 AR 4 B 8K
BEZHMT -

Closing price Number of

on grant date RSUs

(HK$ per share) thousands

AR H BHN 32 PR 1 B% 19

W E BNEE

(BRBT) (F1)

Granted (31 January 2016) EERF(2016F1831H) 1.16 41,064
Forfeited B 1ERE (910)
As at 1 January 2017 MA2017F1818 40,154
Granted (18 May 2017) BT (201765H18H) 1.27 10,907
Granted (31 May 2017) EERF(2017F5A831H) 1.29 15,426
Forfeited B 1ERE (2,622)
Vesting of RSUs 55 88 X IR I A A BE iz (9.881)
As at 31 December 2017 M2017%12H31H 53,984

The fair value of RSUs is determined by the closing
price of HK$1.27 and HK$1.29 per share as quoted on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 18 May

2017 and 31 May 2017, respectively. During the year
ended 31 December 2017, 9,880,788 of the RSUs were

vested (Note12).
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 20. EEENBEZ @
(c) Five highest paid individuals () ENEESFMAL
Details of five highest paid individuals are set out below: AfszeHMALTOFBOT

Number of Individuals

AE
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 F
Director (Note 31) EFE(HFE31) 1 1
Non-director individuals (i) JEEEAK B () 4 4
5
(i) For the year ended 31 December 2017, the five individuals whose (i) HE2017F12ANBILEFE K&
emoluments were the highest in the Group include one (2016: one) BRI &ReSHMAL2E %2016
director whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in F:—R)EFE HHFSRWIE3IH
Note 31. The emoluments payable to the remaining four (2016: four) DFHINR - RAFERENH TS
individuals during the year are as follows: (2016% : U#) ATHIFELNT -
Year ended 31 December
HE12A318LFE
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFT
Basic salaries and allowances EARE & R 13,207 12,936
Discretionary bonuses W5 RS 3,241 3,394
Share-based compensation LARR A7 A B 1 o SR M 9,251 26,340
Other benefits including pension Hip g H (BRERAKE) 2,070 7,654
27,769 50,324
The emoluments fell within the following bands: HNEENT
Number of Individuals
A
2017 2016
2017 % 20165
Emolument bands HriNesE
HK$4,500,001-HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 % 7T £ 5,000,000 % 7T 1 -
HK$6,000,001-HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 7 7T % 6,500,000 7 7T 1 -
HK$7,500,001-HK$8,000,000 7,500,001 4 7T Z 8,000,000 4 7T = 1
HK$9,500,001-HK$10,000,000 9,500,001 7 7T % 10,000,000 7 7T 1 -
HK$10,000,001-HK$10,500,000 10,000,001 A 7.2 10,500,000 47T - 1
HK$11,500,001-HK$12,000,000 11,500,001 7% 7T 2 12,000,000 7% 7T 1 -
HK$15,000,001-HK$ 15,500,000 15,000,001 7% 7T 2 15,500,000 7% 7T - 1
HK$25,000,001-HK$25,500,000 25,000,001 % 7T & 25,500,000 7 7T - 1
4 4
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21. FINANCE COSTS, NET

21. MKEBH — S5

Year ended 31 December

BZ12831BLLEE

2017 2016

2017 F 2016 4F

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®ET T AREFIT

Interest expense of bank borrowings RITEFRWOFEER (39,176) (33,369)

Bank loan commitment fee WITERALE (12,577) (18,236)

Accretion expenses of asset retirement BEEBEEBHREIZER

obligations (400) (342)

Subtotal /INET (52,153) (51,947)
Less: amounts capitalised on W AEREEENLERE

qualifying assets (Note 6) (fF5E6) 39,176 33,369

Finance costs MBER (12,977) (18,578)

Interest income FEYWA 6,306 10,699

Exchange losses EREP S (4,510) (10,281)

Finance costs, net S ER — F58E (11,181) (18,160)

22. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Profit before income tax was determined after charging the

following:

22. BRFr15 % A1 F)E

REBRPISHATANENERLIT

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31BLFE

2017 2016

2017 & 20165

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥T AREEF T

Operating lease expense RETHES 13,947 12,794

Auditors’ remunerations TR 37 B

— Audit services — EBE IR

—The Company e YNET 3,600 3,800

— Subsidiaries — B A A 600 400

— Non-audit services — FEEET R 583 596
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23. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 23. FRSHER

Year ended 31 December

BZE12831BLLEE

2017 2016

2017 & 2016 4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ET T AREFIT

Current income tax EHAFTIS A (43,876) (290)
Deferred income tax (Note 16) IEIEFTERL (I35 16) (83,867) (72,055)
(127,743) (72,345)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempt company with limited liability and, accordingly, is
exempted from payment of local income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as the
Group did not derive any assessable profits in Hong Kong during
the year.

AAGI and AAG Energy (China) Limited, which were incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands under the International Business
Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands, are exempted from
payment of local income tax.

SAEI, which was incorporated in Samoa under the International
Business Companies Acts of the Samoa, is exempted from
payment of local income tax.

Corporate income tax in the PRC is calculated based on the
taxable profit of branches established in the PRC. According to
the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law promulgated by the PRC
government, the tax rate applicable for the PRC branches of the
Group's subsidiaries is 25%.

ARABERERESEIMHRLAHREAR
AR FAHEREHEMATER -

HRAKERANFEL LA EEBIEG
ERERBFE - BA BB ANE
i o

BREBELBERRESEBEMELTER
EEERRHS MR I ERRER
[E & X AAG Energy (China) Limited FA %2
FEHPTISH ©

IR R E D AR RS A
T Ak 7 0 2o B TR B8 2 U S 18
B o

BTSRRI R BIRSZ B
RAHERBA B E o RIBEPBERF
B P EDERSHEL  AEEE
AR B3 A B RO B B R A 25% o
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23. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 23.

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the

FriSBis M (a)
2 5= B I T 15 250 A 4 8 A0 250 T8 208 DA
theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate as FEREFENIEREEETR - BT

follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEEE

2017 2016
2017 % 20164
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT
Profit before income tax R PRS2 A A 310,941 178,980
Tax expense calculated at applicable BEAETHETER
statutory tax rates HIAE R (146,350) (22,859)
Utilization of previously/(current period)  {# A LARTFE,(KREE)
deductible temporary differences FERBELEREERN
for which no deferred tax asset AENERTER
was recognised 22,848 (47,229)
Expenses not deductible for taxation SIS 0k-9:2
purposes (1,812) (1,967)
Others HA (2,429) (290)
Income tax expense Frisii &R (127,743) (72,345)
24. EARNINGS PER SHARE 24. BRW =
(a) Basic (a) EXR

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

EARGRIWE IR E BN A AR
BEOFBEBRIUEZ2017F K
2016F 12 A3 BIEFEND ET
TR IS ESD -

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31BLEE

2017 2016
2017 F 2016 F
Profit attributable to owners of BENANARIAEED
the Company (RMB’000) FE(ARETIT) 183,198 106,635
Weighted average number of ordinary B 217 B A ALK
basic shares in issue (Thousands) INREFE & (FAR) 3,333,675 3,326,780
Basic earnings per share (RMB) ERFGhEm(ARKTT) 0.055 0.032
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24. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)
(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the

(b)

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Company has share options and RSUs
outstanding which are potentially dilutive. The assumed
proceeds from conversion of these options and RSUs shall
be regarded as having been received from the issue of
ordinary shares at the average market price of ordinary
shares during the period. The difference between the
number of shares that would have been issued assuming
the exercise of the share options and RSUs and the number
of shares that could have been issued at the average
market price of the ordinary shares during the period with
the same total assumed proceeds is the number of shares
issued for no consideration. The resulting number of shares
issued for no consideration is included in the weighted
average number of ordinary shares as the denominator for
calculating diluted earnings per share.

24. BRWE @)

mig
BEESRWRRRAA I HENE
EEBBRLIBE  RECHETYE
BEEINETFOHEE - AREE
AR R IER B B RERE
KX R BN BA BAL - FRER G LEIBAR
RERN 52 IR il B 10 B AL 33 38 P A B A
ERERR SRR EER TS
MIGEBREITMES - TREHT
MR BB RERBRITE T B
RERN 2[R il A {0 BB AL FE X A TROAX
MEE - BRERIZEANE BT
BHSERRITLESHERAGFE
SEVER T A RER 2 HITH AR
BHZER - & TREXRTHORN
2B R BAR B I T B —
#o - MERAEBESRK SR
FTRR D

Year ended 31 December

BE12ANBLEE

2017 2016
2017 2016 4F
Profit attributable to owners of FBRARBIAENFE
the Company (RMB’000) (ARBFT) 183,198 106,635
Weighted average number of ordinary B 277 38 I &9 D1#E 15 1
shares in issue (Thousands) (Fm) 3,333,675 3,326,780
Adjustments for assumed conversion of &% i #aE& A% #E & 5 BR )
share options and RSUs (Thousands) &1 BB B F B (F %) 8,570 13,538
Weighted average number of ordinary 5t & # 2 &AL Uk 25 09 AAK
shares for diluted earnings per share S (F%)
(Thousands) 3,342,245 3,340,318
Diluted earnings per share (RMB) wEERKEE (AR T 0.055 0.032

25. DIVIDENDS
A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 of
HK$0.0248 per share will be proposed at the annual general
meeting on 8 May 2018. These financial statements do not reflect
this dividend payable.
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25. RE
2017 F R S B /% 0.0248 7 T #5 52 2018
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26. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
(a

26. REEHRERE
(@) BEEHARBREEEDRAESR

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash flow

generated from operations:

TR EFREA A

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEEE

2017 2016
2017 & 2016
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT
Profit before income tax B PT1S B B AR 310,941 178,980
Adjustments for: BT SBELAE
Depreciation (Note 6) e (F1st6) 105,723 71,747
Amortisation (Notes 7 and 8) e (M3E7 &8) 4,696 2,866
Losses on disposals of property, HETEE THA&
plant and equipment HEREE 16 462
Interest income (Note 21) FEMA (H7E21) (6,306) (10,699)
Finance costs (Note 21) B8R (HiE21) 12,977 18,578
Unrealised exchange losses AEIRMETIBL 4,510 12,586
Share-based compensation LA A5 A EE 0 A 4 B
(Note 20(b)) (P =E 20(b)) 20,515 48,240
Changes in working capital: LEESHEE
Increase in inventories HFEEM (684) (663)
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and JFEURBR ZX K E B U X
other receivables (S m) 22,269 (40,905)
Increase in trade and other payables &I BR 2k Iz E b & 1 50
140 12,741 7,848
Cash generated from operations CEEFELENRS 487,398 289,040
(b) Changes in bank borrowings arising from financing activities b) REBEEEPIELRITERE
As at As at
1 January 31 December
2017  Cash flows Non-cash changes 2017
12017 % #2017 %
1818 ReRE #5£28 12A31H
Foreign
exchange
movement Amortisation
EL2E #e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TRT AR®TRT AR®TrT AR®ET:R
Long-term borrowings REER 496,376 39,687 (29,557) 7,087 513,593
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27. BB AR5
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, E— AR hEESEEEG RS — A
directly or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant HE— TP BEREBEERREBAER
influence over the other party in making financial and operation TR AR AEBE - S HERIZEHA
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are BEHIE AR - AEEFTEZEIEA
subject to common control. Members of key management and B RERKK B IME AT -

their close family member of the Group are also considered as
related parties.

(@) The following companies are related parties of the (a) BZE2017F12B31HLEE
Group during the year ended 31 December 2017 T AT EAEBWBEKRSY
Names of the related parties Nature of relationship
B S BB BEEE
CUCBM PSC partner of Panzhuang concession

EHRREMDKEREEA

PetroChina PSC partner of Mabi concession
A BUERERDKEREZA
(b) Significant transactions with related parties (b) EHEBAINEARRS
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MBLEEE
2017 2016
2017 F 2016 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AREFIT
Services received BES MRS
— CUCBM — CUCBM 4,493 4,213
— PetroChina — A 7,481 6,396
11,974 10,609
Sales of gas HERESR
— PetroChina — A 28,712 -
(c) Key management compensation (c) EEEBEABEH
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BHLEEE
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFIT
Basic salaries and allowances HoR# 4 2 EL 28,996 26,263
Discretionary bonuses [l 6,960 6,852
Share-based compensation LARS 19 75 Bt B SR B 15,745 31,365
Other benefits including pension HEmEi (BiEEKRS) 3,742 8,904
55,443 73,384
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28. COMMITMENTS 28. A#HEIE
(a) Capital commitments (a) EREH
Capital expenditure contracted at the end of the year but RAFERDATHNEIRBEED
not yet incurred is as follows: BARRZIT -

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2017 2016
2017 £ 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
Property, plant and equipment TEIE - TRRFE 123,230 302,898
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) RKEHERH
The Group leases office premises from non-related parties AR B IR T N A U A AL
under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The HEWETHERARE - A
future minimum lease payable under non-cancellable B EHET - REEABRH
operating leases contracted for at the balance sheet date AT ERARERRBENRKR
but not recognised as liabilities, are as follows: KENBEEREBNT :

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2017 2016
2017 20164
RMB'000 RMB000
AR¥T R ARBFT
No later than 1 year —F LR 7,125 9,621
Later than 1 year but —FERF
no later than 5 years 427 6,428
7,552 16,049
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29. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 29. A AT EEABERREERE
OF THE COMPANY

(a) Balance sheet of the Company (a) XAREEEER
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B =E AR¥T T ARBT T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Long-term investment RHEE 3,058,729 3,230,389
Property, plant and equipment  ~EjE « TH LR 679 2,672
Intangible assets BIZAE 53 14
3,059,461 3,233,075
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H b e R 1,488 1,524
Cash and cash equivalents HNERIREEEY 1,368,258 1,517,753
1,369,746 1,519,277
Total assets HWEE 4,429,207 4,752,352
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners FEERAQATEENES
of the Company
Share capital A% < 2,041 2,034
Capital surplus B E% 4,610,850 4,863,712
Accumulated deficits REtEsE (196,572) (125,423
4,416,319 4,740,323
LIABILITIES =1
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables HAME 12,888 12,029
Total liabilities BwEE 12,888 12,029
Total equity and liabilities BEZREE 4,429,207 4,752,352
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the RAREERBREEEEN2018
Board of Directors on 23 March 2018 and was signed on its FIA23BHE - WHERKEE -
behalf.
Executive Director HITEFE
Stephen Xiangdong Zou @R
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29. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 29. A A RIS EEBEARBEEET

OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (88)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) EATHEEE
Capital  Accumulated
surplus deficits
BERE RitEBER
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETTT
Balance as at 1 January 2016 H2016F1 81858 4,511,808 (58,162)
Loss for the year FERE - (67,261)
Currency translation differences INEATE ERE 303,664 -
Share-based compensation LA RS 7o B 1) S 48,240 -
Balance as at 31 December 2016 M2016%12 A 31 Béstk 4,863,712 (125,423)
Balance as at 1 January 2017 R2017 %1 81 B8R 4,863,712 (125,423)
Loss for the year FEEE = (71,149)
Currency translation differences INEEHTE ZERE (273,431) -
Share-based compensation LABR A5 B L ) SR B 20,515 -
Vesting of RSUs 55 8 IR I AR A BE iz (7) -
Exercise of options TR R A 61 -
Balance as at 31 December 2017 2017512831 B 4,610,850 (196,572)
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30. SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December

30. B AT
A TRBRA20177E12 A31 B Y = E K

2017: B AT
Issued/ Proportion of ordinary
Place of incorporation and paid-up Principal activities and shares held by the Group
Name type of legal entity capital place of operation (%)
B&f1/ rEERE
£ BLOE Y EIN --id BARE IEXBREEHE ERRELAH (%)
AAGI British Virgin Islands ("BVI), US$50,0005%70/  CBM project development, BVI 100%
Limited liability company US$50,000% 7T
SEAERER AERRBE(HEERBE]) REREERE  RBARES 100%
BRAT
AAG Energy (China) Limited BVI, Limited liability company US$5,000% 7T/ CBM project development, BV 100%
USS$5,000% 7T
RBARES  ARAA KEREERE RBARES 100%
SAEI Samoa, Limited liability US$7,000,000%7C/  CBM project development, Samoa 100%
company US$7,000,000% T
EHERAA EET ARAA KEREERE  BEED 100%
Alpha Eagle Limited Cayman lslands, US$13=TL/USS15 7T CBM project development, 100%
Limited liability company Cayman lslands
EERRAA FEHS  BRAA RERERRAE 100%
REHS
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31. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 31. EBR/A K A=

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREEITENMS
The remuneration of every director and the chief executive ZEERERATENEHMOT

is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2017: HE2017F12A3BILEFE -

Other emoluments
paid or receivable in
respect of director's

other services in

connection with

the management

Employer's of the affairs

contributiontoa ~ of the Company

Discretionary Allowancesand  retirement benefit or its subsidiary

Name Fees Salary bonuses benefits in kind scheme undertaking Total
EZHEEALT
Bt
SRERERN
BIAERGE  AEERLAD
:53 ER i RiEke RHEE iR BROERER it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

KRBT NS A N A KRBT KRBT ARBTR N A

Executive Directors YTES
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou ()~ HREEL() - 7,151 1,787 4,098 83 = 13,119

Non-executive Directors FYTES
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw EFHE - - o = - - -

Mr. Zhen Wei iy = = = = o - -
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan Peter Randall Kagan 7 o o - - - - -
Mr. Lei Jin eRAE = = = = - - -
Dr. Guiyong Cui EEBET - = = = = - -
M. Bo Bai i) AR - - - - = = -
Mr. Saurabh Nerayan Saurabh Narayan

Agarwal (i) Agarwal %4 i) - - = = = = -
Mr. Fei Nie (i) EREEW - - - - - - -

Independent Non-executive ~ BUHTES

Directors
Mr. Yaowen Wu REUEE 280 - - 448 - - 728
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks & 756 - - 418 - - 1174
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett 55 1133 - - 452 - - 1,585
Mr. Stephen Cheuk KinLaw ~ BSE%4 994 - - 370 - - 1,364
Chief Executive ERHUGE
Mr.Jing Li FREE - 4,397 1152 4388 87 - 10,024

174 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2017




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

31. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 3. EEFEARFEH @)
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREEITENME (B)
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2016: HZE2016F 12 A31 AILFE -
Other emoluments
paid or receivable in
respect of director's
other senvicesin
connection with
the management
Employer's of the affairs
contribution to of the Company
Discretionary Allowances and aretirement or ts subsidiary
Name Fees Salary bonuses benefits in kind benefit scheme undertaking Total
EEAEANT
FERBATN
EREEEEN
RAEAHE  AREBmAE
4 2R #t Bigge R X EREREH At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR ARETRL AR AR AR AR AR

Executive Directors YTES
Dr. Stephen XiangdongZou  FHEfEL - 712 1781 3337 76 - 12318

Non-executive Directors bty £
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw BEAAE - - - - - - -

Mr. Zhen Wei REit - - - - - - -
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan Peter Randall Kagan 7% - - - - - - -
Mr. Zhijie Zeng B EELE - - - _ _ _ _
Mr. Lei Jin SEAE - - - - - - -
Dr. Guiyong Cui J:3:3:) b - - - - - - -
Mr. Bo Bai BREE - - - - - - -
Independent Non-executive B HH1TEE
Directors

Mr. Yaowen Wu RIEXRE 30 - - %9 - - 589
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks % 405 - - 313 - - 718
Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong EAREL 8 - - 3 - - 121
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett 75 31 - - 313 - - 694
Mr. Stephen Cheuk KinLaw ~ B22%4 31 - - 54 - - 91
Chief Executives ERUTE

Mr. Carl Lakey Carl Lakey £ - 3104 936 17,589 - - 21629
Mr.Jing Li ZREE - 3745 936 8,243 80 - 13,004
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31. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 3. EEEAM R A= (5

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREREITENME (B)

(Continued)

Notes: B 5T

(i) Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou is also the chairman of the Company (i) BE2016F K20177F12A3MBIEF
during the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2017. E - BaRELTRARRER -

(ii) On 28 February 2017, Mr. Bo Bai resigned as a non-executive Director (ii) M2017F 28288  HEGERFTE
from the Board. FEPERTEERS

(ifi) On 23 March 2017, Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal was appointed as a (iii) M2017 % 3 A23H ' Saurabh
non-executive Director and the member of the Remuneration Narayan Agarwal % 4 # % £ /& JE 3
Committee and the New Business Committee. TEEFRFNEZESRHNEKZES

B8 °

(ivy  On 8 December 2017, Mr. Fei Nie was appointed as a non-executive (iv) 2017 12A8H » @MEERER
Director. RIEMITESE -

Directors’ emoluments EEHM

Aggregate emoluments

Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable
paid to or receivable by directors in respect of their
by directors in respect of other services in connection
their services as directors, with the management of
whether of the Company or  the affairs of the Company or
its subsidiary undertaking its subsidiary undertaking Total Total
EERHERES EEpHERARQAFHA
(FHRZLAAREMBLARN MEARNEBEEERHENEM
PR 75 3249 = FE W 9 7 B 4 R PR 75 T 32 4 =0 FE U Y 357 B 42 At Ll
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
2017 & 2016 F 2017 & 2016 F 2017 & 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBTFT AR®T AREBTFT ARBTR AR¥ETT
4,851 2,413 13,119 12,318 17,970 14,731
Notes: Emoluments above include estimated money value of non-cash Mgk : FMlEFMEEERSENOGETS
benefits: share options, RSUs and insurance premium. OB - RIRGIR D B AR

o
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31. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 3. EEEAM R A= (5

(CONTINUED)

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits (b) EERHKEF
During the year ended 31 December 2017, no retirement HZE2017F12A3BLEFE - K
benefits operated by the Group was paid or made, directly EESARETH BB ARN AL
or indirectly, to or receivable by a director in respect of his HEHMBARINEEEIREEMEMD
services as a director or other services in connection with k% BESEERESE I E
the management of the affairs of the Company or its HERREF - EE VLB EUGEIR
subsidiaries (2016: nil). R (2016 4F « 4) °

(c) Directors’ termination benefits (c) EEXRILER
During the year ended 31 December 2017, no payments or HE20177F12ANBLEFE R
benefits in respect of termination of director’s services was BEREERBRIIEEZSEERE
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to or receivable by a EX AR EREMFIESREF - E
director; nor is any payable (2016: nil). FIVEB RIS EN - 188

AR R (2016F : &) ©

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for making (d) EERBOE=ZFIEEMIR
available directors’ services [
During the year ended 31 December 2017, no consideration HE2017F12A3NBILEFE 8
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making BREEZRBME =72 MmN -
available director's services (2016: nil). E=F TR B FEUERE (2016 4F -

) o

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other (e) BARLUEE  ZTEFZEARERE
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies ZEESHBABENERNENR
corporate by and connected entities with such EERREMZZER
directors
There is no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of WHNESE - SHEHEA RABE
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected HMEENER  EERHEMZ S
entities (2016: nil). (20164 : #&) °

(f) Directors’ material interests in transactions, (h EBERS THIEGHNFE

arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year (2016: nil).

OEPAN £
RAFERREFEAER A2
AR BRI AT AR E XA
BARBEEHAEREs (B
EHERIER)NEARS - ©H
REH (20166 « &) -
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Director
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (Chairman)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw
Mr. Zhen Wei
Mr. Lei Jin
Dr. Guiyong Cui
Dr. Bo Bai (resigned on 28 February 2017)
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal
(appointed on 24 March 2017)
Mr. Fei Nie (appointed on 8 December 2017)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yaowen Wu

Mr. Robert Ralph Parks

Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law

Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Ms. Yang Lin
Ms. Siu Kuen Lai

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw
Ms. Siu Kuen Lai

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law (Chairman)
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks

Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks (Chairman)
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett
Dr. Bo Bai (resigned on 28 February 2017)
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal

(appointed on 24 March 2017)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (Chairman)
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law

Mr. Yaowen Wu
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NEW BUSINESS COMMITTEE

Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett (Chairman)

Mr. Robert Ralph Parks

Mr. Yaowen Wu

Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal
(appointed on 24 March 2017)

REGISTERED OFFICE
P.O. Box 31119

Grand Pavilion

Hibiscus Way

802 West Bay Road

Grand Cayman KY1-1205
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 2109-10, 21st Floor

China Merchants Tower

Shun Tak Centre

No. 168-200 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN CHINA
1701, 17/F

Tower A, Landmark Office Towers

8 North Dongsanhuan Road

Chaoyang District

Beijing 100004

People's Republic of China

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER AGENT

Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Willow House, Cricket Square

P.O. Box 268

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen'’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

MEBEES

Fredrick J. Barrett 504 (£ /&)

Robert Ralph Parks 7t 4

RBXHRAE

Saurabh Narayan Agarwal 7t 4
(2017 F3 A 24 BEZRE)

AfMEE

P.O. Box 31119

Grand Pavilion

Hibiscus Way

802 West Bay Road
Grand Cayman KY1-1205
Cayman Islands

ERANMREEER MR

B

T8 168-2005%
EEFRL
REaRAE
21#82109-10=

FEFELEEME
EE AR EFIE
Sl
R=IRIEBE 8
555 KB A RR
171701 =

4R 100004

FERERNBFERAR

Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Willow House, Cricket Square

P.O. Box 268

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

ERESERE
BERERREBELFELBRAF
BEET

S KBEE 1835
AR

171 1712-1716 %
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of Communication Limited, Offshore Banking Unit

AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
22/F, Prince's Building
Central

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong law and United States law:
Kirkland & Ellis

26th Floor, Gloucester Tower

The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

As to PRC law:

King & Wood Mallesons

40th Floor, Tower A Beijing Fortune Plaza
7 Dongsuanhuan Zhonglu

Beijing 10020

People’'s Republic of China

As to Cayman Islands law:
Conyers Dill & Pearman
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

STOCK CODE
2686

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

www.aagenergy.com
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